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MAYOR’S REPORT   
 
 
Welcome to the Coorong District Council’s 2010/2011 
Annual report. 
 
The Coorong District Council welcomed new councillors 
Lachlan McKinna, Bob Simcock, Andrew Dawes and Jeff 
Arthur after the elections in November 2010. Joining them 
for the four year term are re-elected Councillors Neville Jaensch, Jeff Klitscher, Peter 
Wright and Sharon Bland. Retiring Councillors Paul Simmons, Denise Richardson, 
Richard Harkness and Alison Jaensch are appreciated for their contributions during their 
term with Council. 
 
Australia Day 2011 around the council area was celebrated with community functions to 
recognise volunteers and community groups for their efforts in supporting communities, for 
without these dedicated people the strength of communities would be diminished. Again 
congratulations to all the winners.  
 
The successful staging of the start of the second stage of the Santos Tour Down Under at 
Tailem Bend was a credit to the community groups involved. Tailem Bend was presented 
in an exceptional manner, winning the best dressed town award overall for 2011 Santos 
Tour Down Under. The excitement in town as the bikes prepared to start the race was a 
great experience. 
 
Despite the river and lakes being full again, issues still linger from those difficult times of 
low or very little water. The bund at Narrung was breached in September 2010 and the 
final removal completed in July 2011. However dredging of the Narrows is yet to be 
finalised and will carry over into 2012.  
 
One of the other issues affecting farmers and domestic water users is the continual price 
rise of water supplied by SA Water, a challenge that will stay with us into the future. The 
district is looking forward to the day when the salinity levels in Lake Albert are at a level 
when it can again be used for stock water and even irrigation. 
 
With the return of water to the river system, tourists are again returning to see the full 
River, Lakes and Coorong. The renewed optimism has also encouraged developers to 
start planning again for housing developments in the area. The rebuilding will take time, 
but with the returning confidence we will continue to redevelop our council. 
 
The last year has been a rebuilding, consolidation and celebration and this annual report 
will provide readers with an overview of the 2010/2011 year, and all that we have much to 
look forward to into the future. 
 

 
CR. ROGER STROTHER 
MAYOR 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT   
 
 
Welcome to the Annual Report of the Coorong District 
Council for the 2010/2011 financial year. 
 
The local government election in November has seen the 
retirement of Deputy Mayor Cr. Paul Simmons (Lakes Ward) 
and Councillors Denise Richardson (Parks Ward), Richard 
Harkness (Parks Ward) and Alison Jaensch (Mallee Ward). Their commitment to and 
leadership of their communities is to be congratulated. No doubt by now they have all 
found new ways to productively fill in their “spare” time. In truth, good people are always 
busy, and I would expect they will continue to work for their communities in their own way. 
 
The Council welcomed newly elected Councillors in Jeff Arthur (Parks Ward), Andrew 
Dawes (Lakes Ward), Lachlan McKinna (Mallee Ward) and Bob Simcock (Mallee Ward). 
Jeff Klitscher (formerly Mallee Ward) now represents Parks Ward. 
 
Cr. Roger Strother was been re-elected as Mayor and Cr. Neville Jaensch was been 
elected as Deputy Mayor, both for a 2 year period. 
 
The Tour Down Under was incredibly successful, with the Stage 2 start being held in 
Tailem Bend. Congratulations to everyone involved in the organisation and running of the 
event. With a kaleidoscope of colour and activity, it definitely put Tailem Bend and the 
Coorong Council area on the map, but more importantly, it showcased the intrinsic 
community spirit throughout the district that came together for a common purpose. It could 
not have happened without the exceptional efforts and commitment of the community 
members, and council staff, to the event.  
 
Community Grants were again awarded by the Council, recognising the valuable roles in 
which community groups provide to its community and the ways that these groups 
strengthen the capacity of the community to make the district a more enjoyable place to 
work, live and play. These were all projects that focus on the development of local 
communities and demonstrated or created an opportunity for wider participation. 
 
Australia Day celebrations, supported in part by the Council’s Australia Day Ambassador, 
David Malinda, were held in Meningie, Tailem Bend, Malinong, Netherton and Coonalpyn 
with a diversity of celebrations linked to community events. Congratulations again to all the 
winners, either individuals or community events. 
 
The Council is indeed fortunate to have a team of extremely dedicated and capable staff 
that collectively and cooperatively work to assist the Council in achieving its strategic 
objectives and to serve the community. Specific details of the organisation’s achievements 
are contained within the various departmental reports. 
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Part of the challenge for the Council going forward will be to make sure the structure of the 
organisation is robust enough to withstand the challenges that undoubtedly will present 
themselves in the future. Structure is not just about manpower and resources, but it is also 
about having the necessary strategic plans, strategies and actions defined so that the 
organisation drives itself to become more efficient and effective whilst ensuring that it also 
responsive, within budgetary constraints, to the community it serves. The shift away from 
operational review to strategic leadership will see a necessary change in the culture 
across the whole organisation, and will be a challenge that will require a collective 
concerted effort. 
 
MICHAEL BOYD 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
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INTRODUCTION 

Coorong District Council has produced this Annual Report to communicate with its 
residents and ratepayers about Council business, services performances and 
achievements for the financial year. The publishing of this report enables the Council to 
meet legislative requirements of the Local Government Act 1999 and the report becomes 
a record of Council activities for historical purposes. 

 
The Annual Report is provided to interested parties such as the Government, media, other 
Councils, South Australian Local Government Grants Commission, State Library and is 
readily available from Council’s offices and website. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT DETAILS 

CUSTOMER SERVICE CENTRE     BRANCH OFFICES 
 
93a Railway Terrace     Meningie Office 
PO Box 399       49 Princes Hwy, Meningie SA 5264 
Tailem Bend SA 5260      
 
Telephone: (08) 8572-3611    Tintinara Office 
Facsimile:   (08) 8572-3822    37 Becker Tce, Tintinara SA 5266 
Email: council@coorong.sa.gov.au    
Website: www.coorong.sa.gov.au    
 

Michael Boyd, Coorong District Council CEO, David Malinda, 
Australia Day Ambassador for 2011, Clem Mason, Australia Day 
Citizen of the Year 2011, Mayor Roger Strother, Neil Shillabeer, 
Australia Day Citizen of the Year 2011 
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COUNCIL PROFILE 
 

Far enough away from bustling city life to keep its natural beauty and solitude, The 
Coorong District Council area is home to spectacular beaches, picturesque river-side 
locations and isolated bushland, making it an unspoilt and uniquely different place to live 
or holiday. 
 
Formed in May 1997 following the amalgamation of the District Councils of Peake, 
Coonalpyn and Meningie, The Coorong District Council is divided into three Wards - 
Lakes, Mallee and Parks. 
 
With a total area of 8836km², The Coorong District Council is home to approximately 6000 
people. More than 1880km of roads exist in the district, of which 1463km are unsealed. 
 
A diverse range of primary production industries operate within the District, including 
cropping, livestock (sheep, cattle, pigs), dairying, commercial fishing, aquaculture, 
horticulture and mining. Much of the district is serviced by major trunk freight routes, 
including the Dukes, Mallee and Princes Highways and the Adelaide to Melbourne rail line. 

 

STATE ELECTORATE: Hammond, MacKillop  

FEDERAL ELECTORATE: Barker 

KEY FEATURES: 
 

• 8,836 square kilometres of mainly rural land. 
• Main towns of Tailem Bend, Meningie, Tintinara and Coonalpyn plus other smaller 

settlements (Tailem Bend very accessible from Adelaide). 
• Dukes Highway, Mallee Highway  and the Princess Highway are key transport 

corridors  
• Large area of coastline and the environmentally renowned Coorong. 
• Adjoins lower reaches of River Murray and encompasses Lake Albert and part of 

Lake Alexandrina. 
• Strong diversified primary industry base.  
• Council offices maintained at Tailem Bend, Meningie, and Tintinara.  

 
SELECTED COUNCIL INDICATORS  
 
Population     5,825 
Rateable Properties   3,831 
Roads Sealed   423 km  
Roads Unsealed   1,463 km 
Operating Expenses  $11.002m (as at 30 June 2011) 
Operating Revenue    $11.028m (as at 30 June 2011) 
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COORONG DISTRICT MAP 
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ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

The Coorong District Council has 9 Elected Members, who each represent an average of 
445 residents. Council’s area is divided into three wards. Lakes Ward, Mallee Ward and 
Parks Ward. 
 

 
 

Cr. Roger Strother 
Mayor 

Lakes Ward 
Ph: (08) 8575 4254 
Mob: 0428 754 252 

 
 

Cr. Sharon Bland 
Lakes Ward 

Ph: (08) 8575 1251 
Mob: 0458 121 830 

 
 

Cr. Andrew Dawes 
Lakes Ward 

Ph: (08) 8575 1656 
Mob:0427 751 488 

 
 
Cr. Lachlan McKinna 

Mallee Ward 
Ph: (08) 8572 4884 
Mob: 0437 131 802 

 
 
Cr. Neville Jaensch 

Deputy Mayor 
Mallee Ward 

Ph: (08) 8572 3670 

 
 

Cr. Bob Simcock 
Mallee Ward 

Ph: (08) 8572 3679 
Mob: 0407 609 593 

 
 

Cr. Peter Wright 
Mallee Ward 

PH: (08) 8598 7066 
Mob: 0419 800 917 

 
 

Cr. Jeff Arthur 
Parks Ward 

Ph: (08) 8757 2523 
Mob: 0400 354 645 

 
 

Cr. Jeff Klitscher 
Parks Ward 

Ph: (08) 8571 1063 
Mob: 0428 813 040 
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RETIRED ELECTED MEMBERS 
 
The 2010 Local Government Elections saw four Elected Members elect not to re-run for 
another term of Council. These ex-elected members are; 
 
 
 
 
Cr. Richard Harkness, Parks Ward 
Cr. Denise Richardson, Parks Ward 
Cr. Paul Simmons, Lakes Ward 
Cr. Alison Jaensch, Mallee Ward 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These elected members are extremely professional and passionate about their local 
communities. At the October 2010 Council meeting Council presented certificates of 
recognition to each of these elected members. The Coorong District Council thanks them 
for their hard work and dedication. 

 

ALLOWANCES PAID TO ELECTED MEMBERS  
 
Elected Members received an annual allowance paid monthly in advance. These 
allowances are set by the Remuneration Tribunal of SA and as at 30 June 2011 were: 
 

• Mayor   $32,000 
• Deputy Mayor $10,000 
• Councillor  $  8,000 

 
The Mayor has been provided with a fully maintained motor vehicle for Council business 
use only, and mobile phone to assist carry out the duties and responsibilities as Mayor of 
the Coorong District Council. 
 
Council also reimburses Elected Members for expenses incurred in travelling within the 
Council area on council business at a rate determined by legislation. Council also 
reimburses Elected Members for a range of additional expenses, for example, approved 
travel outside the Council area, attendance at conferences and the provision of 
telephone/facsimile machines for Council business.  
 

ALLOWANCES PAID TO CHAIRS OF STANDING COMMITTEES  
 
Council resolved in November 2010 to provide the following allowances: 
 

o Chair of Standing Committees   $10,000 

Former elected members with a road sign in 
recognition of the Late Cr .Mr. Ted Freak. 
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ALLOWANCES PAID TO AUDIT COMMITTEE INDEPENDENT MEMBERS 
 
Council resolved to provide the following allowance to the Independent Chair and member 
of the Audit Committee: 
 

o Independent Chair and member of the Audit Committee $1,500 
 

ELECTED MEMBER PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
Council has adopted a Training and Development for Council Members Policy.  
 
During 2010-2011 Council provided ongoing training and development to the group of 9 
elected members, which was delivered regularly and generally in the form of departmental 
briefing sessions where members are provided with information on the services that 
Council delivers. 
 
In addition to this program there were a number of local government wide conferences, 
seminars and joint regional training sessions that were offered to elected members and 
some members took the opportunity to expand their knowledge on industry wide issues. 
These included:  

• Local Government Association General Meeting and Showcase  
• Local Government Association AGM & Conference 
• Murray Darling Association AGM and conference 
• National General Assembly of Local Government 
• National Local Roads and Transport Congress 
• Audit Committee Training 
• New Council Members Residential Seminar 
• Recycle Right training tour 
• Council Development Assessment Panel Member fundamentals 
• Council Members Strategic Issues Residential Seminar 
• Local Government Managers Association National Congress 
• Council & Committee Meeting Procedures & Chairing Skills 

 
ELECTED MEMBER AND ELECTOR REPRESENTATION  
 
REPRESENTATION QUOTA/REVIEW  
 
The Coorong District Council has 9 Elected Members including a Mayor, who represent an 
average of 445 residents. 
 
The following chart compares The Coorong District Council’s representation quota with that 
of other Councils of a similar size and type. The quota is derived by dividing the total 
number of electors for each Council by the number of Elected Members.  
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COUNCIL ELECTORS TOTAL ELECTED 

MEMBERS 
REPESENTATION 

QUOTA 
Clare and Gilbert 
Valleys 

6454 10 645 

Coorong 4011  9 445 
Grant 5680 10 568 
Mallala 5580 11 507 
Mid Murray 6599 12 549 
Naracoorte 
Lucindale 

5956 11 541 

Northern Areas 3531 9 392 
Renmark Paringa 6403 9 711 
Tatiara 4631 10 463 
Wakefield Regional 4835 11 439 

*Derived from information provide by the Electoral Commission of SA, current as at 
last close of roll (28/02/2011) 

 

THE PROCESS FOR ELECTOR REPRESENTATION REVIEWS  
 
Section 12 of the Local Government Act 1999 sets out the process that Councils need to 
follow when undertaking a review. Electors must have the opportunity to make submissions 
to the review. 
 
The Local Government Act 1999 requires councils to carry out a review of its Elector 
representation at least once in every 8 years to ascertain governance arrangements that 
are adequate and provide fair representation for electors,   
 
The commencement of the review is triggered by the release of an Options Paper which 
outlines the representation structures available under the Local Government Act. A public 
notice must be placed in a newspaper circulating generally throughout the state with a copy 
of the notice published in a newspaper circulating within the Council area inviting written 
submissions. At least six weeks must be allowed for public submissions. People who 
provide written submissions in response to the notice must be given the opportunity to be 
heard in respect to that submission, either personally or by representative before the 
Council or a Council Committee.  
 
On completion of the review, the Council must prepare a report on the public consultation 
undertaken and any proposal that the Council considers should be carried into effect. A 
second public notice must be made advising of the report, inviting written submissions and 
allowing at lease three weeks for public submissions. People who provide written 
submissions in response to the report must be given the opportunity to be heard in respect 
to their submission, either personally or by representative before the Council or committee. 
 
A final report is compiled, including a summary of amendments resulting from any 
considerations from the consultation process and submitted to the Electoral Commission 
for certification. The Electoral Commissioner must determine whether the requirements 
have been satisfied. In the event that the Electoral Commissioner is of the opinion that the 
requirements have not been satisfied the matter is referred back to the Council. If this 
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occurs, Council must take appropriate action before sending the report back to the 
Electoral Commissioner.  
 
The prescribed process (commonly known as a Representation Review) enables Councils 
to examine whether a change in elector representation arrangements is appropriate, and 
must include a review of ward boundaries and the composition of Council. 
 

PERIODIC REVIEW OF ELECTOR REPRESENTATION  
 
In accordance with the provisions in Section 12 of the Local Government Act 1999, the 
Coorong District Council is required to carry out a review to determine whether a change of 
arrangements in respect to elector representation, including ward boundaries and the 
composition of Council, will result in the electors of the area being more adequately and 
fairly represented. The Act requires that a Council must do a review at least once in every 
eight years.  
 
Council’s most recent Representation Review was certified by the State Electoral 
Commissioner on August 2005 and applied for the 2006 Local Government general 
election. Council’s next Representation Review pursuant to Chapter 3 Part 1 Division 2 of 
the Local Government Act 1999 is due for completion in 2013 and is anticipated to 
commence in early 2012. 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ELECTIONS  
 
Elected Members are elected by the local community. To become an Elected Member, 
interested and eligible members of the community need to nominate and run a campaign 
(when there are more nominations than positions). 
 
The Local Government (Elections) Act 1999 sets out the requirements for Local 
Government Elections, how they are to be conducted, who can nominate, who can vote 
and how the votes are to be counted. 
 
The Local Government Association produces a booklet called, “So you want to be a 
Councillor”, and provides further information abut elections on its website 
www.lga.sa.gov.au. Copies are available from all Council offices for any interested 
residents. 
 
Local Government Elections were held in November 2010. These elections appointed 
Councillors for the term ending in 2014. Council received the required number of 
nominations for the Mallee & Parks wards and therefore those nominations were declared 
elected unopposed. Council received four nominations to fill three positions in Lakes Ward 
and an Election was held. 
 
Following the Election process Cr. Sharon Bland, Cr. Andrew Dawes and Cr. Roger 
Strother were elected to represent the Lakes Ward. 
 
The new Council took office on the 19th of November 2010. 
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2008-2012 STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT PLAN  
 
VISION STATEMENT 
 

The Coorong District Council area will be recognised for its cohesive community, 
prosperous economy and unique and highly valued environment.  

 

MISSION STATEMENT  

The Coorong District Council is committed to: 

• Responsibly managing the natural and built environment with the aim of attaining 
sustainability. 

 
• Facilitating economic prosperity, sustainable growth and employment throughout 

the district. 
 

• Enhancing the quality of life for the community by encouraging health, well being 
and safety; 

 
• Providing leadership for the community and ensuring efficient and effective 

management of the community’s resources. 
 

COUNCIL’S CORE VALUES  

The Council will be:  
 Accountable and transparent  
 Engaging (participatory, consultative and informative)  
 Creative and innovative  
 Responsible and responsive  
 Equitable  
 Proactive and progressive  
 Committed to Sustainability  
 

KEY OBJECTIVES AND GOALS 
 
Environmental Objective SUSTAINABILITY  

The intent of the Environmental Objective is to responsibly manage the natural and built 
environment to ensure its sustainability and diversity to the community.  

Attaining Sustainability is a key objective of the South Australia’s Strategic Plan and 
highlights that the health of our natural environment is absolutely critical to our future.  

The Coorong District Council contains areas of environmental significance such as the 
Coorong, Ramsar wetlands and the Murray River and Lower Lakes and is facing several 
significant environmental issues such as salinity, water and drought.  
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Economic Objective PROSPERITY  

Prosperity of the community is a key objective of the Coorong District Council to ensure 
the district enjoys economic development and employment growth.  

The intent of this objective is to facilitate economic prosperity and sustainable growth for 
the district.  

The Coorong District Council area will strive to develop into a prosperous, vibrant and 
progressive community, providing a quality of life which meets the aspirations of the 
community. The Council is committed to encouraging new and supporting existing 
business and commercial enterprise wherever such enterprise is consistent with the social 
and environmental requirements of the community.  

The Coorong District Council is committed to promoting the district as a great place to live, 
work and visit.  
 
Social Objective  WELLBEING  

The wellbeing of the social capital of the district, that is, its people and community, is a key 
objective of the Coorong District Council.  

The intent of this objective is to enhance the quality of life for our community by 
encouraging, health, wellbeing and safety.  

The Coorong District Council is committed to nurturing a strong and caring community to 
ensure a secure, healthy and successful lifestyle for all those that choose to live, work and 
visit the district.  
 
Governance Objective  LEADERSHIP  

The Coorong District Council is committed to being a leader in the community and the 
Murray Lands Region, and will ensure it provides services to the community in an efficient 
and effective manner whilst meeting its legislative responsibilities.  

The intent of this objective is to provide leadership for the community and ensuring 
efficient and effective management of the community’s resources. The Council needs to 
manage its revenue base, adopt best practice financial management practices and ensure 
financial sustainability.  

Furthermore, the Council is committed to promoting an inclusive, open and transparent 
culture based on effective communication and respect within the Council and with the 
community.  

The Coorong District Council will harness the local knowledge and commitment of its staff 
to provide the best possible service to its community.  

 
REPORT CARD – 2008/2012 STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

OBJECTIVES  
 
The following report card indicates the Key Actions that Council outlined in it’s 2010/2011 
Annual Business Plan and the Key Outcomes from those objectives. 
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2010/2011 ANNUAL BUSINESS PLAN REVIEW – ENVIRONMENTAL 

 
2010/2011 KEY ACTIONS 2010/2011 KEY OUTCOMES 

Commence a Section 30 Review of the 
Development Plan upon completion of the 
Murray Mallee Land Use Framework currently 
being undertaken by Planning SA. 

Strategic Directions Report adopted by 
Council at its meeting held in July 2011. 

Development of Strategic Land Use Plans 
(SLUPs) 

SLUP issues paper endorsed at Council’s 
meeting in August 2010 

Explore the possibility of the Council becoming 
carbon neutral. 

Greenhouse Gas Emission (Carbon Footprint) 
Report adopted by Council at its meeting in 
June 2011 

Investigate opportunities for and costs of 
stormwater harvesting and implement as 
appropriate. 

Investigation in conjunction with KBR 
Infrastructure and Mining has been 
completed. 
Report nearing completion and will be 
presented to Council in September 2011. 

Develop a Strategic Bike Plan (particularly for 
townships) and seek funding for the 
development and implementation of the Plan. 

Plan not commenced. 

Review road classification policy to ensure 
accurate reflection of road network. 

Council have engaged the services of ACEAM 
Pty Ltd to undertake a full road network 
assessment. Condition assessment on road 
network completed. Asset Management plans 
and 10 year works program will be completed 
by December 2011 

Develop and implement a rolling 10 year plant 
replacement. 

Following completion of the assessment, a 
prioritisation process will be undertaken. Asset 
Management plans and 10 year works 
program will be completed by December 2011 

Undertake a review of the provision of 
Council’s waste and recycling collection and 
disposal services for its ratepayers, residents 
and business operators across the entire 
Council area, prior to the formulation of the 
2010/2011 budget. 
Prepare a policy in relation to the provision of 
waste and recycling services. 
Include as part of the review, but not be limited 
to: 

o Household waste (including 
recycling) 

o Green waste 
o Electronic waste 
o Hazardous waste 
o Kerb collection of large items 

(hard waste 
o collection) 
o Existing voucher system 
o Communal collection points 
o Cost of service provision 
o Best practice service models in 

Water and Waste Innovations Pty Ltd 
engaged to review current Waste 
Management operations. Report presented to 
the January 2011 Council Meeting. Refer 
Minute 023/11. 
 
Waste Management Review will be completed 
in 2011/2012. 
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use across Australia 
o User pays principles for the 

service through the levying of a 
separate charge 

o Other implications for Council’s 
rating policy 

Undertake community consultation in relation 
to the review across the entire Council area, in 
accordance with best practice principles 
contained within the Local Government 
Association’s Community Engagement 
Handbook. 

 

2010/2011 ANNUAL BUSINESS PLAN REVIEW – ECONOMIC 
 

2010/2011 KEY ACTIONS 2010/2011 KEY OUTCOMES 
Conduct a tourism asset audit and prepare a 
tourism plan. 
Identify the opportunities from the Limestone 
Coast Tourism Plan. 
 

Tourism & Economic Development (T&ED) 
Plan 2011-2015 adopted. 
Funding submission to SBC Round 2 was 
successful. Community meetings have been 
held and a draft T&ED Plan being drafted.  
It is expected the T&ED Plan will be 
completed in 2011/2012. The delay was due 
to awaiting outcome of SBC funding 
application. 

Contribute towards the Murraylands Tourism 
Partnership (MTP). 

Annually reviewed through Council’s budget 
process and allocation.  

That Council review the Murraylands Tourist 
Services Road Signage report 2007 in 
conjunction with the Southern Australia 
Touring Route 2007 Signage Audit, reporting 
back with recommendations to full Council 
within the next 12 months. That the report 
addresses, but is not limited to:  
1. Signage that is and takes into account:  

o Directional  
o Consistency  
o Safety  
o Clear  
o Visibility  
o Attractive  
o Tourist Route identification  

2. That the communities are consulted in 
relation to Community and Tourism Business 
related signage needs.  
3. That a costing of all recommendations be 
included.  

Report adopted by Council at its February 
2011 meeting. 
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2010/2011 ANNUAL BUSINESS PLAN REVIEW – SOCIAL 
 

2010/2011 KEY ACTIONS 2010/2011 KEY OUTCOMES 
Implement the recommendations and actions as 
identified in the Animal Management Plan 
Adopted by Council in 2005.  
Adopt a new Animal Management Plan 2010-
2015. 

New Animal Management Plan 2010-2015 was 
adopted by Council at its meeting held in 
October 2010. 

That Council negotiate a second Alliance 
Agreement with the Raukkan Community 
Council. 

Agreement signed. Signing ceremony took 
place on 15 December 2010. 

Enter an agreement and formulate a policy 
regarding construction works to ensure the 
protection and preservation of aboriginal 
heritage. 

Project commenced and will be ongoing in 
2011/2012. 

 

2010/2011 ANNUAL BUSINESS PLAN REVIEW – GOVERNANCE 
 

2010/2011 KEY ACTIONS 2010/2011 KEY OUTCOMES 
Conduct an audit of governance procedures 
and practices. 

Audit commenced. Ongoing project in 
2011/2012. 

Prepare a governance policies and codes 
development and review program to ensure 
Council has policy framework that contains and 
relevant and current policies. 

Report and timetable presented and adopted by 
Leadership Team/Council. Ongoing project will 
be continued in 2011/2012. 

Review and improve Council’s Public 
Consultation Policy 

Policy has been reviewed as part of Starr 
Solutions consultants program and reviewed by 
Leadership Team and sent back to finalise. 
Ongoing project will be completed in 2011/2012. 

Implement an integrated Customer Request 
Management Service (CRMS). 

Newly implemented TRIM program to be used 
for CRMS. Service Quality team to reconvene to 
set service standards. Ongoing project will be 
continued in 2011/2012. 

Prepare an IT Development Program, including 
the following systems: 

o Website and intranet development 

Website development ongoing, intranet deferred 
to 2011/2012. Ongoing project will be continued 
in 2011/2012. 

Implement specific actions required to achieve 
compliance with State Records. 

TRIM & Records Management Policy 
implemented. Ongoing project will be continued 
in 2011/2012. 

Records management policy to be developed 
and implemented. 

TRIM & Records Management Policy 
implemented. Ongoing project will be continued 
in 2011/2012. 

Develop an ‘Attracting and Retaining Staff’ 
Policy and program 

Staff Reward & Recognition Policy adopted by 
Council. Ongoing project will be continued in 
2011/2012 with consideration of implementing 
HR module of Authority. 

Development of a fraud and corruption policy. Policy endorsed by Council. 
Conduct a review of Council’s long term office 
requirements. 

Ongoing project will be continued in 2011/2012. 

Council proceeds with a ‘Needs Analysis’ 
across the district with regard to Community 
Services and Community Development. 

Community Needs Analysis adopted and 
endorsed by Council at its meeting held in May 
2011. 
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Consider options for Council’s role, 
responsibility, service provision, organisational 
arrangements and funding levels and determine 
a preferred option. 
Undertake a diverse range of promotional 
activities including the LGA promotional 
campaign to more widely publicise the local 
government elections. 

Higher percentage state wide of candidates and 
voter participation following election process. 
LGA review being undertaken to investigate 
other options to increase future voter and 
candidate participation.  

Implementation of family friendly and culturally 
sensitive policies and initiatives to encourage 
diversity of candidature. 

Joint LGA and Council participation in 
developing policies/pr/marketing material. 

 

CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM ACHIEVEMENTS 2010/2011 

o Willow Street Precinct developed. 

o Ongoing development of CWMS at Tailem Bend, Tintinara & Meningie. 

o Various RLCIP Community Projects: 
• Shade shelter Coonalpyn & Peake playgrounds, Meningie Cemetery 
• Contribution to Tintinara Bowling Club synthetic green 
• Street enhancements Tintinara & Tailem Bend 
• Bus Shelter Tailem Bend 

o Coonalpyn Hall Floor resurfacing 

o Tauragat Well Road sealing ($630k) 

o Re-sheeting over 40kms unsealed roads ($1.132m) 

o Commenced a review of the provision of Council’s waste and recycling collection 
and disposal services for its ratepayers, residents and business operators across 
the entire Council area. 

o Commenced a review, condition assessment & revaluation of Council’s road 
network. 

 

OBJECTIVES TO ACHIEVE FOR 2011/2012 
 
CAPITAL PROJECTS FOR 2011/2012 INCLUDE: 

o Ongoing Community Wastewater Management Scheme (CWMS) development in 
Tailem Bend, Meningie & Wellington East $1.402m. 

o Conversion of Tailem Bend landfill to waste transfer station $749k. 

o Tauragat Well Road $642k. 

o Various road reseals $321k, other streets, footpaths & kerbing $236k, road re-
sheeting program $856k. 

o Reconstruction Murray/Mallee Street intersection (Tailem Bend) $161k. 

o Stormwater construction Meningie $193k, stormwater planning Tailem Bend $32k. 
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o Boat ramps & jetties $88k. 

o Coonalpyn swimming pool chlorination system $64k. 

o Plant, fleet & minor plant replacement $1.530m. 

o Playgrounds $75k. 

o New (single) public conveniences (Narrung & Peake) $54k. 

 
COUNCIL OBJECTIVES FOR 2011/2012 INCLUDE: 

o Create a new Strategic Management Plan 2012-2016 

o Significant other strategic document development & review such as Long Term 
Financial Plan, development plan amendments, Carbon Neutral Strategy, new 
Local Action Plan, Tourism & Economic Development Plan, Infrastructure & Asset 
Management Plan, Rolling 10 year capital work & plant replacement program, 
CWMS Business Plan & Coorong Emergency Response Management Plan. 

o Continuous organisational improvement strategies such as review and adopt new 
Customer Charter & service standards, Organisational Excellence Strategy, ‘Good 
Governance Program’. 

o Complete review of long term office requirements. 

o Various information technology projects including staff intranet, elected member 
laptops, asset management & AutoCAD software. 

o Road rent review 
 

FULL COUNCIL  
 
Full Council, consisting of 9 elected members, one of whom is chosen by the members as 
the Presiding Member (Mayor), is the decision making body on all policy and strategy 
matters.  
 
Ordinary meetings of the full Council were held during the 2010/2011 period, with one 
meeting per month. Council in November 2010 resolved to change the Council meeting 
days to the 3rd Tuesday of the month, commencing at 3.00 pm. This was a change from 
the meetings commencing at 5 pm.  
 
Council also scheduled community forums in 2010/2011 and held these following Council 
meetings in Tintinara in February 2011, and Meningie in April 2011.  
 
Under the Local Government Act 1999, the Council sitting as an elected body is “to act as 
a representative, informed and responsible decision maker in the interests of its 
community”.  
 
In order to fulfil this responsibility, Council receives reports from management and staff 
and on occasions seeks information from external consultants. 
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COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL 
 

SECTION 41 COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL  
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1999, Council has 
established various committees pursuant to Section 41 of the Act. Committees have been 
formed to streamline Council business. These committees meet regularly and make 
recommendations to full Council. Committee meetings are open to the public. The 
Committees are: 
 
All Committees report directly to Council and their minutes are included within the Council 
agenda and minutes: 
 

• Audit Committee 
• Strategic Planning and Development Policy Committee 

 

OTHER COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL  
 
A number of committees comprising Elected Members and community representatives 
have been established, similarly under Section 41 to investigate and manage particular 
issues. All report directly to Council and their minutes are included within the Council 
agenda and minutes:  
 

• Coorong Bushfire Prevention Committee 
• Coorong Local Action Plan Committee  
• Lower Lakes and Coorong Infrastructure Committee 
• Tailem Bend Town Hall Committee 
• Coonalpyn Community Hall Committee 
• Coonalpyn Soldiers Memorial Swimming Pool and Caravan Park Committee 
• Meningie Cemetery Committee 
• Moorlands Hall Committee 
• Pangarinda Arboretum Committee 
• Tailem Bend Cemetery Committee 
• Tailem Rail Committee 
• Tintinara Airfield Committee 
• Tintinara Development Group 
• Tintinara Health & Recreation Centre Committee 
• Tintinara Homes Committee 
• Tintinara War Memorial Hall Committee  

 
Council continues to review the effectiveness of and the need for all committees of Council 
including the potential to add additional committees as the need arises. 
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THE COORONG DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT PANEL 
 

The Coorong District Development Assessment Panel is not a committee of Council, but is 
formed by Council under Section 56A of the Development Act 1993 to make decisions in 
relation to development applications not otherwise delegated to Council Officers. 
 

INFORMATION STATEMENT 
 

An Information Statement is available as a separate document in accordance with 
legislative requirements; however the contents are included in this Annual Report. 

 

ACCESS TO COUNCIL DOCUMENTS 
 

The following documents, policies and registers are available for public inspection at 
Council offices free of charge. Some items are available on Council’s website 
www.coorong.sa.gov.au  Members of the public may purchase copies of documents for a 
fee in accordance with Council’s fees and charges register. 
 

 

COUNCIL REGISTERS, CODES, POLICIES AND ADMINISTRATIVE DOCUMENTS 
 
The following documents are required to be kept under the Local Government Act 1999 or 
the Local Government (Elections) Act 1999. 
 

LIST OF REGISTERS REQUIRED TO BE KEPT 
 
Register of Allowance and Benefits 
Register of By-laws and certified copies 
The Coorong District Council has the following By-laws: 

• No 1 Permits and Penalties 
• No 2 Roads 
• No 3 Government Land 
• No 4 Dogs 
• No 5 Moveable Signs 

Register of Community Land 
Register of Delegations 
Register of Interests (Member of Council) 
Register of Interest (Staff as determined under Section 105 of the Local Government Act 
1999) 
Register of Public Roads 
Register of Remuneration, Salaries and Benefits 
Register of Fees and Charges levied by Council 
 

LIST OF CODES REQUIRED TO BE KEPT 
 
Code of Conduct (Member of Council) 
Code of Conduct (Staff) 
Code of Practice – Access to Council Meetings and Documents 
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Code of Practice for Council and Committee Meeting Procedures 
 
OTHER DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE  
 

• Annual Business Plan and Budget  
• Annual Financial Statements  
• Annual Report 
• Assessment Record  
• Building Application Register  
• Campaign donation returns for candidates 
• Council Meeting Agenda and Minutes 
• Committee Meeting Agenda and Minutes  
• Disability Action Plan  
• Population and Economic Profile 
• Roadside Vegetation Management Plan 
• Committees of Council and representation on 
• Community Land Register 
• Complaints and Compliments Register 
• Coorong Local Action Plan  
• Council Bylaws 
• Development Act 1993 – Statement of Representation  
• Environmental Health Management Plan 2008 – 2012 
• HACC Action Plan 2008 – 2012 
• Human Resource Manual 
• Internal Control Manual  
• Management Plans for Community Land 
• Development Application Register  
• Coorong Sustainability Plan 
• Strategic Management Plan 2008 – 2012  
 

POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
• Asbestos Policy Tailem Bend Waste Depot 
• Asset Management Policy  
• Authorisations and permits for Local Government Land for all Road reserves and 

unmade Roads 
• Building Inspection Policy 
• Business Finger Post Signs Policy 
• Community Events Grants and Donation Policy 
• Community Group Loan Policy  
• Competitive Tendering, Contracting, Purchasing Sale of Land and Other Assets 

Policy  
• Council By Laws 
• Customer Compliment and Complaint Policy 
• Customer Service Standards 
• Customer Service Charter 
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• Debt Recovery Policy 
• Economic Development Policy 
• Elected Members Allowances and Support Policy 
• Elected Members Induction policy 
• Elected Members Training and Development Policy  
• Election Caretaker Policy (Section 91A of the Local Government Elections Act 

1999)  
• Election signs in public places 
• Employee Recognition – Service and Achievements Policy 
• Hierachy of Signage Policy 
• Home Modification and Maintenance Service Policy 
• Information Security Policy  
• Individual Sport and Cultural Grants Policy 
• Internal Control Policy 
• Internal Review of Council Decisions Policy 
• Lease Licence and Authorisation Provisions for Local Government 
• Motor Vehicle Policy 
• Procurement including Contracts and Tenders Policy 
• Public Consultation Policy 
• Rating Policy 2011/2012 
• Records Management Policy 
• Risk Management Policy 
• Road Naming Policy 
• Rural Roads Classification Policy  
• Safe Environment Policy 
• Sale and Disposal of Council Land and other Asset Policy 
• Street Trees Policy  
• Treasury Management Policy 
• Unmade Road and road reserves adjacent made Roads 
• Volunteer Management Policy 
• Whistleblower’s Protection Policy 
 

COMMUNITY LAND 
 
Council owns and controls more than 204 separate pieces of land that are scattered right 
throughout the district. In accordance with the requirements contained within Section 193 
of the Local Government Act, 1999, there are over 130 pieces of land that are classified as 
Community Land. 
 
Land classified as Community Land includes: 
 

• Depots 
• Soldier Memorial Parks 
• Camping & Caravan Park Reserves  
• Community Halls 
• Reserve & Drainage Reserves 



 
The Coorong District Council 

‘Creating a Better Future with Pride’ 
 

 

Annual Report 2010/2011    23 

• Parkland & Foreshore Reserves 
• Cemetery Reserves 
• Reserves 
• Community & Health Purpose Lands 
• Leased Railway Land  
• Effluent Drainage Reserves 
• Sporting Grounds 
• Parklands 
• Waste Depots 
• Council Offices 
• Community Centre & Memorial Halls 
• Drainage Reserves 
 

LAND ACQUIRED DURING THE YEAR 
 

During 2010/2011 pieces of land that were acquired by Council, as the result of 
subdivision of land and are classified as Community Land were: 

 
• Allotments 107, 108, 109 &110 Deposited Plan 83982, in the area named Meningie, 

Hundred of Bonney being Certificates of Title Volumes 6064 Folios 298, 299, 300 & 
301 respectively (known as McIntosh Way reserves). 

• Allotment 50, Deposited Plan 82853, in the area named Coorong, Hundred of Santo 
being Certificate of Title Volume 6053 Folio 864 (known as Policeman’s Point 
reserve). 

 

COMMUNITY LAND MANAGEMENT PLANS 
 

Council’s Community Land Management Plans in relation to these pieces of land were 
subject to community consultation in accordance with Council’s Public Consultation Policy. 
 
Community Land Management Plans may be inspected at the following Council offices, or 
by visiting Council’s website – www.coorong.sa.gov.au 

 
• Customer Service Centre, 93a Railway Terrace Tailem Bend 
• Meningie Branch Office, 49 Princes Highway Meningie 
• Tintinara Branch Office, 37 Becker Terrace Tintinara 

 
Council is required under the Local Government Act 1999 to review all Community Land 
Management Plans each year. Due to personnel changes in the Infrastructure & Assets 
department in 2010/2011, the review is planned to commence late 2011. This review will 
be undertaken in conjunction with a road rent review across the district. Both reviews will 
be undertaken by Council’s Property Officer (who commenced October 2011), Manager 
Technical Services and Director Infrastructure & Assets. 
 

OTHER INFORMATION REQUESTS 
 
Requests for other information not included in the above documents are considered in 
accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1991. 
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Under this legislation, an application fee and a search fee must be forwarded with the 
completed request form as provided for under the Act, unless the applicant is granted an 
exemption in accordance with the Act. 

Should the applicant require copies of any document inspected pursuant to a Freedom of 
Information request, charges as set will apply. 

Freedom of Information request forms should be addressed to: 
 

Chief Executive Officer 
The Coorong District Council 
PO Box 399 
TAILEM BEND  SA  5260 
 

Applications will be responded to as soon as possible within the statutory 30 days of 
Council receiving the properly completed Freedom of Information form, together with the 
application and search fees. 

No requests for other information were received by Council in accordance with the 
Freedom of Information Act 1991 in the 12 months ended 30 June 2011. 
 

TENDERING AND SUPPLY 
 
In July 2000, Council adopted a competitive tendering, contracting and sale of land and 
other assets policy. Through this policy, the Council is committed to ensuring a fair, 
transparent and accountable process for the provision of services, purchasing of goods 
and services and in the disposal of land and other assets. 

Council aims to ensure that its methods of service provision, including the carrying out of 
works, purchasing goods and the sale of land and other assets are cost effective and meet 
the needs of the community and legislative requirements and represent best value for 
money, while taking into account the need to support the local economy. 

Generally, Council will purchase goods through adoption of the following approaches: 

• Direct purchase from a particular supplier. 
• Obtaining quotations to select a supplier. 
• Requesting tenders from a selected range of suppliers. 
• Calling open tenders. 
• Contract for service where rate is pre-determined by Council. 

 
In identifying the circumstances in which to apply these options, Council will consider a 
number of issues, for example: 

• The number of known suppliers of the goods or services. 
• The existence of local suppliers of the goods or services and the impact on the local 

economy if the goods or services were purchased from outside the Council area.  
• The total estimated value of the purchase. 
• Organisational capacity and attitude to elected Council/staff roles and responsibilities 

in purchasing. 
• Delegation limits taking into consideration accountability, responsibility, operational 

efficiency and urgency of supply. 



 
The Coorong District Council 

‘Creating a Better Future with Pride’ 
 

 

Annual Report 2010/2011    25 

• Previous experience with suppliers. 
• Compliance with statutory obligations. 

 
The following list contains some of the functions for which Council utilises contractors to 
carry out services: 
 
• Cartage of road building material 
• Waste management 
• Food premises inspections 
• Road line marking 
• Engineering services 
• Information services 

 

COMPETITION PRINCIPLES 
 
Council does not conduct any significant business activity.  
 
All By-laws have been reviewed and found not to have an effect on competition. 
 
No complaints have been received by Council about the application of competitive 
neutrality. 
 

AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL RECORDS 
 
A member of the public may gain access to Council documents to make amendments 
concerning their personal affairs by making a request under the Freedom of Information 
Act. A member of the public may then request a correction to any information about 
themselves that is incomplete, incorrect, misleading or out of date. 

To gain access to these Council records, a member of the public must complete a 
Freedom of Information request form as indicated above, outlining the records that he/she 
wishes to inspect. 
 

SENIOR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
The Chief Executive Officer and three Directors are not paid overtime but receive, as a 
part of their total salary package, the benefit of the private use of a fully maintained motor 
vehicle subject to fuel costs being generally paid by the officer when on leave.  
 

CONFIDENTIALITY  
 
Council and Council Committees may have discussions in camera (excluding the public). 
The provisions of the Local Government Act 1999, Section 90 sets out the circumstances 
when this may occur and the following is a summary of the number of occasions that the 
provisions listing in Section 90 (excluding the public during debate) or section 91 
(documents to be kept confidential for a period of time) were utilised during the 2010/2011 
financial year. 



 
The Coorong District Council 

‘Creating a Better Future with Pride’ 
 

 

Annual Report 2010/2011    26 

Council conducts a review of all items still held in confidence under Section 90 & 91 orders 
every 12 months. 

 
2010/2011 CONFIDENTIALITY SCHEDULE  
 
Council may have discussions in camera (excluding the public). The provisions of the 
Local Government Act 1999, Section 90 sets out the circumstances when this may occur 
and the following is a summary of the number of occasions that the provisions listed in 
section 90 (excluding any public debate) or Section 91 (documents to be kept confidential 
for a period of time) were utlised during the 2010/2011 financial year.  
 
31 times in confidence  
 
Of the 31 times – 29 times a motion or motions were made. 
 
Of the 29 times there was a motion or motions – 14 times the information has 
subsequently been made publicly available, 15 times the information has not been made 
publicly available. 
 
Personal affairs of any person   10 times (a) 
Commercial issues     14 times  (b) 
Tender/supply of goods      3 times  (k)  
Security of Council, employees or members, 
Council property      1 time (e) 
Divulge confidential information supplied 
By Minister of the Crown or another public 
Authority or official      1 time (j) 
TOTAL   29  times 

 

In order to ensure the principles of open, accessible and accountable governance and 
compliance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 1999 are observed, Council 
undertakes an annual review of its confidentiality orders and resolve to maintain, release 
or release in part, reports that have been considered in confidence. 

 
ORGANISATIONAL REVIEW AND STRUCTURE 
 
Local Government, similar to many rural businesses and organisation, is faced with staff 
turnover as people go about the business of endeavouring to improve their employment 
opportunities or relocate elsewhere for personal reasons. In rural areas, this impact can be 
more pronounced because the people are general well known within their communities 
and potential, they take with them when they leave, a significant amount of corporate 
knowledge. They are not easily replaced as not everyone with the necessary skills, 
knowledge and experience want to relocate to country areas. But with the right people, it 
gives a business an opportunity for renewal and for the infusion of new ideas and 
experiences. 
 
The Coorong Council is no different to any other rural business, and early in the financial 
year following resignations of some staff, an opportunity arose to undertake a review of 
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different parts of the organisation and to assess the long term organisational needs of the 
Council to take the organisation forward to achieve the strategic direction set by Council. 
 
With input from the Council and staff, the organisation has been restructured, and some 
positions upgraded or added to ensure the Council has the necessary skill-sets available 
to undertake the work required of them. Greater emphasis has been given to some areas, 
with work structured under the following functional areas: 
 

• Sustainable Development 
o Development (statutory and strategic); 
o Environment and health; 
o Tourism and economic development; 
o Landcare; 
o Business Planning & Governance 

 

• Infrastructure and Assets 
o Management plans, major projects, plant replacement; 
o Maintenance including community facilities; 
o Operations including road construction, maintenance and ancillary 

infrastructure; 
o Technical including project and contract management, procurement, 

community lands, OHS/risk inspections, etc. 
 

• Corporate and Community  
o Financial management; 
o Corporate support; 
o Organisational development; 
o Community services/development. 

 

Part of the goal of the review was to create greater opportunity for career enhancement 
across the organisation and within the functional areas, including greater responsibility, 
autonomy and accountability. The Council members appreciate and understand that the 
organisation needs to get greater efficiencies from the considerable effort that all the staff 
collectively provide to the organisation, furthermore it is recognised that it’s important to 
ensure that we provide the incentive to retain our valued staff. 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE – AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 
 

Michael Boyd 
CEO 

David Mosel 
Director Infrastructure &  

Assets 

 

Timothy Tol 
Deputy CEO / Director Sustainable 

Development 

 

Nat Traeger 
Director Corporate & Community 

 

Laura Peters  
Executive Assistant 

Vacant 
Manager Technical Services 

Ron Downs 
Manager Infrastructure & Capital 

Projects 

Sue Prendergast 
Property Officer 

Mark Nevin 
Coordinator Rural Roads 

Craig Cockshell 
Coordinator Community Facilities 

Rural Roads Gang 

Community Facilities Gang 

Jim Quinn 
Manager Development & 

Environment 

Michael Vivian 
General Inspector / Fire Prevention 

Officer 

Derek Henderson 
Senior Planning Officer 

Dave Vandborg 
Senior Building Officer 

(0.4 FTE) 

Graham Gates 
LAP Project Officer 

Wendy Ziersch 
Project Support Officer 

 

Tammy Shepherd 
Acting I&A Administration Officer 

 

Tracey Strugnell 
LAP Implementation Officer  

(0.8 FTE)  

Anna Reid 
LAP Implementation Officer 

 

Liz Crane 
TBCC Coordinator 

(0.8 FTE) 

 

Vacant 
Community Liaison Officer 

Paul Duka 
Manager Corporate Support 

Di Miell 
Rates Officer (0.6 FTE) 

Chris Hartmann 
Finance Officer (0.8 FTE) 

Desma Fraser 
Human Services Coordinator 

Belinda Freund 
OHS&W Officer 

(0.5 FTE) 

Kimberley Jacobs 
Payroll & Finance Officer (0.4 FTE) 

Richard Boscence 
Information Services Coordinator 

Special Projects Gang 

Patrol Graders 

Ken Strother 
Lakes Biodiversity Officer 

(0.8 FTE) 

 

Customer Service Team 

Ben Jarvis 
Customer Service Officer (CSC) 

Vacant 
Governance Officer 

Katrina Fromm 
Information Management 

Coordinator 

Vicki Mayfield 
Customer Service Officer 

(CSC) 

 

Tess Pickering 
Casual Customer Service Officer 

(CSC) 

 

Renee Marles 
Corporate & Community Project 

Officer (Meningie) 
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GOVERNANCE PROGRAMS AND EVENTS 
 
Whilst the Governance area of Council is ultimately responsible for Statutory and 
Legislative areas and policy and decision making, during 2010/2011 the Governance 
Department have been involved in staging some very successful events and programs. 
 

AUSTRALIA DAY 
 
Council and community Australia Day 
Award ceremonies were held throughout 
the district on 26 January 2011. Council 
was involved in supporting five Australia 
Day events, these were held in Meningie, 
Tailem Bend, Malinong, Netherton and 
Coonalpyn. Council was pleased to be 
involved in the Australia Day Ambassador 
Program, and David Malinda attended 
both the Meningie and Tailem Bend 
events. 
 

 
 
 

VOLUNTEER RECOGNITION EVENT 
 
Mayor Roger Strother on behalf of Council hosted the Coorong District Council “Volunteers 
Recognition and Celebration event”, on Sunday the 22nd of May 2011 at the Meningie 
Sailing Club.  
 
This event was to celebrate and recognise our communities volunteers during National 
Volunteer week 2011 9-15 May 2011. 
 
Local artists including soloist Billy Watkins and the Meningie Mens Singing Group 
performed various items of song, whilst Adam Hurle spoke of his extensive experience as 
a Meningie CFS volunteer. Adam’s community 
spirit and humble approach to volunteering shone 
through his presentation as he informed guests of 
the duties he has undertaken as a CFS volunteer 
over the past few years. 
 
Mayor Roger Strother thanked volunteers on all 
levels for their input, which is often unnoticed. 
“Whether you organise fundraisers, support 
emergency services and progress groups or 
service food at the local canteen, your input is 
highly valued” he said. 
 

Australia Day Ambassador David Malinda with Australia Day 
Award winners from the Tailem Bend District 
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SANTOS TOUR DOWN UNDER 2011 
 
Council this year had the honor of hosting the start of Stage 2 of the 2011 Santos Tour 
Down Under. This stage ran from Tailem Bend to Mannum and was held on Wednesday 
the 19th of January. 
 
Council and the community have celebrated in the rewards of the 2011 Tour Down Under. 
With results of the Best Dressed Town Competition being the ultimate evidence of the 
untiring commitment and support by the Community Working Party, volunteers, community 
members and Council staff. 

Council received many commendations 
from various sources in regard to the 
event and how smoothly it was run. An 
enormous effort from all Council staff & 
the community was rewarded and 
recognised by outside sources. 
 
A public forum was held following the 
March 2011 Council meeting for any 
interested members of the community 
or volunteers involved in Tour Down 
Under to give feedback to Council.  
 
 
 

 
Following the public forum the Mayor on 
behalf of Council hosted a “thank you 
event” to acknowledge the support and 
assistance by volunteers involved in the 
staging of the Stage 2 Start event.  
 
Council is extremely proud of the hard 
work and dedication of the community in 
hosting this event and making it a 
successful day for all. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Railway Terrace on the 19th of January, ready for the big race 

TDU Community Working Group members with Mayor Roger 

Strother and the Mosaic bike  
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 

THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 

The Sustainable Development Department is responsible for providing a diverse array of 
Council Services on behalf of the community, including: 
 

• Community Services – Including the Home Modification and Maintenance Program, 
Tailem Bend Community Centre and Youth Services 

• Development Services – Including Development Assessment (Planning & Building) 
and Development Policy 

• Economic Development and Tourism 
• Environmental and Community Health Services 
• Environmental Programs – Including Local Action Plan and Coorong Sustainable 

Action Plan 
• General Inspectorial Services 

 

The 2010/2011 year was another successful year for the Sustainable Development 
Department. Some of the highlights included: 
 

• The continued success and expansion of the Local Action Plan (LAP) program. 
• Council receiving a Certificate of Excellence as part of the Public and 

Environmental Health Council Local Government Awards. 
• Jim Quinn, Council’s Environmental and Community Health Officer being awarded 

Council’s Inside Employee of the Year. 
• Completing the Strategic Directions Report, and 
• Completing the Community Needs Analysis 

 
The activities of the Sustainable Development Department broadly fall under three of 
Council’s Strategic Objectives;  

Environmental – Sustainability  
Economic – Prosperity 

Social – Well Being 

 

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

Council’s community service activities ensure Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goal. 
 

3.1 Goal – Enhancing the quality of life of the community by encouraging health, well being 
and safety. 

 
Council’s community services functions have traditionally been within the Sustainable 
Development Department (previously Development and Environmental Services). Up to 
and including 2010/2011, Council’s role in Community Service provision has been to 
auspice Home and Community Care (HACC) funding for the Tailem Bend Community 
Centre as well as administering the Home Modification and Maintenance program. Council 
has also had an informal role in delivering some youth services. 
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The organisational restructure undertaken in 2010 has ensured the new community 
services functions of Council will be the responsibility of the Corporate and Community 
Department. 
 
Prior to initiating the transfer of the Community Services function, Council undertook a 
Community Needs Analysis process. This was a major project during 2010/2011 which 
commenced in April 2010 and concluded with the Council adopting the Community Needs 
Analysis Report at its meeting in May 2011. 
 
The Community Needs Analysis investigated and assessed current and future community 
needs so that future directions are targeted to meet local priorities in the most equitable, 
effective and efficient way within the parameters of Council’s role and available resources. 
 
Extensive community consultation occurred in developing the Community Needs Analysis. 
Key stakeholders that were consulted as part of the Community Needs Analysis were 
initially identified as Service Clubs, Progress Associations, Development Groups, 
Community Service Providers and Schools. These community service providers and 
community group personnel were recognised as providing a wide and diverse array of 
members who were best able to provide an overview of their community and its needs. 
 
A community survey was drafted on the basis of the feedback provided at the stakeholder 
and community group meetings. The survey was designed to be thought provoking and 
the ultimate aim was to not lead the community members in any one particular area of 
community services but to have the community consider all aspects of community services 
and social development within the Council district.  
 
The stakeholder and community group consultation resulted in a range of proposed 
initiatives in the areas of Transport and Access, Community Services, Sport and 
Recreation, Tourism, Grants, Volunteers, Youth Services, Health Services and Childcare. 
   

The results of the survey indicate there is support for Council to increase its contribution 
towards community services and social development. Furthermore, there was support for 
Council to employ a dedicated Community Liaison Officer.  
 
The Council has committed to employing a Community Liaison Officer which will 
commence in 2011/2012. The creation of this role as well as Council’s renewed 
commitment to Community Services is an extremely exciting and positive initiative of 
Council that will bring new opportunities and initiatives to assist the development of the 
community. 
 

HOME MAINTENANCE AND MODIFICATIONS PROGRAM 
Council administers HACC funding for the Home Maintenance and Modifications Program, 
for eligible clients under HACC. The aim of the program is to provide modifications and 
maintenance to the homes of people who are frail aged or have a disability so they can 
stay in their homes. During 2010/2011 the following number of modifications and 
maintenance projects were undertaken. 
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LOCATION MAINTENANCE 

PROJECT 
MODIFICATION 

PROJECT 
Tailem Bend, East 
Wellington 

144 25 

Meningie 40 7 
Coonalpyn, 
Coomandook, Ki Ki, 
Tintinara 

30 5 

TOTAL 214 (38% increase) 37 (0.5% decrease) 

 
TAILEM BEND COMMUNITY CENTRE 
 
The Coorong District Council employs a Coordinator for the Tailem Bend Community 
Centre (TBCC). This position is funded by HACC. The Coordinator, along with the 
assistance of many dedicated volunteers, provides services to persons visiting the centre 
including the aged, disabled and the disadvantaged. The centre is supported by the 
Coorong District Council through HACC funding, administrative and human resources 
support and a Council rate subsidy.  
 
Some of the HACC funded programs provided at the TBCC include: 

• Luncheons for the Golden Oldies and Activities and Leisure groups once a month. 
• Weekly classes for Tai Chi, Exercise, Computing, Sewing and Folk Art, Social Craft 

Circle, and 
• Diabetes Support Group. 

  
Some highlights for the year included: 

• Two Health Information Days with speakers from Alzhiemers SA, COTA, Carers SA 
and the Coorong District Council  

• Winning the Overall Best Dressed Business for the Santos Tour Down Under  
• Due to the growth of Market Days, they are now being held in the Willow St precinct 

for the extra space. We continue to hold markets every 2 months with over 30 
different stall holders attending each time.   

• Play Eat Live festival held during Anti-Poverty Week, to highlight Indigenous culture, 
healthy lifestyles and participating in your community  

• Coordinated a Volunteer’s Pampering Day in partnership with the Tailem Bend 
hospital.  

• Accessed another stream of ACE funding to offer accredited training from the 
Centre in partnership with the Murray Mallee Community Education Network.  

• Free Centre Open day where participants were able to create a Mosiacs art work 
with the help of a trained Tutor.  

• Building works for extensions to the centre commenced! 
 

YOUTH SERVICES  
Council once again was involved in the National Youth Week in April 2010 and the YAC 
program. Some of the activities that Council was involved in included encouraging young 
people to join with their community and participate in fun activities promoting the Council’s 
Community Sports Library at “Tinty under the Stars” and at the “Meningie come and try 
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day”. Council also provides an opportunity to students to access Food Hygiene & Safety 
training for a reduced fee. 
 
Funding was provided to assist with the provision of music at three blue light discos within 
the district.  
 
The Council’s Dog Handling & Community Hygiene Awareness program was implemented 
again this year, with Council providing information sessions at local primary schools. The 
information includes human hygiene around pets as well as pet specific environmental 
health information. As this program has been running for several years through the efforts 
of Council’s General Inspector, it was encouraging to see the amount of retained 
knowledge when dealing with the upper primary school students who had previously 
attended the program in their junior years. Other activities to engage the youth include 
participation in the Murraylands Career Expo and providing a series of 4 colouring and 
activity story books promoting environmental awareness that were distributed to local 
schools. 
 
 

  
 
 
 

 

Local youth trying out the Community Sports Library. 
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DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

The Development Services staff provide services which ensure Council meets the 
following Strategic Goals. 
 

1.1 Goal – To have up to date Development Plan provisions that reflect the needs and 
aspirations of the community and ensure its development assessment processes reflect 
best practice principles and consistent decision making 

1.2 Goal – To ensure the long term economic, social and environmentally sustainable future 
of its community, as well as meeting the community’s aspirations. 

 
Two key responsibilities of our Development Services staff include Development 
Assessment and Development Policy. The staff are also involved in Council’s Building Fire 
Safety Committee. 
 
DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT 
 
The Council has continued to ensure its Development Assessment processes and 
procedures provide an efficient service and average assessment times exceed the 
services standards set in Councils Customer Service Standards.  
 
Council received 196 development applications during the 2010/2011 financial year with a 
total value of just over $11 million. This is a 17% increase in applications and a 36% 
increase in total value compared to 2009/10. It is positive to have an increase in 
development activity which has declined in recent years due to drought and water 
availability issues across the Council district. 
 
The following table indicates a breakdown of the types of development applications lodged 
during 2009/10 and 2010/2011. 
 

2010/2011 TYPE OF DEVELOPMENT 
TOTAL VALUE 

($,000) 
New Dwellings 27 3,349 
Dwelling Additions & Alterations over $2,000 14 523 
Domestic Outbuildings & Minor Additions / 
Alterations 

74 700 

Swimming Pools 5 61 
Commercial Development, including Farm 
Implement sheds, Olive Orchards, Piggeries 

25 4,856 

Commercial Additions/Alterations, including 
Community Facilities Additions 

28 1,558 

Tourist Facilities (Additions/Alterations/Signage) 0 0 
Dredging / Emergency Dredging (Lake Albert & 
Alexandrina & River Murray) 

2 8 

Land Division 21 0 
Total 196 11,054 
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The 27 dwelling applications lodged during 2010/2011 were located in the following areas: 
 

• 10 in Tailem Bend 
• 2 in Tintinara 
• 2 in Meningie 
• 1 in Wellington East, and 
• 12 in rural and rural living areas. Of the dwellings in rural and rural living areas, they 

are located in the following hundreds: 
o 4 in Hundred of Seymour 
o 3 in Hundred of Bonney, and  
o 1 in the Hundreds of Richards, Coombe, Field, Santo and Sherlock. 

 
The 21 Land Division’s applications lodged could potentially result in 442 new allotments 
and 25 new reserves. The new allotments will be located in: 
 

• 350 in Meningie 
• 85 in Wellington East 
• 3 in Tailem Bend, and  
• 4 in rural areas. 

 
DEVELOPMENT POLICY  
 
The Council completed two significant Development Policy projects during 2010/2011. In 
August 2010, Council endorsed a Strategic Land Use Planning Issues Paper. This paper 
provided Council with an overview of land use and development issues for each of the 
major townships; Tailem Bend, Coonalpyn, Tintinara and Meningie as well as Council-wide 
issues. The paper provided some of the investigations that were required for a Section 30 
Review of its Development Plan. 
 
In February 2011, Council commenced its Section 30 Review of its Development Plan.  
 
What is a Section 30 Review? 
Section 30 of the Development Act 1993 (the ‘Act’) requires Councils to regularly review their Development 
Plan to determine how the Planning Strategy can best be implemented in their area. It also enables Councils 
to identify areas for general improvement of the Development Plan, whether it is through the introduction of 
new planning policy or simply by making it more legible and user friendly. 
 
This review must be undertaken in order to determine the appropriateness of the Development Plan that 
applies in relation to the Council area and the consistency of the Development Plan with the Planning 
Strategy. 
 
The purpose of the Development Plan Review is to provide the Minister for Urban Development, Planning 
and the Council with a clear indication of the development issues affecting the Council area and how such 
issues can be addressed by an amendment to Councils’ Development Plan.  

 
As a result of Council’s Section 30 Review, it adopted a Strategic Direction Report which 
was released for Agency and Community Consultation. Council’s Strategic Planning and 
Development Policy Committee endorsed the Strategic Directions Report at its meeting in 
June 2011 and Council adopted it at its meeting in July 2011.  
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The Strategic Directions Report has been forwarded to the Minister for Planning to seek 
endorsement.  
 
The Strategic Direction Report includes an action plan of Development Plan Amendments 
and Strategic Land Use Projects over the next 5 years that will ensure the Council’s 
Development Plan and Planning Policies meet the long term economic, social and 
environmental requirements of its community, as well as meeting the community’s 
aspirations for the future.  
 
The Council completed a Better Development Plan Conversion Development Plan 
Amendment (BDP DPA) of its Development Plan which was submitted to the Minister for 
approval in June 2010. Unfortunately the Minister had not approved the BDP DPA during 
2010/2011.  
 
The BDP DPA will ensure greater certainty, consistency and ease of use for the 
community and industry, and ultimately provide substantial time and resource savings for 
the Council. 
 

 
Wellington East Marina Development 

 

BUILDING FIRE SAFETY COMMITTEE (BFSC) 
 
The BFSC met three times during 2010/2011. At the start of 2010/2011, the BFSC has 10 
items to be resolved on its agenda. By the end of the financial year there were still four 
items to be resolved, two of those were considered minor. This has been a considerable 
achievement over the last few years where in 2009/2010 there were over 24 outstanding 
matters. Council’s Senior Building Officer, Dave Vandborg, has spent considerable time 
facilitating the finalisation of the majority of items on behalf of the BFSC.  

 
The focus of the BFSC is to ensure that buildings are adequately protected against fire 
and where buildings have been identified as high risk, the buildings will be high on the 
priority for fire safety inspections.  
 



 
The Coorong District Council 

‘Creating a Better Future with Pride’ 
 

 

Annual Report 2010/2011    38 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM 
 

Council’s activities to support and encourage Economic Development and Tourism ensure 
Council meets the following Strategic Goal. 
 

2.1 Goal – To attract new and support existing economic, industrial and commercial 
development opportunities to ensure the ongoing prosperity of the Coorong District 
Council. 

 

The Council has undertaken four main activities in 2010/2011 in the Economic 
development and Tourism area, they include commencing a Tourism and Economic 
Development Plan, conducting a major review and audit of Tourism Signage, reviewing its 
alignment with regard to tourism regions and investment and continuing to progress the 
establishment of the proposed Tailem Bend Motorsport Park. 
 
TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
In November 2010, the Coorong District Council engaged URPS, an urban and regional 
planning firm, along with economic planning and analysis firm SGS (Spiller Gibbons Swan) 
to develop a Tourism and Economic Development Plan. The aim of the Plan is to provide a 
direction that will assist to diversify the local economy, enhance tourism development 
opportunities, build resilience in the local economy and community and generally assist in 
building confidence and prosperity throughout the district to ensure a sustainable future. 
The Tourism and Economic Development Plan is being funded through the Federal 
Government’s Strengthening Basin Communities Program. 
 
The economy and social fabric of the local communities of the Coorong District Council 
has long been reliant on its environment and water availability in the Lower Lakes and 
River Murray system. With the predicted effects of climate change this reliance on water 
needs to be addressed and new economic and tourism development opportunities 
encouraged. 
 
The Tourism and Economic Development Plan will provide for a way forward to encourage 
new economic and development opportunities and meet the challenges of climate change 
for the community.  
 
Extensive community and stakeholder consultation has been undertaken during 
2010/2011 and it is expected that the Plan will be completed and adopted by Council in 
November 2011. 
 
TOURISM SIGNAGE 
 
The Council considered a report on Tourism Signage at its meeting held in February 2011. 
The report provided a summary of the relevant recommendations and investigations 
contained in both the Murraylands Tourist and Services Road Signage Audit Report 2007 
(MTSRSA) and the Southern Australian Touring Route Inc Signage Audit Final Report 
2007 (SATRSA). Furthermore, the South Australian Tourism Commission (SATC) Road 
Sign Guidelines were considered. The report also provided an overview of the business 
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signage requirements in Councils Development Plan as well as moveable signage 
requirements as set out in Councils By Laws. 
 
As a result of this report Council resolved the following: 
 

• To adopt the South Australia Tourism Commission (SATC) Road Sign Guidelines – 
Guide to visitor and services road signs in South Australia, 2006, as Councils key 
tourism and services road signage policy and procedures document, in addition to 
relevant Australian Standards. 

• To adopt a Sign Posting – Business Finger Post Signs Policy. 
• To adopt a Hierarchy of Signage Policy to be used as a guide (in combination with 

the SATC Road Sign Guidelines), the Development Act 1993, relevant Australian 
Standards and other Council Policies and procedures to control signage on roads, 
road reserves and on footpaths.  

• To include a provision of $30,000 in the 2011/2012 Budget to implement the 
maintenance and replacement of signage as identified under the heading, Individual 
Signs Recommendations and Cost Estimates in the Murraylands Tourist and 
Services Road Signage Audit 2007. 

• To liaise with the Department of Transport, Energy and Infrastructure with an aim to 
consolidate and improve gateway signage for Tailem Bend, Coonalpyn, Tintinara 
and Meningie. 

• To explore the creation of individual branding and slogans for each township as part 
of the Tourism and Economic Development Plan 2011-2015. 

• Prepare a Media release to be distributed to all local media outlets to inform the 
community of Council’s resolutions and policies pertaining to tourist and business 
signage. 

• Include the issue of assessing the suitability of the Advertisement provisions and 
Signage Design Guidelines in Council’s Development Plan in the Strategic 
Directions Report as part of the review of Council’s Development Plan.  

 
All of the above were undertaken in 2010/2011. 
 
TOURISM REGIONS AND INVESTMENT 
 
The Council has been reviewing its investment in Tourism since March 2010, furthermore 
SATC have made significant changes to its regional tourism support. 
 
The Council considered several reports regarding tourism during 2011 and as a result 
Council decided in 2010/2011 to: 

• Continue to support Limestone Coast Tourism at a reduced amount of $10,000. The 
Council had been with Limestone Coast Tourism for several years and it was 
determined that it should continue its link with this region. 

• Align itself to the Murraylands Tourism and support the initiative of the RDA 
Murraylands Riverland of creating a new Tourism Body in the Murraylands, the 
Murraylands Tourism Partnership (MTP). The Council is committed to invest 
$20,000 to this new body. The MTP aims to bring together a range of tourism 
bodies in the Murraylands, the 5 Local Governments in the Murraylands and the 
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RDA. Council’s Deputy Chief Executive Officer is Council’s representative on the 
MTP. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL & COMMUNITY HEALTH 
 
The Environmental & Community Health services provided by the Coorong District Council 
include Food Safety Inspections, Waste Control System assessment and compliance, 
Mosquito and European Wasp Control and Immunisation programs. 
 
The provision of these services ensure Council meets the following Strategic Goals: 
 

3.2 Goal – Enhancing the quality of life of the community by encouraging health, well being 
and safety. 

1.2 Goal – To ensure the long term economic, social and environmentally sustainable future 
of its community, as well as meeting the community’s aspirations. 

 
The Council was awarded a Certificate of Excellence through the Public and 
Environmental Health Council Local Government Awards and was shortlisted by the Public 
and Environmental Health Council for their Regional Council of the Year Award. The 
Council has received a Certificate of Excellence for the past 3 years. 
 
FOOD SAFETY  
 
Council provides an extensive and appropriate level of inspections as well as community 
education initiatives to ensure adequate food safety within the Council district. 
 
A summary of the Council’s Food Safety activities for 2010/2011 are: 
 

• There are 109 registered food businesses under the Council’s jurisdiction; during 
this reporting period 76 routine inspections were conducted. These routine 
inspections resulted in 13 subsequent follow up inspections to confirm compliance 
with issues raised at the initial inspection. 

• Of the 13 follow up inspections, eight businesses were sent letters advising them to 
undertake a particular course of action to resolve matters of importance that were 
discovered during the routine inspections. The other five follow up inspections were 
for minor compliance issues, which were easily resolved. 

• Council conducted premise inspections for two alleged food complaints. The two 
complaints were of a non-serious nature and were able to be quickly resolved by 
the proprietors.  

 
The Council also takes a proactive approach to food handler training and community 
education. The promotion of good food hygiene principles to food handlers is an ongoing 
service as many food businesses have a regular turnover of staff. To help keep this 
message current and in the minds of the businesses and the community, Council 
organises regular training sessions.   
 
During this reporting period, two new interactive format Food Handling and Safety Training 
Courses were organised for the food businesses and community organisations located 
within the district. The two courses were organised by Council, and presented by Kerrie 
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TAFE SA Lecturer Kerrie McCarthy, facilitating the food handling course in Meningie. 
Images of food items that attendees had to rank in order of the items potentially 

hazardous nature. 

McCarthy from TAFE SA, Mount Gambier. The use of an accredited training organisation 
provides the attendees with a recognised certificate of achievement that assists business 
owners in providing relevant professional development to their staff. This also improves 
the employability of the attendee should they change organisations.  
 
The two courses were held in different rural townships and attracted 26 people in all, with 
12 attending the first course in February 2011 at Meningie and 14 attending the second 
course in May 2011 at Tailem Bend with all attendees being awarded their certificates. 
 
The number of community and business organisations encouraging their staff to attend the 
training courses supports the Coorong District Council’s strategy of promoting Food Safety 
and Hygiene, highlighting the need for the continuing education of food handlers within our 
community.  
 
The overall success of the Coorong District Council’s community education programs to 
promote all aspects of food safety is borne out by the number of people attending the 
structured training events and the small number of food complaints received by the 
Council.  
 
Council takes every opportunity available to promote its food hygiene and food safety 
programs including talks at the local schools during Dog Handling & Community Hygiene 
Awareness days and Special Event Days such as “Tinty Under the Stars” and the 
Meningie Volunteer day and other events. Council also includes regular food safety and 
hygiene related articles in its periodic community newsletter sent to all households in the 
district. 
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WASTE CONTROL SYSTEMS 
 
Council has continued the systematic pumping out of residential properties with septic 
tanks that are connected to Council’s Community Wastewater Management Schemes 
(CWMS). The pump out program is undertaken over a four year cycle with the first full 
cycle being completed in 2009. The systematic pumping of septic tanks assists Council to 
maintain the CWMS infrastructure to a manageable level and extend the longevity of each 
of the schemes, as well as comply with the Public and Environmental Health Act Waste 
Control Regulations.  
 
Council has four towns that have CWMS schemes; Tailem Bend, Meningie, Tintinara and 
Wellington East. During this reporting period, the three new Wastewater Treatment Plants 
at Tailem Bend, Tintinara and Meningie were either under construction or undergoing 
commissioning and testing and therefore not in the care and control of Council. 
 
Council approved 38 new Waste Control System applications in 2010/2011. Of these 
applications, 35 were for septic tanks including 12 alterations to an existing system and 23 
new systems: 19 of the septic tanks were connected to a CWMS and 15 had on site 
soakage systems. There were 3 new aerobic waste control systems.  
 

 
 
 
 

 

Examples of underfloor plumbing, septic tank installation and soakage trench 
construction that are inspected by Council officers. 
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MOSQUITOES, BEES AND RODENT CONTROL 
 
The Mosquito and Plant Research Laboratory at the University of South Australia (UniSA) 
has provided mosquito surveillance and spot control services for the Coorong District 
Council along with five other local councils along the River Murray in South Australia, from 
September 2010 to June 30th 2011. This was the twelfth consecutive year of this valuable 
service and the first year where a winter surveillance program has been active over the 
winter months.  
 
During this season a total of 79,058 adult mosquitoes were collected from 30 regular 
monitoring sites, across the six Councils providing information about the diversity and 
abundance of mosquitoes along the River. This catch size represents an increase of just 
over 10 times (or 1,000 % increase) of the total catch on the previous year resulting in this 
being the highest seasonal catch of the twelve years of surveillance. The catch is 145% of 
the next highest annual catch. This pattern was uniform amongst the river councils with all 
councils recording an increase in mosquito activity.  
 
The increase in the overall number of mosquitoes caught along the River Murray during 
the season corresponded to the increase in the notification of arboviral disease in SA 
(1,148 cases of Ross River virus infection [RRV], 123 Barmah Forest virus [BFV]), 
compared with the previous year (375 RRV cases and 36 BFV cases in 2009-10). 
Unfortunately, this year saw two confirmed cases of Murray Valley Encephalitis reported in 
the Riverland.  
 
The Coorong District Council area recorded a considerable increase in mosquito numbers, 
up from 1,016 in 2009/2010 to 2,884 this season from the five traps over eleven trips. As a 
result of the increased activity, there was a corresponding increase in Arbovirus reports, 
with cases 32 of Ross River Virus and 8 cases of Barmah Forest Virus was reported in our 
district compared to 1 case of Ross River Virus last year.  
 
The winter surveillance program has identified larvae hotspots at the Waltowa Swamp, the 
wetlands adjacent to the Meningie Area School, and along the roadside verge of the 
Princes Highway flanking the Meningie Golf Course. UniSA and Council have worked 
together to monitor and treat the affected areas with the appropriate chemicals (mosquito 
growth inhibitors). 
 
Bee swarms in public locations have been another area of Public Health concern and the 
change in weather has seen a significant increase in the number of hives that required 
attention from pest control contractors. It appears that the increased number of swarms 
will not abate during the coming spring and summer period.  
 
This year has seen an increase in rodent control measures due to the number of reports of 
mice numbers in Council’s smaller townships and settlement areas. Taking a proactive 
approach and providing information and assisting with baiting has resulted in fewer 
complaints being registered with Council during this reporting period.   
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IMMUNISATION 
 
The school based immunisation program was once again implemented successfully. 
Council conducted 9 school based clinics in 2010/2011 as well as 3 internal influenza 
workplace clinics. These clinics resulted in 221 school based vaccinations and 31 adults 
receiving the influenza vaccine. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMS 
 
The Coorong District Council has a proud record of achievements in the environmental 
field. The excellent work of Council’s Local Action Plan staff and Committee is a central 
factor in achieving this record. Council has also focused on its organisational 
environmental initiatives through the Sustainable Coorong Action Plan. The work in these 
two areas ensures Council meets the following Strategic Goals. 
 

1.2 Goal – To ensure the long term economic, social and environmentally sustainable future 
of its community, as well as meeting the community’s aspirations. 

1.3 Goal – To responsibly manage the natural environment to ensure its sustainability and 
to implement natural resource management principles. 

 

LOCAL ACTION PLAN 
 
The Coorong Local Action Plan (LAP) Committee has continued its on ground works 
program and LAP Officers have maintained their pro-active role in the delivery of 
innovative projects. The LAP Officers are employed by Council and are funded through 
external funding and a Council contribution.  
 
The Local Action Plan Officers assist landowners with a variety of initiatives and funding 
including stabilising sandhills and blowouts, clay spreading, lake shore erosion control, 
fencing remnant vegetation and wetlands, revegetation and planting windbreaks, 
establishment of farm forestry as well as providing information to the community regarding 
the local action plan initiatives.  
 
In November 2010 Council was successful in obtaining Federal Government funding 
through the Strengthening Basin Communities (SBC) Program to undertake a review of 
the LAP and to create a new LAP.  
 
Local Action Plan Review Project 
 
The Coorong District Local Action Plan (LAP) has been operating since 1997. 
 
Over this time, the Coorong District LAP has attracted approximately $17 million in 
external funding and has undertaken approximately 150,000 ha of on-ground works which 
has included incentives for perennial pastures, planting windbreaks, revegetation, farm 
forestry, clay spreading, fodder shrubs and stabilising sand drifts. 
 
To ensure that this success continues for years to come the current plan is being reviewed 
and renewed. The aim of the review is to update current issues and actions, while 
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broadening the program to include a range of new emerging issues such as water security, 
climate change and weeds as identified by staff and the Coorong District community. 
 
The LAP Review Project commenced in 2010/2011 and will be completed in 2011/2012. 
During 2010/2011 Council engaged Faith Cook (EcoProTem) to assist with the review 
project. A discussion paper has been completed and a thorough program of community 
and agency consultation has commenced.  
 
The Coorong District LAP is a community plan with issues, priorities and actions 
established by members of the community. There will be two main stages of community 
consultation to ensure that we involve the widest range of community members as early as 
possible in the process. Community ownership of the plan is essential for it to be 
successful. 
 
Public consultation meetings have been held at; 
 
Coomandook Ag Bureau, Meningie Lakes Hub, Salt Creek, Netherton, Coorong District 
Council, Tintinara, Coonalpyn, Ngarrindjeri Regional Authority, Mallee Coorong NRM 
Group, SE Northern NRM Group, with South East DENR and NRM Staff, and with SAMDB 
DENR and NRM Staff.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Action Plan Review Community Consultation, Coonalpyn 

 
The issues to come out of the meetings to date have been; 

• The price of mains water. 
• Weeds, particularly on roadsides. 
• The price on carbon, particularly costs and opportunities. 
• Pests such as snails, mice and locust. 
• Alternative fertilisers. 
• Lack of local Agricultural information previously available from PIRSA etc. 

 
CARING FOR OUR COUNTRY PROJECT – COORONG AND TATIARA DISTRICT COUNCILS 
 
In 2009/2010, Council made a successful application to the Federal Government Caring 
for our Country funding for the Implementation of the Coorong and Tatiara Local Action 
Plans joint on ground works project, the funding totals $2,159,200 over the 4 years. The 
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Caring for our Country project is being undertaken collaboratively between Coorong 
District Council, the Tatiara District Council, the Coorong District LAP Committee and the 
recently formed Tatiara District LAP Committee.  
 
This project maintains the momentum for on ground change among landholders in the 
Coorong District, achieved through the LAP on-ground works program. It will also expand 
the LAP program throughout the Tatiara District Council area and enhance partnerships 
between the community, government, statutory bodies, schools, local government, 
industry, Indigenous groups and individuals. 
  
On-ground works programs will address a range of land management issues including 
wind erosion, dryland salinity, native vegetation and wetland decline. Landholder 
incentives for a total of about 55,000 hectares of works and 800kms of fencing over 4 
years will be available subject to funding guidelines. 
 
In 2010/2011, interest has come from across the area with approximately 10,142 hectares 
of on-ground works and 134 kilometres of fencing planned for 2011 by 175 landholders. 
The Coorong Tatiara LAP team are extremely pleased with the response they have had to 
this project for 2011, and look forward to working with all of the landholders involved.  
The table below is a summary of the projects we are assisting landholders with. 
 

ON GROUND WORKS TOTAL 
HECTARES 

TOTAL KM 
FENCING 

Sandhill Stabilisation 269 28 
Fodder Shrubs 10 1.5 
Perennial pasture establishment 7346 2 
Salt tolerant pasture establishment 154  
Clay Spreading 1465 7 
Fencing Remnant Vegetation 691 66 
Revegetation – Block 5 0.5 
Revegetation – Windbreak 30 16 
Protecting Wetlands 172 13 
Total 10,142 

hectares 
134 kilometres 
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The Project has also has a significant awareness raising component involving working with 
groups, schools, volunteers and indigenous organisations. Actions include: 

• LAP newsletters are produced and sent to 1,630 landholders by mail. Newsletters 
are also available on Council websites and from counter displays in Council 
Offices. 

• Displays at Keith, Mundulla, Coonalpyn Shows and at the Karoonda Farm Fair. 
• On-ground works projects were carried out in 9 of the area’s 12 schools. 
• 24 Community groups were supported, including providing technical advice, 

funding advice, assistance with grant applications, resources, venue hire, 
printing, etc. 

• Partnership opportunities sought for joint displays, workshops, field days, 
publication with other NRM Organisations. 

• Workshops/field days held to aid farmer adoption of NRM practices include: 
-  Fodder shrubs field day at Coomandook  
-  Carbon field day, Monarto  
-  Carbon forum, Murray Bridge  
-  Pastures After Drainage Field-day, Mt Charles 
-  Silverleaf Nightshade Workshop, Keith and Coomandook 
-  Fox baiting for Mallee Fowl Protection Workshop, Mt Boothby  
-  Bridal Creeper workshop, Meningie and Coonalpyn 
-  No Till Bill, Bordertown  
-  Soil Carbon Day, Willalooka. 

• 7 indigenous on-ground works projects. 
• Relocation of a poly tunnel from Council’s Bedford aquaculture site near Cooke 

plains to Orana at Meningie for growing an additional 50,000 plants for the Lakes 
Bioremediation Project 

 
 
 

Clay spreading near Tintinara 



 
The Coorong District Council 

‘Creating a Better Future with Pride’ 
 

 

Annual Report 2010/2011    48 

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN MURRAY DARLING BASIN NATURAL RESOURCE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

FUNDING 
 
In 2010/2011, the Council received $215,000 from the SAMDB NRM Board to carry out 
Land ($103,750), Biodiversity ($60,000) and Community Engagement ($50,000) projects 
in the SAMDB part of the Council area. 
 

ON GROUND WORKS TOTAL HECTARES TOTAL KM FENCING 

Sandhill Stabilisation 268 19.7 
Fodder Shrubs 16 3.7 
Perennial pasture establishment 2,340 18.8 
Salt tolerant pasture 
establishment 

40 0 

Clay Spreading 203 2.8 
Fencing Remnant Vegetation  992 20.75 
Revegetation – Block 23 16.26 
Revegetation – Windbreak 20 16.4 
Protecting Wetlands 48 4.9 
Total 3,950 hectares 103.1 kilometres 

 
In 2010/2011 Council were informed that it will receive an additional $195,000 in funding 
through the SA MDB NRM Caring for our Country program in 2011/2012. This included 
$85,000 for Land Management projects, $60,000 for Biodiversity projects and $50,000 for 
community engagement. 
 
BIOREMEDIATION PROGRAM 
 
The Coorong LAP has been involved in the Revegetation Program for the Coorong Lower 
Lakes Murray Mouth (CLLMM) Long Term Plan. As part of this involvement Council has 
received $90,000 in funding during 2010/2011 to employ a Revegetation Coordinator for 
the Coorong District Council side of the Lower Lakes. 
 
Specifically, this program will see the delivery of revegetation activities and associated 
works that contribute directly to the implementation of the CLLMM Long Term Plan 
Revegetation Strategy to reduce ecological threats, reinstate native habitat, promote 
ecosystem resilience, and enhance the ecological values of the region.  
 
The Goolwa to Wellington LAP and Coorong LAP work co-operatively with other 
organisations delivering elements of the CLLMM Long Term Plan Revegetation Strategy 
through the ‘Project Co-ordination Committee’ chaired and managed by the Department 
for Environment and Natural Resources (DENR). In 2010/2011 over 220,000 plants were 
grown by the Community Nurseries around the Lakes and planted with the aid of 
community groups. 
 
Following an announcement by the Hon Tony Burke (Minister for Sustainability, 
Environment, Water, Population and Communities) on May 18th 2011, at Clayton, funding 
has been confirmed to keep the Community Revegetation Project around the Lakes and 
Coorong for up to another 5 years, including the employment of the Revegetation 
Coordinator at Meningie. 
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As part of the projects a poly tunnel from Council’s Bedford aquaculture site near Cooke 
plains was relocated to Orana at Meningie for growing an additional 50,000 plants for the 
Lakes Bioremediation Project. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
FODDER SHRUB PROGRAM 
 
The Council was successful in obtaining Federal Government funding through the 
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry’s Caring for our Country Program for a 
project titled Securing Soils Under Productive Forage Shrub Systems. Council has been 
successful in obtaining $241,000 for this project to continue for a further two years. 
 
This is a joint Program with South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) 
and Cooperative Research Centre for Future Farming Industries and the funding allows 
the employment of a fulltime Project Officer based at SARDI at the Waite Campus in 
Adelaide. 
 
The LAP team has had $272,000 of funding over the last 3 years to establish and conduct 
grazing trials on saltbush in the Coomandook Yumali and on several established fodder 
shrub sites at Peake/Coomandook area, and this project will lead to wider adoption of a 
range of fodder shrubs with an increased emphasis on inter row pasture species. 
 
A Local Landholder Steering Committee has been established to aid the delivery of the 
project. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Council Staff rebuilding the old Bedford 
Poly Tunnel at Orana in Meningie 

 

Over 50,000 plants growing for the CLLMM 
Community Revegetation project 
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SUSTAINABLE COORONG ACTION PLAN 
 
In 2009, Council adopted its Sustainable Coorong Action Plan. A major project that came 
out of this Plan is to determine Council’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions and determine 
Councils Carbon Footprint. 
 
In 2010/2011, the Council engaged ThinkClimate Consulting to deliver a greenhouse gas 
assessment and to provide preliminary recommendations for emissions reductions across 
Council operations. This assessment included vehicles, street lighting, buildings, pumping, 
landfill operations, and operations of Community Wastewater Management Schemes 
(CWMSs, or waste water treatment plants).  
 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Assessment 
 
The assessment has estimated that Council is responsible for 4,266 tCO2-e. This figure 
falls far short of the compulsory reporting threshold for NGERS of 87,500 tCO2-e for a 
controlling corporation, or 25,000 tCO2-e for a single facility.  
 
The single largest source of emissions is fugitive emissions from landfills with this source 
being responsible for 2,812 tCO2-e or 66% of the total profile. The second largest source 
of emissions is bulk purchased diesel, for the operation of on and off-road plant and 
equipment, contributing 813 tCO2-e (19% of total profile). Managing emissions from this 
source may require a review of plant and equipment such as trucks to determine whether 
upgrades to more efficient equipment can be staged. Passenger vehicles and small plant 
contribute 176 tCO2-e, or 4% of the total profile. Emissions from electricity purchased for 
buildings contribute 145 tCO2-e, 3% of the total profile. Electricity purchased for street 
lighting makes up 162 tCO2-e or 4% of the total profile. This is a very low proportion of 
contribution compared to many local governments, where street lighting can form 40% of 
the total profile or more. Emissions from electricity in the operation of pumping (79 tCO2-e, 
2%), and fugitive emissions from CWMSs (79 tCO2-e, 2%) are the remaining contributors 
to Council’s emission profile.  
 
Ben Heard from ThinkClimate provided training for the use of, and handing over, the 
Microsoft Excel spreadsheet used to gather Council’s information with regard to 
greenhouse gas emission measurements. This will enable Council to continue to collect 
the relevant data and to report and monitor its greenhouse gas emissions into the future. 

 
The next step is to use the greenhouse gas emission assessment to estimate Council’s 
carbon footprint and commence the Carbon Neutral Strategy (a project identified in 
Council’s 2011/2012 Annual Business Plan). 
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GENERAL INSPECTORIAL SERVICES 
 
Council’s General Inspector undertakes activities and responsibilities with regard to Animal 
Management, Fire Prevention and compliance with the Local Government Act and 
Councils By Laws. These activities ensure Council meets the following Strategic Goals. 
 

3.3 Goal – Enhancing the quality of life of the community by encouraging health, well being 
and safety. 

1.4 Goal – To ensure the long term economic, social and environmentally sustainable future 
of its community, as well as meeting the community’s aspirations. 

1.5 Goal – To responsibly manage the natural environment to ensure its sustainability and 
to implement natural resource management principles. 

 
ANIMAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Council had 2036 dogs registered in 2010/2011 which is slightly less than the 2054 
registered in 2009/2010. There were 2087 dogs registered in 2008/2009. The following 
activities have occurred during 2010/2011 with regard to Animal Management: 
 

• 57 transfer/ replacement tags were issued 
• Total income derived from dog registrations was $37,019.00 
• 153 Wandering Dog complaints were attended to. Of these 66 dogs were returned 

to the owner without expiation. The remaining 87 dogs were impounded. Of the 
impounded dogs; 27 were claimed by the owner, 17 were euthanised and 43 found 
a new home. 

• 10 barking dog complaints were attended to. 
• 1 dog attack on a person was reported and attended to. 
• 3 dog attacks on another dog were reported and attended to. 
• 1 dog attack on stock was reported and attended to. 
• 3 RSPCA issues were attended to. 
• 16 incidents of wandering stock were attended to. 

 
The number of wandering dog complaints and number of dogs impounded during 
2010/2011 was unprecedented. The number of dogs impounded in 2010/2011 was a 40% 
increase compared to 2009/2010 when only 62 dogs were impounded.  
 
Council’s General Inspector has developed a strong network of relevant organisations in 
order to assist finding homes for lost dogs. This is evident by 72% of unclaimed dogs 
finding a new home during 2010/2011. In 2009/2010, 74% of unclaimed dogs found a new 
home. 
 
Council conducted its annual door knock across the district to identify any dogs that were 
not registered in the district. This is an extremely effective initiative to ensure all dogs in 
the district are registered. 
 
The Dog Handling & Community Hygiene Awareness Program was conducted at several 
schools in the district to educate children on how to remain healthy and safe around pets, 
how to look after their pets and how to behave around strange dogs.  
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In October 2010, Council adopted its Animal Management Plan 2010-2015. The Animal 
Management Plan 2010-2015 will guide animal management by the Coorong District 
Council over the next 5 years. The plan identifies strategies and actions to implement the 
missions, aims and objectives for animal management, and relates these back to the wider 
policy context. It is Council’s intent to further improve animal management in the district 
over the next 5 years building on from the work achieved over the previous 5 year period 
under Council’s inaugural Animal Management Plan 2005-2010.  
 
FIRE PREVENTION  
 
Council’s General Inspector was extremely busy during the fire danger season. During the 
period: 
 

• 92 Section 105F notices were issued to reduce fuel loads on properties prior to the 
onset of the fire danger season (October/ November each year). 

• 78 Schedule 9 permits were issued by Council to burn during the fire danger 
season (February 15 and March 31.) 

 
Council continued its emphasis on fire prevention by undertaking fuel reduction projects 
that were carried out at Narrung, Coonalpyn, Culburra, Tintinara, Ki Ki, Tailem Bend and 
Meningie. 
 
There have been substantial changes to the governance of fire prevention that has been 
required due to changes to the Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005. Fire Prevention is 
to be overseen by Bushfire Management Committee’s (BMC) that have been set up on a 
regional basis. The BMC’s replace the previous requirement for Councils to have District 
Fire Prevention Committees. 
 
The functions of the BMC in accordance with Section 72B of the Fire and Emergency 
Services Act 2005 are: 
 
(1) A bushfire management committee has the following functions: 
 

(a) to advise the State Bushfire Coordination Committee on bushfire prevention in its 
area; 

(b) to promote the coordination of policies, practices and strategies relating to bushfire 
management activities within its area; 

(c)  to prepare, and to keep under review, a Bushfire Management Area Plan for its 
area, and to ensure that this plan is consistent with the State Bushfire Management 
Plan; 

(d) to oversee the implementation of its Bushfire Management Area Plan and to report 
to the State Bushfire Coordination Committee or, if it thinks fit, to the Minister, on 
any failure or delay in relation to the implementation of the plan; 

(e) to prepare, or initiate the development of, other plans, policies, practices or 
strategies to promote effective bushfire management within its area; 

(f)  to convene local or regional forums to discuss issues associated with bushfire 
management within its area, and to work with local communities to promote and 
improve effective bushfire management; 
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(g) at the request of the Minister or the State Bushfire Coordination Committee, or on 
its own initiative, to provide a report on any matter relevant to bushfire management 
within its area; 

(h) to carry out any other function assigned to the bushfire management committee 
under this or any other Act, by the Minister or by the State Bushfire Coordination 
Committee.  

 
BMC’s are subject to the control and direction of the State Bushfire Coordination 
Committee in the performance of their functions. The key activity for BMC’s is the 
preparation and implementation of a Bushfire Management Area Plan (BMAP). This plan 
will act as a tool for coordination of State and local level bushfire policy and management 
arrangements. 
 
The Coorong District Council has maintained its Section 41 Bushfire Prevention 
Committee, despite it losing its legislative role, this has been identified as a very positive 
initiative to ensure the engagement between the local CFS Brigades and Council and adds 
value to Council’s bushfire prevention role and activities. 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT      
 
During 2010/2011 the following activities occurred: 
 

• 10 abandoned vehicles were towed in by Council. 
• 18 illegal waste/litter problems were cleaned up by Council. This consisted mainly 

of household rubbish, tyres and old mattresses. 
 
Council maintains a proactive and professional approach to all general inspectorial 
activities. 2010/2011 was a particularly busy period due to the unprecedented number of 
dogs being impounded, the busy fire danger season and the fuel reduction projects 
undertaken. The General Inspector also created a register of all A-Frame signs located on 
Council land during 2010/2011. 
 
 
 
TIMOTHY TOL 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
DIRECTOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
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CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY 
 

THE CORPORATE & COMMUNITY DEPARTMENT 
 
Whilst an Annual Report is prepared to meet legislative requirements, it is also a good 
opportunity to reflect upon and report our performance over the last 12 months. I am proud 
to present this report as it highlights our departmental achievements for the past year and 
recognises the efforts of a highly responsive, cooperative and professional team of 
employees. 

 
As a result of an organisational review early in the financial year, the Corporate Services 
Department became Corporate & Community, with the following key functional areas: 
 

• Financial management 
• Corporate support 
• Organisational development 
• Community services/development 

 
The department is a service orientated unit which whilst encompassing the above 
business units, also includes this extensive range of activities: 
 

• Customer Services 
• Records Management 
• Human Resource Management, including Payroll 
• Occupational Health and Safety & Risk Management matters 
• Maintenance and upgrade of Council’s information technology & communications 

systems 
• Insurance requirements for Council (property, public liability, workers compensation, 

personal accident) 
• Maintenance of Council’s Voters’ Roll 
• Administration of Freedom of Information requests and legislative requirements 
• Youth Services 
• Provision of Library Services 
• Provision of public relations/community information (community engagement) 
• Support, advocacy and advice for community events 
• Australia Day celebrations 
• Volunteer support & management 
• Contractor Management 
• Audit Committee administrative support 
• Management of Council’s community funding streams 

 
The Corporate & Community Department have continued the era of change reflected in 
the 2009/10 Annual Report, with particular focuses on the ongoing development of the 
Customer Service Centre. With the introduction of the new ‘Community’ portfolio to the 
Department, the opportunity to introduce new engagement initiatives and commence 
positive advocacy and support of Council’s community groups has also been a key activity, 
particularly in the second half of the financial year. 
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The activities of the Corporate & Community Department broadly fall under one of Council’s 
Strategic Objectives;  

Governance – Leadership 

 
 

FINANCE 
 
Council’s Finance function ensures Council can meet the following Strategic Goal. 
 

4.4 Goal – To have a secure and adequate revenue base to ensure an equitable level of 
 services to meet the expectations of the Council 
4.5 Goal - to ensure the Council’s finances are managed to maintain financial sustainability. 
4.6 Goal - to manage the business of Council through the responsible and efficient 
 administration of finances to provide financial stability and the ongoing appropriate 
 delivery of services for the community. 

 
Stewardship and accountability underpinned the finance team’s focus for 2010/2011. A 
significant amount of the finance team resources were devoted to advancing the Councils 
asset management with a particular emphasis on road infrastructure assets.  
 
In 2005 a review of all Local Government Councils in South Australia highlighted 
considerable financial sustainability issues with a number of Councils. The review outlined 
a number of recommendations for Council’s to adopt and implement, further strengthened 
by alterations to the Local Government Act.  
 
The Coorong District Council in its pursuit of achieving financial sustainability in 2010/2011 
undertook significant reviews of not only road infrastructure assets but also building and 
structure assets. The comprehensive results have provided Council with a good overview 
of the condition of the assets in these categories. Following the review it became evident 
that Council’s road assets were in reasonable shape and the data collected will now 
provide a robust guide for future expenditure requirements, on both maintenance and 
capital works.  
 
To compliment this work, asset revaluations were undertaken for buildings, structures and 
roads infrastructure assets. The revaluations highlighted a significant net increase in asset 
valuations totalling $62.3m, of which $60.8m can be attributed to roads infrastructure 
assets. Council is committed to progress its asset management and further works have 
been targeted for 2011/2012.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
The Coorong District Council 

‘Creating a Better Future with Pride’ 
 

 

Annual Report 2010/2011    56 

 

-

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

2011 2010

OPERATING REVENUE $'000
Investment income

Other income

Reimbursements

Grants, subsidies and
contributions

User charges

Statutory charges

Rates

 
Operating Income All Sources 

 

The above figure details a breakdown of Councils operating revenue. As in 2010 Councils 
largest source of income is via the collection of rates and receipt of grants. The Council 
resolved through its Annual Business Plan and Budget process in 2010/2011 that it would 
maintain the current level of services to the community. Council in consideration of this 
resolved to increase rates by a total of 5%, which consequently raised rates totalling $5.2 
Million. Council also was the fortunate recipient of grant funds in excess of $5.0 Million, 
this includes a prepayment of its 2011/2012 first quarter Grants Commission funding 
totalling $720,000. In relation to Councils other sources of income no significant changes 
were noted.  Council’s total revenue raised from all sources totalled $10.9 Million.   
 

-

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

2011 2010

Operating Expenditure $'000

Finance costs

Depreciation, amortisation &

impairment

Materials, contracts & other
expenses

Employee costs

 
Operating Expenditure 

 

The above figure details the operating expenses of Council. The most noticeable change 
in operating expenditure relates to depreciation increasing from $2.6m in 2010 to $3.0m in 
2011. As part of the comprehensive review of Councils building and structure assets the 
following was considered and analysed; total useful lives, residual values and most 
importantly the condition rating for these assets. Based on this methodology and analysis 
it became evident that Council’s assets were undervalued and as a consequence of this 
revaluation the depreciation has increased proportionally.  
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Employee costs increased by $300,000 in 2011 which can be attributed to the enterprise 
bargaining agreement wage increases, combined with the hiring of additional staff. In 
relation to Councils other sources of expenditure no significant changes were noted. Total 
operating expenditure equalled $10.4m. 

    

Target Financial Indicators 2008 2009 2010 2011 

Operating Surplus $997,000  $1,150,000  $330,000  $494,000 

Operating Surplus Ratio 23.0%  26%  7%  10% 

Net Financial Liabilities $-1,165,000 $-601,000 $1,513,000  $1,384,000  

Net Financial Liabilities Ratio -12% -6% 16% 13% 

Interest Cover Ratio -1.26% -0.73% 0.1%  0.4%  

Asset Sustainability Ratio 127% 125% 68% 51% 

Asset Consumption Ratio 84% 81% 71% 77% 

Target Financial Indicators 

 
Council monitors a number of key financial indicators as a measurement of performance. 
The above table details Councils results over the past 4 years. Those marked green are 
within target goals and those in red are outside the target measures. The operating surplus 
& operating surplus ratio for 2011 both had a slight improvement in result from 2010. 
Whilst these indicators are presently green; future factors such as the cessation of the 
prepayments of Grants Commission funding and the expected depreciation increases from 
the road infrastructure revaluations will ultimately impact on the net result in coming years.  
Presently however the positive results from these indicators demonstrates that Council is 
meeting the costs of its service provision to the community.     
 
During 2011 Council continued to consolidate its treasury management processes; and as 
a consequence Councils net financial liabilities and ratio have decreased. At the end of 
2011 Councils total borrowings totalled $382,000 of which $192,000 was held in fixed 
interest loans and $190,000 was held in variable loans. The interest cover ratio has 
increased slightly as a result of holding more variable loan amounts throughout the course 
of the year and as a consequence Council has paid more interest on loans in 2011.  
 
The Asset Sustainability Ratio has altered significantly in 2011. Council’s capital 
expenditure halved from the year prior, this combined with the significant increase in 
depreciation has dramatically affected the result of this ratio. In 2012 replacement and 
renewal of assets will become a greater focus, particularly now that Council has robust 
data and substantive information on what road assets are to be treated in a particular year.  
 
The Asset Consumption Ratio increased slightly in 2011 and is nearing the desired target 
level of 80%. The increase from last year is indicative of the asset revaluation results 
where road assets in particular where assessed as being in better condition than 
expected. 
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH, SAFETY & WELFARE 
 
Council’s Occupational Health, Safety & Welfare function ensures Council can meet the 
following Strategic Goal. 
 

4.9 Goal - to minimise Council’s exposure to risk and liability through the creation and 
 implementation of appropriate policies, procedures and actions. 

 
The Coorong District Council is a member of the Local Government Association (LGA), a 
body which was granted a self insurance licence by the State Government in 1986. The 
OHS&W Committee monitors progress on corrective actions to ensure they are effective 
and to demonstrate evaluation of these actions on an ongoing basis. Council’s Leadership 
Team also monitors progress on corrective actions to ensure they are completed and 
evaluated for effectiveness. The 2010/2011 year focused on adapting and adopting the 
new suite of policies and procedures known across the industry as “One System”. One 
System effectively replaces all Councils current OHS & W policies and procedures with 
more specific documents and processes to ensure compliance with WorkCover SA Code 
of Conduct for Self Insured Employers (PSSI). To this end, Council elected to participate in 
the “One System Implementation Program” (OSIP), a strategy funded by the Local 
Government Association Workers Compensation Scheme (LGAWCS). The scope of the 
program was to assist with the implementation of key aspects of ‘One System‘ into Council 
within a defined six week period. The program is designed to deliver a number of 
objectives, including: 
 

• Assist Councils to effectively implement One System to meet legislative and self 
insured standards. 

• Provision of operational models that other Councils can look to for direction. 
• Develop more specific supporting documentation that can be shared among all 

Councils and would otherwise be difficult to resource for development. 
• To demonstrate that the One System model framework can be implemented and to 

improve the model through continuous improvement. 
 
Council commenced the Program in late May 2011. A series of planning session were held 
with Council’s Leadership Team to carry out a gap analysis of Council’s current systems 
and identify areas to target during the program. It was agreed that Council would focus on: 
 

� Planning and Program Development – the development and implementation of an 
effective OHS & W and Injury Management Plan that promotes a positive safety 
culture. 

� Communication and Consultation – to provide a strategy for communicating and 
consulting with all levels of staff in the organisation on safety matters in a 
meaningful, easily understood, and communicative manner. 

� Hazard Management – to provide a system to identify core Council processes, 
substances and workplace activities that may pose a safety risk to employees, 
volunteers or contractors. 

 
At the conclusion of the Program a detailed report, OHS & W Injury Management Plan, 
and other documents were presented to Council’s Leadership Team. Continued support 
from the LGAWCS and additional administrative resources are ensuring that momentum 
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from the program continues and that OHS & W systems are continually being developed 
and improved.  
 
LOST TIME INJURIES (LTI) 
 
The LGA provides Council with monthly injury statistics and six-monthly performance 
reports. As shown below, Council achieved a reasonable result with 3 claims during 
2010/2011, equal to the previous year. However lost time injury days (i.e. the duration of 
the injury and subsequent recovery) have decreased quite dramatically.  
 
 

Year No. of 
Claims 

No. 
of 

LTIs 

LTI 
Days 

Frequency 
Rate 

Duration 
Rate 

Incident 
Rate 

5 
Day 
No. 

1 Year 
No. 

2005/06 2 1 2 7.7 2.0 1.5 0 0 
2006/07 7 2 10 15.6 5.0 3.1 1 0 
2007/08 1 0 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0 0 
2008/09 4 1 4 7.9 4.0 1.6 0 0 
2009/10 3 2 23 24.4 11.5 4.9 1 0 
2010/11 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Note: all data is derived from the June 2011 CATS (Claims Analysis Tracking System) statistics – 
each year is subject to development due to ongoing long-term claims. 

 
An analysis of the statistics continues the trend from 2009/2010, with muscular strains 
being the main cause of injury, which is a common theme across local government with a 
strong focus on OHS & W during 2010/2011, particularly with outside staff, employees are 
becoming more safety conscious and considerable training in hazard identification, risk 
assessment and manual handling had been rolled out across the organisation. 

 
Nature of Injury No in 

09/10 
No in 
10/11 

Sprains, strains of joints and 
adjacent muscles 

2 2 

Poisoning, toxic effects of 
substances 

  

Disorders of muscle, tendons & soft 
tissue 

  

Fall from height 1  
Penetrating wound  1 
Total 3 3 

 

Council again proved its commitment to the health and wellbeing of employees with the 
provision of additional health services, including skin cancer screening, hearing tests and 
immunisations for staff. 
 

VOLUNTEER MANAGEMENT 
 
Under the OHS & W Act 1986 and associated regulations, volunteers are deemed to be 
employees of Council. To ensure compliance with the legislation, volunteer OHS & W 
Inductions continued in 2010/2011, particularly with Tour Down Under volunteers, work 
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experience students, Pangarinda Arboretum volunteers, Coonalpyn Swimming Pool 
Committee and other individual volunteers carrying out work on Council properties.  
 
CONTRACTOR MANAGEMENT 
 
The development of Council’s Contractor Management Systems continued in 2010/2011. 
With the integration of the Approved Contractor Register with reporting mechanisms, a 
‘remote’ (off site) induction program, and an online application form on Council’s website, 
Council is continuously improving the manner in which contractors are engaged. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Council’s Risk Management function ensures Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goal. 
 

4.9 Goal - to minimise Council’s exposure to risk and liability through the creation and 
 implementation of appropriate policies, procedures and actions. 

 

Section 
Council 

Percentage 
Regional 
Average 

Local 
Government 

Average 
1. Risk management systems & frameworks 80.2% 70.6% 75.4% 
2. Business continuity & emergency 69.6% 66.0% 70.7% 
4. Managing committee, volunteers/community 
programs and grants. 

86.6% 80.1% 83.7% 

5. Contract management systems 83.3% 87.7% 89.0% 
6. Land/assets – General Asset Management 96.7% 84.0% 86.7% 
7. Land/Assets – Land use & operational 
framework 

85.7% 86.4% 88.5% 

8. Road management programmes & systems 95.2% 90.3% 91.3% 
9. Tree Management 62.9% 68.9% 74.0% 
Total 83.9% 80.5% 83.5% 

 
The results above show that Council’s risk management practices are above average in 
comparison with regional percentages. Last year’s risk review result was 87.4% compared 
to this year’s result of 83.9%. While these results are a decrease, the review process is 
dynamic, and questions/scoring is reviewed and updated each year. The 2010/2011 audit 
had a strong focus on tree management compared to previous years and accordingly, 
Councils may not be able to accurately compare their performance in the Review on a 
year by year basis.  

The issue of riverbank slumping and collapse continues to be closely monitored by Council 
with many fragile areas being isolated from the public. With assistance from the State 
Government and in conjunction with adjoining Councils, riverbank monitoring and 
geographical surveys are continuing to ensure that Council’s corporate and social 
responsibilities and obligations are being met.  
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 
 

Council’s Human Resource function ensures Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goal. 
 

4.8 Goal – to develop and promote Council as an ‘employer of choice’, facilitating the 
 attraction and retention of staff and promoting the principles of work life balance 
 for  employees. 

 
The challenges that The Coorong District Council faced during 2010/2011 was clearly the 
ability to recruit high level, technically skilled staff while competing against neighbouring 
councils and other industries such as mining. Prolonged recruitment campaigns became 
the standard, with Council recognising that getting the best possible candidate for the 
appropriate role was paramount. 
 
Recruitment campaigns focussed on: 
 

• More competitive remuneration  
• Family friendly working arrangements 
• Effective staff induction program 
• Access of enterprise agreement study clauses for the purposes of professional 

development. 
• Provision of growth opportunities by the promotion of suitable internal staff both on 

a permanent and acting capacity. 
• Reward employees who are high performers and value creators  
• Effective performance management 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT MANAGERS ASSOCIATION (LGMA) MANAGEMENT CHALLENGE 
 
The Coorong District Council nominated a team for the LGMA Management Challenge; 
this was Council’s inaugural team for the Management Challenge. The Management 
Challenge is a developmental program that is designed to deliver personal, team and 
organisational development.  

Council’s inaugural Management Challenge team was; Jim Quinn, Paul Duka, Desma 
Fraser, Richard Boscence, Graham Gates, and Derek Henderson, with Timothy Tol the 
Team Mentor. 

Participating in the Challenge was a worthwhile experience, which took all participants 
beyond their own boundaries and comfort zones. The team worked cohesively and gained 
an increased understanding of each member’s strengths and differing perspectives. 
Additionally, the opportunity to closely investigate barriers to attraction and retention of 
staff resulted in a detailed report and action plan which will assist in Council’s future 
workforce planning. 

Given the positive experience of the team and the personal and organisational 
development opportunity the Management Challenge brings, the Council will nominate 
teams in future Management Challenges. 
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TRAINING & WORK EXPERIENCE 
 
Council continued to support both work experience and Work for the Dole placements. 
 
During 2010/2011, a number of training sessions in a classroom environment have been 
undertaken, particularly 
 

� Business Writing Skills 
� OHS Committee Member Level 1 & 2 
� Employment Masterclass 
� TRIM Records Management 
� General Disposal Schedule Training 
� Strategic Elements of Rating Policy 
� Manual Handling 
� Risk Assessment Reporting 
� Asbestos Update Training 
� Annual Report Preparation 

 
EMPLOYEE REWARD & RECOGNITION PROGRAM 
 
Council adopted a new Employee Recognition – Service & Achievements Policy in 
2008/09 and annual recognition has become a feature at the end of year Staff and elected 
Member Christmas Function. Council has introduced an ‘inside’ and ‘outside’ employee of 
the year and this is a perpetual trophy displayed at the winner’s desk or depot. 
 
Since this award has been introduced, the following staff members have been the 
successful recipients: 
 

YEAR INSIDE OUTSIDE 
2009 Christine Hartmann Rick Schulz 
2010 Jim Quinn Kevin Lee 

 
In promoting itself as a local Employer of Choice, Council will continue to strive towards 
developing an attraction and retention program to promote the principles of work life 
balance for its employees. 
 
Council on an annual basis also recognises service at the intervals included in the above 
policy. Council and LGA Certificates and commemorative wine are presented and when 
appropriate; milestone celebrations are conducted for employees reaching significant 
service levels. 
 

MURRAYLANDS CAREERS EXPO 
 
The Murraylands Careers Expo was held on 3 June 2011 at the Murray Bridge 
Racecourse. Council’s significant display was ably staffed by Council employees from 
across the organisation who engaged many expo attendees, predominantly senior 
students. Despite blustery conditions, which in the afternoon posed a safety issue, the 
popularity of Council’s site was obvious with staff in attendance being kept extremely busy. 
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As with last year, Council conducted two competitions for school students, “How Many 
Jellybeans in the Jar” and “Find the Answers to the Quiz in the Display”. 
 
The winner of the first competition (for which 147 entries were submitted) was a TAFE 
student from Murray Bridge whose guess was a creditable 739 jellybeans, with the actual 
amount being 738.  
 
The joint winners of the second competition were two students from Murray Bridge High 
School. Both students answered 37 out of 39 questions in the quiz correctly. Council’s 
Human Services Coordinator attended the Murray Bridge High School on 7 July 2011 to 
make presentations to the winning students. 
 
 

  

The Coorong District Council stand at the Murraylands Careers Expo. 

 
HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT – STATISTICAL RESULTS 
 
It evident from the statistics below that attraction and retention initiatives have resulted in a 
more stable workforce. 
 

EMPLOYEE 
STATISTICS 

30 JUNE 
2011 

30 JUNE 
2010 

30 JUNE 2009 

Total Employees 78 77 79 
Full Time 
Equivalents 

59.9 57.6 57 

Total Males 49 47 49 
Total Females 29 30 30 
Employee 
Turnover 

9% 19% 12% 

Employee 
Absenteeism 
(hrs/employee) 

46.76 32.03 26.08 
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30 JUNE 2011 30 JUNE 2010 EMPLOYEES BY GENDER 

& EMPLOYMENT STATUS MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE 
Total employees 49 29 47 30 
Full time permanent 38 9 39 13 
Part time permanent 4 7 2 5 
Casual 6 13 8 12 
Trainees 1 0 0 0 

 
RECORDS MANAGEMENT 
 

Councils Record’s Management function ensures Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goal. 
 

4.7 Goal - an Information Technology (IT) service that keeps pace with Council and 
 community needs. 

 
Council’s 2009/10 Annual Business Plan contained a strategy to develop and implement 
systems and processes to improve the management of Council’s records and to meet 
legislative requirements. A cross departmental project team was formed to undertake this 
strategy and a major milestone was achieved with the selection of a preferred electronic 
document records management system (EDRMS). The solution TRIM is approved by 
State Records and is therefore a legislatively compliant system. Further, TRIM is the 
preferred solution by Council’s corporate business system Authority, which is supplied by 
Civica. The implementation of the EDRMS TRIM was completed in a highly successful and 
inclusive manner, with go live date being in December 2010. Between the 13th December 
2010 and the 30th September 2011 13,600 records had been stored in TRIM at an average 
of 1,500 records per month. In comparison, Councils old system had only captured 35,708 
records between 2002 and the end of 2010 at an average of 370 records per month. 
 
Council is continuing with the ongoing cataloguing and sentencing of its older records prior 
to amalgamation of the three councils in 1997, with the transfer of consignments to State 
Records for storage in their Gepps Cross Repository. These records will be kept in a 
climate controlled environment, ensuring the preservation for future generations. 
 
For the 2010/2011 financial year, approval from State Records was given for the 
destruction of 35 linear metres of records; these records were listed and approved prior to 
destruction. Council has also catalogued and listed approximately 50 linear metres of 
records which still leaves in excess of 300 linear metres of records to be catalogued and 
sentenced in accordance with State Records legislative requirements. Approximately 40% 
of the records still to be catalogued are records from the 3 Councils prior to amalgamation. 
 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
 
Council’s Information Technology function ensures Council can meet the following 
Strategic Goal. 
 

4.7 Goal - an Information Technology (IT) service that keeps pace with Council and 
 community needs. 
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Council’s corporate business system is Authority, which is supplied by Civica. Council has 
operated in a managed service environment since March 2009 and this continues to 
provide business continuity and a robust disaster recovery environment. 
 
To enable integration between the new TRIM EDRMS solution and aid Council officers 
with the new Records Management practice; it was necessary to upgrade Council’s 
corporate business system Authority. The upgrade to Authority allows Council officers to 
link corporate information, commonly known as records, in TRIM to people, property, 
animals and numerous other applications and information registers, for example 
Development applications. These links enable Council officers to improve processing and 
quickly access information that is already stored in other systems, without this capability it 
would be required to duplicate information which slows down processing. The removal of 
duplication also reduces errors and improves the quality of data by only maintaining one 
key set of information and has allowed a concentrated focus on the existing data to ensure 
it is accurate. 
 

CUSTOMER SERVICE 
 
Council’s Customer Service function ensures Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goal. 
 

4.3 Goal - to continuously strive for quality, responsive customer service and 
 enhancement of the image of Council. 

 
The Coorong District Council’s ongoing commitment to improving customer service 
provision continued its momentum from 2009/10, with further consolidation of the 
Customer Service Centre in the Willow Street Precinct, Tailem Bend. All correspondence, 
electronically and via Australia Post, have now been diverted to the Customer Service 
Centre, with the exception of Tintinara which will occur in 2011/2012. 
 
Council, along with eleven other councils in South Australia, was the subject of an audit of 
local government complaint handling systems by the Ombudsman in March-April 2011. 
The audit was undertaken in two stages, with the first being a desk audit including the 
completion of a questionnaire and the second being an on-site visit. Council participated in 
the audit in a positive and proactive manner, implementing many of the preliminary 
findings which were supplied by the Ombudsman at the completion of the audit process. 
 
The Ombudsman was advised in response to the preliminary findings that Council intends 
to continue to action the recommendations in the report through a Customer Charter 
Review Project included in the 2011/2012 Annual Business Plan. The findings from the 
preliminary report will be a project scope inclusion which will specifically address complaint 
handling processes in addition to requests and other project considerations. 
 

ENGAGING THE COMMUNITY 
 
Council’s Community Services function ensures Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goals. 
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3.1 Goal – Enhancing the quality of life of the community by encouraging health, well being 
and safety. 

4.2 Goal – To facilitate open and transparent relationships with the community and key 
stakeholders. 

 
Connecting and communicating with our community is important to The Coorong District 
Council and has been a key focus in 2010/2011. Council does this in a variety of ways, 
such as community forums, website updates, periodical newsletters and public notices. In 
2010/2011, a new initiative known as ‘the community email database’ was developed. 
Dissemination of information ranges from promotion of community opportunities and 
events, health, education and environmental services and Council activities such as 
minutes, agendas, public notices, and community events. Subscribers to the database 
have now reached almost 200 and had made in excess of 15,000 individual transactions 
as at 30 June 2011. 
 
Council was able to implement a register within its corporate business system to manage 
the database, which ensured that contact information remains up-to-date and available for 
any information provision use. The initiative received high acclaim when Director 
Corporate & Community presented it at the Civica South Australian Annual User Group 
Conference held at Clare in April 2011. 
 
Council’s community newsletter, which underwent a name change to The Community Link, 
was reviewed in 2010/2011 with the view of continuing to provide the revised service in 
2011/2012 and beyond. 
 
Previously Council endeavoured to produce a newspaper style newsletter on a quarterly 
basis in conjunction with Rural Press Printing, which meant Council paid for the 
composition, printing and delivery to residents. Personnel changes as a result of the 
resignation of the Governance Officer have resulted in the opportunity to review the 
content and appearance of the newsletter, including the manner in which it is compiled and 
printed. 
 
Formatting (or type-setting as it is commonly referred to), is now undertaken by Council 
staff, with local printer Biz Boost engaged to print the newsletter, which is now a glossy 
magazine style publication. The newsletter is distributed to all householders within the 
Council region and also posted to all ratepayers with a non-Coorong Council postcode. 
The newsletter is also promoted via Council’s website and community email database. 
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Plans for The Community Link for 2011/2012 include the continuation of printing frequency 
to bi-monthly and exploring the opportunity for further community input, which will change 
the content of the newsletter over time. This will be achieved through the appointment of a 
Community Liaison Officer, and their efforts in emphasising collaboration on community 
initiatives. 
 
As reported in the Sustainable Development report, the Community Needs Analysis 
project results indicated support for Council to increase its contribution towards community 
services and social development. Furthermore, the support for Council to employ a 
dedicated Community Liaison Officer will be realised in 2010/2011. Some of the key focus 
activities of the role will include: 
 

o Liaison with Community Groups and Organisations  
o Coordinating Council’s Youth Services 
o Assistance for Community Groups with sourcing external Grant Funding 
o Coordinating Council’s Community Events, Grants and Donations Program 
o Coordinating Council’s Community Events 
o Develop Community Service Section of Councils Website 
o Community Plan 

 
COUNCIL’S WEBSITE 
 
During 2010/2011, Council’s website continued to be an increasingly popular resource for 
ratepayers, community members and visitors, recording an average of 40,933 ‘hits’ per 
month, which is an extraordinary increase from both 2008/2009 and 2009/2010. The 
significant increase in ‘hits’ is attributed to the hosting of Stage 2 start of the Tour Down 
Under, increased focus on community event support and more effort to engage the 
community through newsletters and community email database which continually direct 
readers and subscribers to our webpage for information provision purposes. 
 
This trend has seen the Website Project Team make some minor design changes 
throughout 2010/2011 with a plan for more changes to take place in 2011/2012 aimed at 
improving the navigation and interaction with Council for all visitors. With a strategic 
management planning process being undertaken in 2011/2012, the website will be 
included for re-design as well as the introduction of social media in the life of the four year 
strategic plan. 
 
The following table demonstrates website ‘hits’ for 2010/2011 and 2009/2010: 
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2010/2011 2009/2010 

  
SITE DESCRIPTION 

NO. 
VISITS 

% OF 
TOTAL 
VISITS 

NO. 
VISITS 

% OF 
TOTAL 
VISITS 

Corporate Plans, Documents, Policies 34194 7.0% 17767 7.6% 
Advertisements, Newsletters etc 28564 5.8% 13907 5.9% 
Council Services 18641 3.8% 13475 5.8% 
Council Committees 12768 2.6% 11372 4.9% 
Environment Related 17901 3.6% 11148 4.8% 
Community Information 28451 5.8% 9999 4.3% 
Coming Events 79154 16.1% 7605 3.3% 
Career 9299 1.9% 7044 3.0% 
Cemeteries 5373 1.1% 6999 3.0% 
Other 13141 2.7% 6627 2.8% 
Health & Welfare 21979 4.5% 6475 2.8% 
Minutes 18417 3.7% 5602 2.4% 
Building, Planning, Development 25879 5.3% 5498 2.4% 
Contacting Your Council 10577 2.2% 5244 2.2% 
Council Staff 10342 2.1% 4489 1.9% 
General Inspectorial 9933 2.0% 4481 1.9% 
Tourism Related 12579 2.6% 3946 1.7% 
Agendas 13317 2.7% 3196 1.4% 
Mayor & Elected Members 8127 1.7% 2969 1.3% 
Council Meetings & Information 2814 0.6% 2562 1.1% 
Tour Down Under 14920 3.0% 0 0.0% 
Home Page (incl maps, associated websites, 
privacy) 94834 19.3% 81537 34.9% 
Starting a Business 0 0.0% 1933 0.8% 
Total 491204 100.0% 233875 100.0% 

 

COMMUNITY GROUP FUNDING SUPPORT 
 
Council continued to demonstrate excellent commitment to its community groups by 
providing financial support in accordance with the Community Event, Grant and Donation 
Policy. This Policy, along with the Community Group Loan Policy, forms the cornerstone of 
Council’s community funding program. The following table details the groups and projects 
which benefited from Council’s community grant program in 2010/2011: 
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COMMUNITY ORGANISATION PROJECT DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

Meningie Cricket Club Lawn Mower $2,500 
Coonalpyn Golf Club Cementing & extending undercover area $2,500 

Tailem Bend Lions Club 
Install permanent bench seats War 
Memorial site $1,000 

Tintinara Bowling Club Contribution to fence around club & green $3,000 
Tailem Bend Tennis Club Install lights on tennis courts $2,000 
Meningie Progress Association Lake Albert Water Celebration $2,600 
Border Downs Football Club (Coonalpyn) One new additional light tower $2,000 
Tailem Bend Cricket Club Reconstruction of practice wicket & nets $3,500 
Tintinara Lions Club Tinti Under the Stars Event $2,700 
Meningie SA Ambulance Curtain replacement $4,060 
Tailem Bend Football Club Upgrade & improve change room facilities $4,540 
Tailem Bend Christmas Parade 
Committee Tailem Bend Christmas Parade contribution $1,000 
Jabuk Community Hall Playground & tennis shed $4,933 
Tailem Bend Singers Inc Contribution towards entertainment vests $1,000 
Friends of Tintinara CWA Purchase & installation air-conditioning $3,180 
TOTAL  $40,513 
 
Unlike previous years, Council did not have any significant loan applications from 
community groups in accordance with its Community Group Loan Policy in 2010/2011. 
However, to assist the establishment of the Tailem Bend Cricket Club, an interest free 
community loan was granted which was used to provide a cricket pitch at the Tailem Bend 
Oval. 
 
As at 30 June 2011, loan balances (including minor no interest loans funded from 
Council’s own cash reserves) is shown in the table below. The movement of $68,771 is 
indicative that the community groups are coping very well with repayment plans. 
 

COMMUNITY 
ORGANISATION 30/06/2011 30/06/2010 

Tailem Bend Football Club $4,000 $6,000 
Tintinara Football Club $2,000 $4,000 
Meningie Bowling Club $1,760 $2,640 
Malinong Hall Inc $7,200 $9,600 
Meningie Bowling Club $10,000 $25,000 
Lake Albert Golf Club $43,000 $70,000 
Tintinara Bowling Club $64,000 $60,000 
Tailem Bend Bowling Club $73,000 $100,000 
Tailem Bend Cricket Club $3,509 $0 
TOTAL $208,469 $277,240 

 
Council significantly reviewed its Individual Sport & Cultural Grants Policy towards the end 
of the financial year by refining it so that the target eligibility group was school students 
under the age of 18, residing in the Council area who is participating in either: 

 
o A sporting, music, art or cultural activity at State, National or International 

level. 
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o Any other event or activity that would reflect well on Council as a good 
national citizen at State, National or International level. 

 
An extensive media campaign including school newsletters, Community Link, media 
releases and community email database was extremely successful, with four individual 
grants being awarded between April-June 2011. Some very good partnerships were 
established with awards being presented at school assemblies, allowing for Council to 
have a positive presence in the school environment. 
 

 
Georgia Siedel & Amy Stott, successful individual grant recipients. 

 
 
 
 
 
NAT TRAEGER 
DIRECTOR CORPORATE & COMMUNITY 
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INFRASTRUCTURE AND ASSETS 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND ASSETS DEPARTMENT  
  
The Infrastructure and Asset Services Department is responsible for a wide range of 
services associated with the strategic development, operational maintenance and 
construction of community infrastructure assets including roads, kerbing, footpaths, 
stormwater drainage, waste and wastewater management services, buildings and depots, 
Coonalpyn Swimming Pool, Coonalpyn Caravan Park, parks, gardens, ovals and reserves. 
 
During 2010/2011, Council continued its commitment to long term strategic objectives 
relating to road maintenance and construction, waste management and footpaths. 
However, particular emphasis was directed to waste management issues and to the 
upgrading of its Community Wastewater Management Schemes (CWMS) to accommodate 
wastewater reuse. 
 
These activities will be extended into 2011/2012 and following years in accordance with 
Council’s Strategic Plan, available resources and government funding. 
 

The activities of the Infrastructure and Assets Department broadly fall under one of 
Council’s Strategic Objectives;  

Environmental - Sustainability 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT 
 
Council’s asset management activities ensure Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goal. 
 
1.5 Goal – To establish an Asset Management System and plans to ensure the long term 
sustainability of Council’s resources, plant, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. 

 
The term “asset management” is used to describe the process by which Councils manage 
physical assets to meet current and future levels of service. Asset management is defined 
as the systematic and coordinated activities and practices, through which an organisation 
optimally manages its physical assets over their lifecycle. These asset management 
activities are identified in Council’s Infrastructure and Asset Management Plan (IAMP). 
  
All Councils, irrespective of size or location, need to ensure that the sustainable 
management of assets is a ‘whole of council’ responsibility, and recognised as such at all 
levels within the Council. 
 
The Coorong District Council has undertaken a significant amount of work in 2010/2011 to 
ensure it has a robust and appropriate IAMP for its road assets. With the assistance of 
consultants, Council undertook a condition assessment and revaluation process on 
Council’s entire road network. The information will now be a vital tool for the preparation of 
future works programs. The practical challenge in road asset management is to find an 
acceptable balance between road network features, standards and condition and broad 
economic, social, safety and environmental community objectives. 
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In the coming years, Council will develop further IAMP’s for its buildings, stormwater 
infrastructure and CWMS infrastructure.   
 

 
Vehicles used for the condition assessment of all Council road and footpath assets. 

 

ROADS CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE 
 
Council’s road construction and maintenance activities ensure Council can meet the 
following Strategic Goals. 
 
1.4 Goal - To have infrastructure planning that is adequately resourced, integrated with land 
 use planning and minimises risk. 
1.5 Goal – To establish an Asset Management System and plans to ensure the long term 
 sustainability of Council’s resources, plant, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. 

 
Council has a total of 1,886km local roads comprised of 423km of bitumen and 1,463km of 
unsealed roads. Annual construction and maintenance programs are generally determined 
from a five year works program. 
 
Routine maintenance, road condition and traffic monitoring was conducted to allow forward 
planning and programming of future rehabilitation, reconstruction and upgrading works. 
 
Regular maintenance was carried out on council’s unsealed road network to ensure roads 
remain in a safe and trafficable condition. This years resheeting program included 35.8km 
of granular overlays to existing unsealed roads. Shift patrol graders also operate on a 12-
hour 6-day shift to ensure appropriate maintenance of unsealed roads and to guarantee 
adequate utilisation of council’s plant. 
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MAJOR ROAD CONSTRUCTION 
 
The upgrade of Tauragat Well Road continued at a cost of $630,685 inclusive of a grant 
assistance of $414,000 under the Special Local Roads Program.  
 

FOOTPATH CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE 
 
Council’s footpath construction and maintenance activities ensure Council can meet the 
following Strategic Goals. 
 
1.4 Goal - To have infrastructure planning that is adequately resourced, integrated with land 
 use planning and minimises risk. 
1.5 Goal – To establish an Asset Management System and plans to ensure the long term 
 sustainability of Council’s resources, plant, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. 

 
Council is responsible for all footpath construction and maintenance works.  As part of 
Council’s daily responsibilities, routine inspections are conducted identifying required 
maintenance work. 
 
Council allocates funding each financial year for the footpath construction program 
identified in a 5-year works program. 

 
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 
Council’s stormwater management activities ensure Council can meet the following 
Strategic Goals. 
 
1.4 Goal - To have infrastructure planning that is adequately resourced, integrated with land 
 use planning and minimises risk. 
1.5 Goal – To establish an Asset Management System and plans to ensure the long term 
 sustainability of Council’s resources, plant, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. 

 

Kerb maintenance consists of replacing concrete sections of kerb that are broken or 
misaligned to the extent that they are no longer allowing water to flow and may pose a 
potential hazard. Council carried out approximately 125m of kerb and watertable 
reconstruction as per the works program. 
 
In addition to routine kerb and water table maintenance, Council has undertaken the 
following key stormwater projects: 
 

• Approximately 310m of kerb and watertable reconstruction as per the works 
program. 

• Continued to implement the Stormwater Management Program with a major 
stormwater upgrade to commence in Meningie in the 2011/2012 financial year 

 
Following a Review of Council’s stormwater infrastructure, it was identified that upgrade 
works were required to ensure that the existing infrastructure meets standards acceptable 
by regulatory authorities, and to enable Council to effectively manage stormwater in the 
area. 
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Tenders were advertised to carry out the stormwater upgrade works and the tender was 
awarded to Tonkin Consulting; works are due to commence in the 2011/12 financial year. 
 

COMMUNITY WASTEWATER MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS (CWMS) 
 
Council’s CWMS activities ensure Council can meet the following Strategic Goals. 
 
1.4 Goal - To have infrastructure planning that is adequately resourced, integrated with land 
 use planning and minimises risk. 
1.5 Goal – To establish an Asset Management System and plans to ensure the long term 
 sustainability of Council’s resources, plant, equipment, buildings and infrastructure. 

 
 
Council operates and maintains the CWMS in Tailem Bend, Meningie, Tintinara and 
Wellington East.  Following an audit on all CWMS in South Australia in 2005, it was 
determined that most schemes were not compliant and remedial work was required. 
 

Council was successful in receiving a total of $651,900 for the upgrade of the Tailem 
Bend, Tintinara and Meningie CWMS from the Water Smart Australia program towards 
South Australia’s Community Waste Water Management Schemes Waste Water Re-use 
Projects. 
 
The upgrade of the Tailem Bend, Tintinara and Meningie CWMS continued through 
2010/2011 and will ensure that the existing facilities meet standards acceptable by 
regulatory authorities and to enable Council to effectively manage environmental and 
public health risks. 
 
Council currently does not have a Business Plan for the CWMS, but will undertake a 
review of its operations in 2011/2012 and develop a Business Plan for all schemes. 
 

WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 
Council’s waste management activities ensure Council can meet the following Strategic 
Goals. 
 
1.6 Goal – To implement sustainable programs and policies for the management of waste in 
 the Coorong District Council. 

 
The Council commenced a comprehensive review of its waste management activities 
during 2010/2011. Council engaged Water and Waste Innovations Pty Ltd to review 
current waste management operations with an initial report presented to the January 2011 
Council Meeting. As a result of this report, Council resolved to close the Tailem Bend 
Landfill and convert it to a Waste Transfer Station. In previous years, Council has 
progressively converted its smaller landfills to Waste Transfer Stations. The decision to 
close the Tailem Bend Landfill was based on assessing the long term financial 
sustainability of maintaining a landfill as well as the uncertainty of environmental 
requirements in the future. The next stage of the waste management review is to review 
Council waste collection activities and to assess the feasibility of increasing its recycling 
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collection and introducing a green waste collection. The waste management review will be 
completed in 2011/2012. 
 
KERBSIDE WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE 
 
Council’s 2 bin kerbside waste collection service continued to prove a success with 
approximately 370 tonnes of recyclables being diverted from landfill. This equates to a 
diversion of 49% of waste presented for collection at the kerbside. 
 
DRUM MUSTER 
 
The Drum Muster program was held again in July and October 2010. This program 
allowed the disposal of eligible emptied farm chemical containers that were previously 
disposed at Council landfill sites. Approximately 17,600 containers were collected and will 
be processed and recycled into metal and plastic products. 
 

RURAL PROPERTY ADDRESSING PROJECT 
 
The Council has spent considerable time and effort in completing the Rural Property 
Addressing Project during 2010/2011. The Rural Property Addressing Project aims to 
implement Rural Property Addressing in accordance with the national standard (AS/NZ 
4819:2003). Implementation of the standard will ensure consistency across all other 
Australian States and Territories and New Zealand. The standard will improve rural safety, 
delivery of services and infrastructure planning by providing certainty of location that can 
be communicated nationally. 
 
Since September 2009, all roads throughout the Council district have been systematically 
researched and any anomalies identified as requiring a change have been presented to 
Council for recommendations using the main following categories: 
 

• Roads across other Council boundaries 
• Double destination road names ( e.g. Tintinara-Geranium Rd) 
• Plural road names (e.g. Richardson Rd vs Richardsons Rd) 
• Confirmation of spelling (e.g. Kulkawurra vs Kalkawarra) 
• Roads with the same name (e.g. Jones Rd Peake & Jones Rd Narrung) 
• Road incorrectly named either with DTEI or Tourist Maps or on Council’s internal 

mapping system 
• Roads incorrectly named 
• Roads not yet gazetted 
• Roads gazetted but named differently 
• Proposed road changes to provide continuity 
• Roads with the same names  
• Any other categories arising from the research 

 
The process required negotiation with adjoining Councils for roads crossing other Council 
boundaries, the Department of Transport Energy & Infrastructure (DTEI) for negotiation on 
state roads, and finally all other roads within the Council district area.  
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The completion of this project in 2010/2011 was a major achievement of Council. 
 

OTHER COUNCIL ASSETS 
 
PARKS AND GARDENS 
 
Council provides a host of parks and gardens in all towns for residents to enjoy. Council’s 
parks and gardens are maintained daily to ensure they are enjoyed by all. 
 
CEMETERIES 
 
Council operates and maintains a variety of historical, monumental and lawn cemeteries. 
 
In addition to routine maintenance, Council erected a shade structure at the Wellington 
East Cemetery. 
 
AIRFIELDS 
 
Improvements to equipment and maintenance procedures were undertaken at the 
Tintinara and Meningie Airstrips. 

 
 
DAVID MOSEL 
DIRECTOR INFRASTRUCTURE AND ASSETS 
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COORONG  DISTRICT  COUNCIL 
 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

 

CERTIFICATION  OF  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 
 
 
 

 
We have been authorised by the Council to certify the financial statements in their final form.  
In our opinion: 
 
� the accompanying financial statements comply with the Local Government Act 1999, 

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 and Australian Accounting 
Standards.  

 
� the financial statements present a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position  at 

30 June 2011 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
� internal controls implemented by the Council provide a reasonable assurance that the 

Council’s financial records are complete, accurate and reliable and were effective 
throughout the financial year. 

  
� the financial statements accurately reflect the Council’s accounting and other records. 
 

 
 
 

 
Date: 21

st
 November 2011 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

STATEMENT  OF  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

       
   2011  2010  
  Notes $'000  $'000  

 INCOME      
 Rates 2      5,202        4,742   

 Statutory charges 2         117           108   

 User charges 2         145           154   

 Grants, subsidies and contributions 2      5,066        4,220   

 Investment income 2             4             31   

 Reimbursements 2         234           323   

 Other income 2         170           234   

 Total Income      10,938        9,812   

       

 EXPENSES      

 Employee costs 3      3,763        3,442   

 Materials, contracts & other expenses 3      3,590        3,392   

 Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3      3,041        2,609   

 Finance costs 3           49             36   

 Net loss -  joint ventures & associates 19             1               3   

 Total Expenses      10,444        9,482   

       

 OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)         494          330   

       

 Asset disposal & fair value adjustments 4          (70)         (198)  

 Amounts received specifically for new or 
upgraded assets 

2         621           574   

 Physical resources received free of charge 2             -        1,388   

 NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 
          transferred to Equity Statement 

           1,045        2,094   

      

 Other Comprehensive Income      

 Changes in revaluation surplus - 
infrastructure, property, plant & equipment 

9 62,308   16,584   

 Impairment (expense) / recoupments offset to 
asset revaluation reserve 

9        (108)              -   

 Total Other Comprehensive Income           
 

     62,200       16,584   

 TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME      63,245       18,678   

       

       
 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

BALANCE  SHEET 

as at 30 June 2011 
       
       

   2011  2010  

 ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

 Current Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalents 5 105   48   

 Trade & other receivables 5 832   1,415   

 Inventories 5 21   22   

 Total Current Assets  958   1,485   

       

 
Non-current Assets     

 

 
Equity accounted investments in Council 
businesses 

6 23   24  
 

 Investment Property 7 935   935   

 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 7 147,709   84,591   

 Total Non-current Assets  148,667   85,550   

 Total Assets  149,625   87,035   

       

 LIABILITIES      

 Current Liabilities      

 Trade & Other Payables 8 984   1,127   

 Borrowings 8 20   53   

 Provisions 8 637   616   

 Total Current Liabilities  1,641   1,796   

       

 Non-current Liabilities      

 Trade & Other Payables 8 142   142   

 Borrowings 8 362   952   

 Provisions 8 176   86   

 Total Non-current Liabilities  680   1,180   

 Total Liabilities  2,321  2,976   

 NET ASSETS  147,304   84,059   

       

 EQUITY      

 Accumulated Surplus  29,677   28,796   

 Asset Revaluation Reserves 9 116,596   54,396   

 Other Reserves 9 1,031   867   

 TOTAL EQUITY  147,304   84,059   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 

   

Accumulated 
Surplus 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

Other 
Reserves 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 2011 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

       

 Balance at end of previous reporting period  28,796  54,396  867  84,059  

 Restated opening balance  28,796  54,396  867  84,059  

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  1,045  - - 1,045  

 Other Comprehensive Income      

 
Gain on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant & 
equipment 

 - 62,308  - 62,308  

 
Impairment (expense) / recoupment’s offset to asset 
revaluation reserve 

 - (108) - (108) 

 
Transfers between reserves  (164) - 164  -  

 Balance at end of period  29,677  116,596  1,031  147,304  
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Statement of Change in Equity Statement (Cont)  
 

       

 2010 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

       

 Balance at end of previous reporting period  26,909  37,812  660  65,381  

 
Restated opening balance  26,909  37,812  660  65,381  

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  2,094    2,094  

 Other Comprehensive Income      

 
Changes in revaluation surplus - infrastructure, property, 
plant & equipment 

  16,584   16,584  

 Transfers between reserves  (207)  207  -  

 Balance at end of period  28,796  54,396  867  84,059  

        

        

        

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

   2011  2010  

 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

Notes $'000  $'000  

 Receipts      

    Operating receipts      12,177         9,281   

    Investment receipts              7             28   

 Payments      

    Operating payments to suppliers & employees       (8,115)     (6,278)  

    Finance payments           (50)          (40)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating 
Activities 

4,019  2,991 
 

 

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

 Receipts      

 Amounts specifically for new or upgraded assets          621           574   

 Sale of replaced assets          773         1,089   

 Sale of surplus assets            50                -   

 Repayments of loans by community groups            82             35   

 Payments      

 Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets       (2,332)   (2,874)  

 Expenditure on new/upgraded assets       (2,520)    (4,087)  

 Purchase of investment property               -           237   

 Loans made to community groups (13)  (230)        

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing 
Activities 

      (3,339)  (5,256)  

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 

     

 Receipts      

    Proceeds from Borrowings        6,353         2,430   

 Payments      

    Repayments of Borrowings (6,976)  (1,802)     

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing 
Activities 

        (623)          628   

       

 Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held            57    (1,637)  

       

 Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 11           48         1,685   

 Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 11         105             48   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
 

Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
1 Basis of Preparation 
1.1 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant 
South Australian legislation. 

 
The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under regulation 14 of the Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 dated ( 21/11/2011 ). 
 
1.2 Historical Cost Convention 
Except as stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention. 
 
1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates, and requires management to 
exercise its judgement in applying Council’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of this Note. 

 
1.4 Rounding 
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($’000). 

 
2 The Local Government Reporting Entity 
Coorong District Council is incorporated under the SA Local Government Act 1999 and has its 
principal place of business at 93a Willow Street, Tailem Bend.  These financial statements 
include the consolidated fund and all entities through which Council controls resources to 
carry on its functions.  In the process of reporting on the Council as a single unit, all 
transactions and balances between activity areas and controlled entities have been 
eliminated. 

 
Trust monies and property held by Council but subject to the control of other persons have 
been excluded from these reports.  A separate statement of moneys held in the Trust Fund is 
available for inspection at the Council Office by any person free of charge. 
 
3 Income recognition 
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Income is 
recognised when the Council obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when 
the amount due constitutes an enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.  
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Where grants, contributions and donations recognised as incomes during the reporting period 
were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a 
particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the reporting date, the 
amounts subject to those undischarged conditions are disclosed in these notes.  Also 
disclosed is the amount of grants, contributions and receivables recognised as incomes in a 
previous reporting period which were obtained in respect of the Council's operations for the 
current reporting period. 
 
4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments 
Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at Council’s option with 
an insignificant risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition. 
 
Receivables for rates and annual charges are secured over the subject land, and bear 
interest at rates determined in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999.  Other 
receivables are generally unsecured and do not bear interest. 
 
All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for 
amounts the receipt of which is considered doubtful. 
 
All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition.  A detailed 
statement of the accounting policies applied to financial instruments forms part of Note 13. 
 
5 Inventories 
Inventories held in respect of stores have been valued by using the weighted average cost on 
a continual basis, after adjustment for loss of service potential.  Inventories held in respect of 
business undertakings have been valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
5.1 Other Real Estate held for resale 
Properties not acquired for development, but which Council has decided to sell as surplus to 
requirements, are recognised at the carrying value at the time of that decision.  
 
Certain properties, auctioned for non-payment of rates in accordance with the Local 
Government Act but which failed to meet the reserve set by Council and are available for sale 
by private treaty, are recorded at the lower of the unpaid rates and charges at the time of 
auction or the reserve set by Council.  Holding costs in relation to these properties are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. 
 
6 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 
6.1 Initial Recognition 
All assets are initially recognised at cost.  
 
All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred 
and depreciated as soon as the asset is held “ready for use”. Cost is determined as the fair 
value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including 
architects' fees and engineering design fees and all other costs incurred. The cost of non-
current assets constructed by the Council includes the cost of all materials used in 
construction, direct labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead. 
 
Capital works still in progress at balance date are recognised as other non-current assets and 
transferred to infrastructure, property, plant & equipment when completed ready for use. 
 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost is determined as fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 
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6.2 Materiality 
Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only capitalised where the cost of 
acquisition exceeds materiality thresholds established by Council for each type of asset.  In 
determining (and in annually reviewing) such thresholds, regard is had to the nature of the 
asset and its estimated service life.  Examples of capitalisation thresholds applied during the 
year are as follows. No capitalisation threshold is applied to the acquisition of land or interests 
in land. 
 
Office Furniture & Equipment $500 
Other Plant & Equipment $500 
Buildings - new construction/extensions $1,000 
Park & Playground Furniture & Equipment $1,000 
Road construction & reconstruction $1,000 
Paving & footpaths, Kerb & Gutter $1,000 
Drains & Culverts $500 
CWMS $1,000 
Water Scheme $1,000 
Other Assets $1,000 

 

6.3 Subsequent Recognition 
All material asset classes are revalued on a regular basis such that the carrying values are 
not materially different from fair value.  For infrastructure and other asset classes where no 
active market exists, fair value is determined to be the current replacement cost of an asset 
less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to 
reflect the already consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset.  Further detail 
of existing valuations, methods and valuers are provided at Note 7.   
 
6.4 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets  
Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and equipment assets recognised are 
systematically depreciated over their useful lives on a straight-line basis which, in the opinion 
of Council, best reflects the consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets. 
 
Major depreciation periods for each class of asset are shown below.  Depreciation periods for 
infrastructure assets have been estimated based on the best information available to Council, 
but appropriate records covering the entire life cycle of these assets are not available, and 
extreme care should be used in interpreting financial information based on these estimates. 
 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 
 Office Equipment     4 years 
 Office Furniture     10 years 
 Vehicles and Road-making Equip   5 to 30years 
 Other Plant & Equipment    5 to 20 years 
Building & Other Structures 
 Buildings – masonry     50 to 80 years 
 Buildings – other construction    10 to 40 years 
Infrastructure       
 Sealed Roads – Surface    15 years 
 Sealed Roads – Pavement    50 years 
 Unsealed Roads     30 to 50 years 
 Paving & Footpaths, Kerb & Gutter   20 to 30 years 
 Drains      30 years 
 Water Supply - Pipes     60 years 
 Water Supply - Pumps & Meters    7 to 30 years 
 Stormwater - Pipes     60 years 
 Stormwater - Other     7 to 80 years 
 CWMS – Pipes     60 years 
 CWMS – Mechanical & Electrical   25 years 
 CWMS – Other     50 years 
Other Assets 
 Library Books      7 years 
 Various Other Assets     5 to 50 years 
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6.5 Impairment 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to depreciation and are reviewed 
annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount (which is the higher of the present value of future 
cash outflows or value in use). 

 
For assets whose future economic benefits are not dependent on the ability to generate cash 
flows, and where the future economic benefits would be replaced if Council were deprived 
thereof, the value in use is the depreciated replacement cost.  In assessing impairment for 
these assets, a rebuttable assumption is made that the current replacement cost exceeds the 
original cost of acquisition. 
 
Where an asset that has been revalued is subsequently impaired, the impairment is first offset 
against such amount as stands to the credit of that class of assets in Asset Revaluation 
Reserve, any excess being recognised as an expense. 

 
6.6 Borrowing Costs  
Borrowing costs in relation to qualifying assets (net of offsetting investment revenue) have 
been capitalised in accordance with AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs”.  The amounts of borrowing 
costs recognised as an expense or as part of the carrying amount of qualifying assets are 
disclosed in Note 3, and the amount (if any) of interest revenue offset against borrowing costs 
in Note 2. 
 
7 Payables 
7.1 Goods & Services 
Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are 
recognised as liabilities when the goods and services are received.  Creditors are normally 
paid 30 days after the month of invoice.  No interest is payable on these amounts. 
 
7.2 Payments Received in Advance & Deposits 
Amounts received from external parties in advance of service delivery, and security deposits 
held against possible damage to Council assets, are recognised as liabilities until the service 
is delivered or damage reinstated, or the amount is refunded as the case may be. 

 
8 Borrowings 
Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present value of future cash 
flows associated with servicing the debt.  Interest is accrued over the period to which it 
relates, and is recorded as part of “Payables”.  Interest free loans are carried at their nominal 
amounts; interest revenues foregone by the lender effectively being a reduction of interest 
expense in the period to which it relates. 
 
9 Employee Benefits 
9.1 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences 
Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences 
expected to be paid or settled within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal 
amounts (including payroll based oncosts) measured in accordance with AASB 119.  

 
Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based 
oncosts) to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  
Present values are calculated using government guaranteed securities rates with similar 
maturity terms. 

 
Weighted average discount rate 4.901% (2010, 4.702%) 
Weighted average settlement period 10 years (2010, 10 years) 
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No accrual is made for sick leave as Council experience indicates that, on average, sick leave 
taken in each reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this 
experience is expected to recur in future reporting periods.  Council does not make payment 
for untaken sick leave. 
 
9.2 Superannuation 
The Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the 
Local Government Superannuation Scheme.  The Scheme has two types of membership, 
each of which is funded differently.  No changes in accounting policy have occurred during 
either the current or previous reporting periods.  Details of the accounting policies applied and 
Council’s involvement with the schemes are reported in Note 18. 
 
10 Construction Contracts 
Construction works undertaken by Council for third parties are generally on an agency basis 
where the third party reimburses Council for actual costs incurred, and usually do not extend 
beyond the reporting period.  As there is no profit component, such works are treated as 
100% completed.  Reimbursements not received are recognised as receivables and 
reimbursements received in advance are recognised as “payments received in advance”. 
 
11 Joint Ventures and Associated Entities 
Council participates in cooperative arrangements with other Councils for the provision of 
services and facilities.  Council’s interests in cooperative arrangements, which are only 
recognised if material, are accounted for in accordance with AASB 128 and set out in detail in 
Note 19. 
 
12 Leases 
Lease arrangements have been accounted for in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standard AASB 117. 
 
In respect of finance leases, where Council substantially carries all of the risks incident to 
ownership, the leased items are initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount 
to the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The assets are disclosed within the 
appropriate asset class, and are amortised to expense over the period during which the 
Council is expected to benefit from the use of the leased assets.  Lease payments are 
allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability, according to the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. 
 
In respect of operating leases, where the lessor substantially retains all of the risks and 
benefits incident to ownership of the leased items, lease payments are charged to expense 
over the lease term. 
 
13 GST Implications 
In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax” 

� Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 
� Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating 

expenditures exclude GST receivable and payable. 
� Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any 

recoupment. 
� Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross 

basis. 
 
14 Pending Accounting Standards 
Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for the 30 June 2011 reporting period and have not been used in preparing these 
reports. 
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� AASB 1   First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting 

Standards 
� AASB 3   Business Combinations 
� AASB 5   Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations 
� AASB 7   Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
� AASB 8   Operating Segments 
� AASB 9   Financial Instruments 
� AASB 101   Presentation of Financial Statements 
� AASB 107   Statement of Cash Flows 
� AASB 108   Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors 
� AASB 110   Events after the Reporting Period 
� AASB 118   Revenue 
� AASB 119   Employee Benefits 
� AASB 132   Financial Instruments: Presentation 
� AASB 137   Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets 
� AASB 139   Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement 
� AASB 140   Investment Property 
� AASB 1031   Materiality 
� AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 & 12]  

� AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 1023 & 1032 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 &1052]  

� AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
[AASBs 3. 7, 121, 128, 131, 132 & 139]  

� AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASBs 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 
134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 
115, 127, 132 & 1042]  

� AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASBs 1 & 7] 

� AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 [AASBs 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023, & 
1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19, & 127]   

� Interpretation 14 AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 

 (Standards not affecting local government have been excluded from the above 
list.) 

 
Council is of the view that none of the above new standards or interpretations will affect any 
of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but that they may impact certain 
information otherwise disclosed. 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board is currently reviewing AASB 1004 Contributions.  
It is anticipated that the changes resulting from this review may have a material effect on the 
timing of the recognition of grants and contributions, but the financial consequences cannot 
be estimated until a revised accounting standard is issued. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

Note 2 – INCOME 
    2011  2010  
   Notes $'000  $'000  

 RATES  REVENUES      

 General Rates  4,724   4,375   

  Less: Discretionary rebates, remissions & write offs (46)  (44)  

    4,678   4,331   

 Other Rates (including service charges)      

  Natural Resource Management levy  85   75   

  Water supply  23   25   

  Community wastewater management 
systems 

 365   273   

    473   373   

 Other Charges      

  Penalties for late payment  32   28   

  Legal & other costs recovered  19   10   

    51   38   

        

  Total  5,202   4,742   

        

 STATUTORY  CHARGES      

  Development Act fees  66   57   

  Animal registration fees & fines  40   40   

  Other registration fees  11   11   

    117   108   

        

 USER  CHARGES      

  Cemetery/crematoria fees  14   13   

  Hall & equipment hire  44   45   

  Rent  38   41   

  Dump Fees  7   5   

  Sundry  42   50   

    145   154   

        

 INVESTMENT  INCOME      

  Interest on investments      

    - Local Government Finance Authority  3   30   

  Banks & other  1   1   

    4   31   
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 NOTE 2 - INCOME (continued)  2011  2010  

   Notes $'000  $'000  

 REIMBURSEMENTS      
   - for road works  107   212   
   - for private works  41   26   
   - other  86   85   
    234   323   

        
 OTHER INCOME      

  Sundry  170   234   

    170   234   

        

 GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS      

 Amounts received specifically for new or upgraded assets 621   574   

 Other grants, subsidies and contributions 4,346   3,560   

 Individually significant item - additional Grants Commission 
payment (see below) 

720   660   

    5,687   4,794   

 The functions to which these grants relate are shown in Note 2.    

        

 - Sources of grants      

  Commonwealth government  1,507   900   

  State government  4,180   3,894   

    5,687   4,794   

       

 - Individually Significant Item      

 On 28 June 2010, Council received payment of the first instalment of the 
2010/11 Grant Commission (FAG) grant.  Similarly, on 28 June 2011 
Council received payment of the first instalment of the 2011/12 grant.  It is 
not known when the timing of these grant payments will be restored to 
normal schedule, but this will materially adversely affect Council's operating 
results as these amounts are recognised as income upon receipt. 

720   660   

       

 - Conditions over grants & contributions      

 Grants and contributions which were obtained on the condition that they be expended for specified purposes 
or in a future period, but which are not yet expended in accordance with those conditions, are as follows: 

        
 Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period 347   873   

 Less: expended during the current period from revenues  
         recognised in previous reporting periods  

 Other   -   (873)  

  Subtotal   -   (873)  

 Plus: amounts recognised as revenues in this reporting 
         period but not yet expended in accordance with the conditions 

 HACC  17   6   

 Landcare  344   341   

  Subtotal  361   347   

 Unexpended at the close of this reporting period  708   347   

        

 Net increase (decrease) in assets subject to conditions in the 
current reporting period 

361   (526)  

        

 PHYSICAL  RESOURCES  RECEIVED  FREE  OF  CHARGE    

  Buildings   -   1,388   

       

 TOTAL PHYSICAL  RESOURCES  RECEIVED   -   1,388   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 

       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
       

Note 3 – EXPENSES 
   2011  2010  

  Notes $'000  $'000  

 EMPLOYEE COSTS      

 Salaries and Wages  3,697    2,992   

 Employee leave expense   534   521   

 Superannuation - defined contribution plan contributions 18 189    173   

 Superannuation - defined benefit plan contributions 18  132   126   

 Workers' Compensation Insurance  101   82   

 Less: Capitalised and distributed costs  (890)  (452)  

 Total Operating Employee Costs  3,763   3,442   

       

 Total Number of Employees  61    56   

           (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)      

       

 MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER 
EXPENSES 

     

 Prescribed Expenses      

 Auditor's Remuneration      

      -  Auditing the financial reports  16   15   

 Elected members' expenses  204   191   

 Election expenses  18   3   

 Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses  238   209   

       

 Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses      

 Contractors  1,255   1,366   

 Energy  654   608   

 Maintenance  204   175   

 Legal Expenses  93   75   

 Levies paid to government - NRM levy  85   74   

  -  Other Levies  13   11   

 Parts, accessories & consumables  419   486   

 Professional services  341   442   

 Sundry  980   337   

 Less: Capitalised & Distributed Costs  (692)  (391)  

 Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & 
Expenses 

 3,352   3,183   

   3,590   3,392   
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 Note 3 - EXPENSES (cont)      

   2011  2010  

  Notes $'000  $'000  

 DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION & 
IMPAIRMENT 

     

 Depreciation      

 Building  436   157   

 Structures  273   47  

 Roads Infrastructure      

   -  Unsealed Roads  857   826   

   -  Sealed Roads  493   479   

   -  Kerb & Gutter  53   51   

   -  Footpaths  12   11   

 Stormwater Drains  53   49   

 Water Supply  15   16   

 CWMS (Community Wastewater Management 
Schemes) 

 187   145   

 Other Assets  108   211   

 Plant & Machinery  377   326   

 Cars  86   113   

 Minor Plant and Equipment  90   95   

 Office Equipment  91   83   

 Impairment      

 Buildings  17    -   

 Office Equipment  1    -   

    3,149    2,609   

 Less: Impairment expense offset to asset 
revaluation reserve  

 (108)    -   

    3,041    2,609   

       

 FINANCE  COSTS      

 Interest on Loans   49   36   

   49   36   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 4 - ASSET  DISPOSAL  &  FAIR  VALUE  ADJUSTMENTS 

       
       
   2011  2010  
  Notes $'000  $'000  
       
 INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY,  PLANT & EQUIPMENT     
 Assets renewed or directly replaced      
 Proceeds from disposal  773   1,089   

 Less: Carrying amount of assets sold  846   1,287   

 Gain (Loss) on disposal   (73)   (198)  

       

 Assets surplus to requirements      

 Proceeds from disposal  50    -   

 Less: Carrying amount of assets sold  47    -   

 Gain (Loss) on disposal  3   -   

       
 NET GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OR REVALUATION OF 

ASSETS 
(70)  (198)  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
       

Note 5 - CURRENT ASSETS 
   2011  2010  

 CASH  &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

 Cash on Hand and at Bank               52                42   

 Short Term Deposits & Bills, etc               53                  6   

              105                48   

       

 TRADE  &  OTHER  RECEIVABLES      

 Rates - General & Other             396              370   

 Accrued Revenues                  -              505   

 Debtors - general             172              112   

 GST Recoupment               32              126   

 Prepayments               15                14   

 Loans to community organisations             208              277   

 Sundry                 9                11   

 Total             832            1,415   

       

 

Amounts included in receivables that are not 
expected to be received within 12 months of 
reporting date.  

159  208 

 

       

 INVENTORIES      

 Stores & Materials               21                22   

                21                22   

 Aggregate write-downs and other losses recognised as an expense, and reversals of   

 these, were not material in amount in either year.  All such reversals occurred principally 

 as a result of clerical inaccuracies during stores operations.    

     

COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
       

Note 6 - NON-CURRENT  ASSETS 
   2011  2010  

 FINANCIAL  ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

       

 

EQUITY  ACCOUNTED  INVESTMENTS  IN  
COUNCIL  BUSINESSES  

   
 

 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 19              23                24   

                23                24   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
           

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
           

Note 7 - INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

   2010 2011  

   $'000 $'000  

  ASSET CATEGORY 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

 Land 10,148   -    -   10,148   10,147   -   -   10,147   

 Buildings   23,617    -   (11,771)  11,846    23,465    128   (11,262)  12,331   

 Structures  7,383    -  (2,805)   4,578    9,472   221    (3,805)  5,888   

 Roads Infrastructure          

   -  Unsealed Roads  42,245    -  (6,233)  36,012   41,076    -   (10,301)   30,775   

   -  Sealed Roads  7,343    -    (2,645)  4,698   71,779    -   (7,737)  64,042   

   -  Kerb & Gutter  1,553    -   (290)  1,263    8,154      -    (1,198)   6,956   

   -  Footpaths  610   -   (102)   508    2,191      -    (521)  1,670   

 Stormwater  2,984   63   (1,056)  1,991   2,984    83   (1,108)   1,959   

 Water Supply  438    -   (80)  358   438   5   (94)  349   

 
CWMS (Community Wastewater 
Management Schemes) 

  5,579    957   (681)  5,855    5,579   2,346    (867)  7,058  
 

 Other Assets   -    3,380   (1,138)  2,242       -     2,766      (937)   1,829   

 Plant & Machinery  -    5,460  (1,542)    3,918      -    5,458    (1,903)   3,555   

 Cars  -   596    (59)   537     -    603   (37)   566   

 Minor Plant & Equipment   -   747   (430)  317    -  770    (521) 249   

 Office Equipment  -   1,209   (889)  320     -   866    (531)  335   

 
TOTAL  PROPERTY, PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

 101,900  12,412  (29,721)   84,591      175,285   13,246   (40,822)  147,709  
 

 2010 Comparative  Totals   65,770    11,197   (13,413)    63,554      101,900    12,412     (29,721)    84,591   

 This Note continues on the following pages.             
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Note 7 (Cont) - INVESTMENT  PROPERTY  

           

   2010 2011  

   $'000 $'000  

  ASSET CATEGORY 
AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST 
ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

 Land  935   -   -   935   935   -   -    935   

 
TOTAL  INVESTMENT  
PROPERTY 

935   -   -   935   935    -    -   935  
 

 2010 Comparative Totals  1,172   -   -   1,172    935    -    -   935    

 
This Note continues on the following pages. 
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Note 7 (Cont) - INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  
   2010 CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENTS DURING YEAR 2011  

   $'000 $'000 $'000  

  Asset Category Additions  

   

CARRYING  
AMOUNT New/Upgrade Renewals 

Disposals Depreciation Impairment Transfers 
Net 

Revaluation 
CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

  Land           10,148                    46                       -                  (47)                      -                       -                       -                       -            10,147   

  Buildings            11,846                    37                    91                       -                (356)                 (97)                     8                  802            12,331   

 Structures             4,578                  201                    20                       -                (245)                 (28)                 683                  679              5,888   

  Road Infrastructure           

    -  Unsealed Roads           36,012                  357                  796                       -             (857)                      -                       -             (5,533)           30,775   

    -  Sealed Roads             4,698                  210                    10                       -             (493)                      -                       -            59,617            64,042   

    -  Kerb & Gutter             1,263                       -                  174                       -                (53)                      -                       -              5,572              6,956   

    -  Footpaths                 508                       -                      3                       -                  (12)                      -                       -              1,171              1,670   

  Stormwater Drains             1,991                    21                       -                       -                  (53)                      -                       -                       -              1,959   

  Water Supply                 358                      2                      4                       -                  (15)                      -                       -                       -                  349   

  CWMS             5,855              1,343                    47                       -                (187)                      -                       -                       -              7,058   

  Other Assets             2,242                  287                    99                       -                (108)                      -                (691)                      -              1,829   

  Plant & Equipment             3,918                       -                    26                  (12)               (377)                      -                       -                       -              3,555   

  Cars                 537                       -                  949                (834)                 (86)                      -                       -                       -                  566   

  Minor Plant & Equipment                 317                    15                      7                       -                  (90)                      -                       -                       -                  249   

  Office Equipment                 320                      1                  106                       -                  (91)                    (1)                      -                       -                  335   

  TOTAL I.P.P & E  
          84,591              2,520              2,332                (893)            (3,023)               (126)                      -            62,308          147,709  

 

  
2010 Comparative 

Totals 
         63,554              4,054              4,024            (1,286)           (2,609)                      -                 270           16,584           84,591  

 

Note 7 (Cont) - INVESTMENT  PROPERTY 
 Land                 935                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                  935   

 TOTAL INVEST PROP                 935                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                  935    

 
2010 Comparative 

Totals 
            1,172                   33   -   -   -   -               (270)  -                 935  

 

 This Note continues on the following pages.  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 7 (cont) – INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

Valuation of Assets 

At 1 July 2004 upon the transition to AIFRS, Council elected pursuant to AASB 1.19 to retain a previously established 
deemed cost under GAAP as its deemed cost.  With subsequent additions at cost, this remains as the basis of 
recognition of non-material asset classes. 

Land  
Council being of the opinion that it is not possible to attribute a value sufficiently reliably to qualify for recognition; land 
under roads has not been recognised in these reports.  Land acquired for road purposes during the year is initially 
recognised at cost, but transferred to fair value at reporting date, effectively writing off the expenditure. 
Land is recognised at Fair Value. The last revaluation was undertaken by Maloney Field Services Property 
Consultants and Valuers as at the 1

st
 July 2010 and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  

Additions are recognised on the cost basis. 
Freehold land and or land over which Council has control but does not have title, is recognised on the cost basis. No 
capitalisation threshold is applied to the acquisition of land or interests in land.  

 
Buildings & Structures 
Pursuant to Council’s Election the building and other structures assets were valued by Maloney Field Services Pty 
Ltd – Property Consultants and Valuers at written down current replacement cost as at the 1

st
 July 2010 and pursuant 

to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost. All acquisitions made after the respective dates of valuation are 
recorded at cost.   

 
Infrastructure 
Pursuant to Council’s Election the transportation assets were valued by ACEAM Pty Ltd – Property Consultants and 
Valuers Pty Ltd at written down current replacement cost as at the 30

th
 June 2011 and pursuant to Council’s election 

are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after the respective dates of valuation are recorded at cost.   
 
Pursuant to Councils Election the stormwater drainage assets were valued by Maloney’s Field Services, Property 
Consultants and Valuers at  written down current replacement cost during the reporting period ended 30

th
 June 2008 

and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after the respective dates of 
valuation are recorded at cost.   

 
Pursuant to Councils Election the Community Wastewater Management Schemes were valued by Maloney’s Field 
Services, Property Consultants and Valuers at written down current replacement cost during the reporting period 
ended 30

th
 June 2005 and pursuant to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after 

the respective dates of valuation are recorded at cost.   
 

Pursuant to Councils Election the Water Schemes were valued by Maloney’s Field Services, Property Consultants 
and Valuers at written down current replacement cost during the reporting period ended 30

th
 June 2005 and pursuant 

to Council’s election are disclosed at deemed cost.  All acquisitions made after the respective dates of valuation are 
recorded at cost.  
 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 
Pursuant to Council’s election, these assets are recognised on the cost basis.   
 
All other assets 
Pursuant to Council’s election, these assets are recognised on the cost basis.  Library books and other lending 
materials are capitalised in bulk, and written out when fully depreciated. 
 
Investment Property 
The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value being the amounts for which the properties could be 
exchanged between willing but not anxious parties in an arm’s length transaction, based on current prices in an active 
market for similar parties in the same location and subject to similar leases. These Assets were valued by Maloney’s 
Field Services Pty Ltd – Property Consultants and Valuers as at 1

st
 July 2010.    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
         

Note 8 - LIABILITIES 
   2011  2010  

   $'000  $'000  

 TRADE  &  OTHER  PAYABLES Notes Current Non-current  Current Non-current  

 Goods & Services  673     896    

 Amounts Received in Advance   -     17    

 Murray Mallee Community 
Transport Scheme 

  61     53    

 Accrued Expenses - employee 
entitlements 

  162    120    

 Accrued Expenses - other   2    3    

 Aged Care Facility Deposits   142    142   

 Deposits, Retentions & Bonds   84     34    

 Other  2     4    

    984  142   1,127   142   

         

 Amounts included in trade & other 
payables that are not expected to be 
settled within 12 months of reporting 
date. 

 287   229   

         

 BORROWINGS        

 Loans   20   362    53   952   

    20   362    53  952   

         

 All interest bearing liabilities are secured over the future revenues of the Council.  

         

 PROVISIONS        

 Employee Entitlements (including on 
costs) 

  637   110    616   86   

 Other Provisions  - 66  - -  

    637   176    616   86   

         

 Amounts included in provisions that 
are not expected to be settled within 
12 months of reporting date. 

  176     86    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

        

Note 9 - RESERVES 
        

 ASSET  REVALUATION  
RESERVE 

 1/7/2010 Net Increments 
(Decrements) 

Transfers, 
Impairments 

30/6/2011  

  Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 Land  7,190    7,190   

 Buildings   8,032  802  (80) 8,754   

 Structures  3,722  679  (28) 4,373   

 Road Infrastructure  28,409  60,827  -  89,236   

 Stormwater Drains  1,788   -  -  1,788   

 Water Supply  391   -   -  391   

 CWMS  4,792   -  -  4,792   

 Other Assets  72   -   -  72   

 TOTAL  54,396  62,308  (108) 116,596   

 2010 Totals  37,812  16,584  -  54,396   

        

 OTHER  RESERVES  1/7/2010 Transfers to 
Reserve 

Transfers 
from 

Reserve 

30/6/2011  

  Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 Peake Special Purpose 
Reserve 

 17  -   - 17   

 CWMS Reserve  212   -  (212) -   

 Tailem Bend Development 
Reserve 

 134   -   -  134   

 Water Schemes Reserve  73   -  (11) 62   

 Meals on Wheels 
Replacement 

 8   -   -  8   

 Coonalpyn Downs Special 
Purpose 

 25   -   -  25   

 Tintinara Airfield   -  25   -  25   

 CDIBA Trust Fund  2   -   -  2   

 Open Space Trust Fund  36  2   -  38   

 Ashville Hall Reserve  12   -   -  12   

 Committed Funds Reserve  348  360   -  708   

 TOTAL  OTHER  
RESERVES 

 867  387  (223) 1,031   

 2010 Totals  660  366  (159) 867   
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 Note 9 (Cont) - RESERVES  

 PURPOSES OF RESERVES  

        

 Asset Revaluation Reserve       

 The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements arising from changes in fair value of 
non-current assets (less any subsequent impairment losses, where applicable).   

 Peake Special Purpose Reserve     

 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of Sherlock House and the reserve will be used for future works in the 
Peake area. 

 CWMS Reserves       

 Contains the surplus funds from the various CWMS schemes and the reserve funds will be used for future 
CWMS infrastructure works. 

 Tailem Bend Development Reserve      
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of vacant land in Tailem Bend. The reserve is used for the purpose of 

the Tailem Bend foreshore development. 

 Water Schemes Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the various water schemes and the reserve is to be used on future 

infrastructure works. 

 Meals on Wheels Replacement Reserve     
 Contains funds that are to be utilised for health related issues.     

 Coonalpyn Downs Special Purpose Reserve     
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of a Council House the reserve funds that are to be utilised for projects 

in the Coonalpyn Downs area. 

 Tintinara Airfield Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of land at the airport. The reserve funds are to be utilised for future 

Airport Infrastructure works. 

 CDIBA Trust Fund Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the Coonalpyn Downs Basketball Association to be held in trust until the 

Basketball team is reformed.  

 Open Space Trust Fund Reserve    
 Contains the funds from the Open Space contributions from developers as per the development Act. The 

reserve is to be used for the establishment of a new open space reserve.  

 Ashville Hall Reserve       
 Contains the surplus funds from the sale of the property to be used on future projects in the area.   
 Committed Funds Reserve     
 Contains the unexpended funds from various projects that are to be spent in the following year.   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
       

Note 10 -  ASSETS  SUBJECT  TO  RESTRICTIONS 

       

 The uses of the following assets are restricted, wholly or partially, by legislation or other externally imposed requirements. The 
assets are required to be utilised for the purposes for which control was transferred to Council, or for which the revenues were 
originally obtained. 

     
   2011  2010  

 CASH  &  FINANCIAL  ASSETS Notes $'000  $'000  

 Unexpended amounts received from State 
Government 

 -  17  

 TOTAL ASSETS SUBJECT TO EXTERNALLY IMPOSED 
RESTRICTIONS 

-  17  

       

 The following liabilities, included in Note 8, may be discharged from restricted assets in the first instance.  

       

 Payables 8 -   17  

   -   17  

       

 The restriction relates to grants funds received that if not spent will be required to be repaid.    
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
       

Note 11 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
       

 (a)      Reconciliation of Cash      
 Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk of changes of value. 

Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance 
Sheet as follows: 

       

   2011  2010  

  Notes $'000  $'000  

 Total cash & equivalent assets 5            105                48   

 Balances per Cash Flow Statement             105                48   

       
 (b)  Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash from Operating Activities  

                   

 Net Surplus (Deficit)               1,045            2,094   
 Non-cash items in Income Statement      

 - Depreciation, amortisation & impairment           3,041            2,609   

 - Equity movements in equity accounted investments                            
(increase) decrease 

               1                  3   

 - Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits              87              113   

 - Non-cash asset acquisitions                  -           (1,388)  

 - Grants for capital acquisitions treated as Investing Activity           (621)            (574)  

 - Net (Gain) Loss on Disposals               70              198   

            3,623            3,055   

 Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets      

 - Net (increase) decrease in receivables             514             (540)  

 - Net (increase) decrease in inventories                 1                  5   

 - Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables            (185)             471   

 - Net increase (decrease) in other provisions  66   -  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations          4,019            2,991   

       

 (c)      Non-Cash Financing and Investing 
Activities 

     

 Acquisition of assets by means of:      

 - Physical resources received free of charge 3                 -            1,388   

 Amounts recognised in Income Statement                  -            1,388   

       
 (d)      Financing Arrangements      

 Unrestricted access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit:  

 Bank Overdrafts               20                20   

 Corporate Credit Cards               45                45   

       

 The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. Council also 
has immediate access to a short-term draw-down facility, and variable interest rate borrowings under a cash advance 
facility, both from the Local Government Finance Authority of SA. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL  

             

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

for the year ended 30 June 2011  

             

Note 12 - FUNCTIONS 
             
  INCOMES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS HAVE BEEN DIRECTLY ATTRIBUTED TO THE FOLLOWING FUNCTIONS & ACTIVITIES  

 FUNCTION INCOME EXPENSES OPERATING 
SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 

GRANTS  INCLUDED 
IN INCOME 

TOTAL ASSETS HELD 
(CURRENT & NON-

CURRENT)  

 

  ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL  

  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010  

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 Governance                21                   -             793             702            (772)            (702)                   -                   -                   -                   -  

 Corporate Services          7,443          6,742          1,811          1,570          5,632          5,172          2,915          1,874          1,469          1,829  

 Development Services          1,396          1,087          1,583          1,577            (187)            (490)          1,212             885                   -                   -  

 Asset Services          2,078          1,983          6,257          5,633        (4,179)        (3,650)          1,560          2,035     148,156        85,206  

             

 TOTALS     10,938       9,812     10,444       9,482         494          330       5,687       4,794    149,625     87,035  

             
 Excludes net gain (loss) on disposal or revaluation of assets, net gain (loss) from joint ventures & associated entities, amounts received specifically for new or upgraded assets and 
physical resources received free of charge. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 12 (cont) - COMPONENTS OF FUNCTIONS 
 
 
The activities relating to Council functions are as follows: 
Governance 

      Governance, Administration, Elected Members, Tourism, and Other Economic Development. 

 
Corporate Services 

Organisational, Support Services, Accounting/Finance, Payroll, Housing for Council Employees, Human 
Resources, Information Technology, Communication, Rates Administration, Records, Occupancy, Contract 
Management, Customer Service, Other Support Services, Revenues, LGGC – General Purpose, and 
Separate and Special Rates. 

 
Development Services 

Building Control, Town Planning, Health Inspection, Parking Control, Other Regulatory Services , 
Immunisation, Community Support, Youth Services, Home Assistance Scheme, Other Library Services, 
Landcare, Natural Resource Management Levy, and Other Environment. 
 

Asset Services 
Caravan Parks Private Works, Property Portfolio, Sewerage/CWMS, Water Supply – Domestic, Jetties, 
Other Marine Facilities, Parks and Gardens, Other Fire Protection, Aerodrome, Bridges, Footpaths and 
Kerbing, Roads – sealed, Roads – formed, Roads – natural formed, Roads – unformed, Traffic 
Management, LGGC – roads (formula funded), Other Transport, Dog and Cat Control, Plant Hire & Depot, 
Public Conveniences, Car Parking – non-fee-paying, Cemeteries / Crematoria Waste Management, 
Domestic Waste, Green Waste, Recycling, Transfer Stations, Waste Disposal Facility, Other Waste 
Management Stormwater and Drainage, Street Cleaning, Street Lighting and Streetscaping. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

         

Note 13 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
         
 Recognised Financial Instruments 

 Bank, Deposits at Call, Short 
Term Deposits 

Accounting Policy: Carried at lower of cost and net realisable value; Interest is 
recognised when earned. 

   Terms & conditions: Short term deposits have an average maturity of 1 day and average 
interest rates of 4.75% (2010: 1 day, 4.5%). 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value due to the short term to maturity. 

 Receivables - Rates & 
Associated Charges (including 
legals & penalties for late 
payment) 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  An 
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when collection in 
full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions:  Secured over the subject land, arrears attract interest of 2% (2010: 
2%)  Although Council is not materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk 
exposure is concentrated within the Council's boundaries in the State. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Receivables - Fees & other 
charges 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  An 
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when collection in 
full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions:  Unsecured, and do not bear interest.  Although Council is not 
materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk exposure is concentrated within the 
Council's boundaries. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Receivables - other levels of 
government 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal value. 

   Terms & conditions: Amounts due have been calculated in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the respective programs following advice of approvals, and do not bear 
interest.  All amounts are due by Departments and Agencies of the Governments of the 
Commonwealth & State. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value. 

 Receivables - Retirement Home 
Contributions 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  An 
allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when collection in 
full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions: Amounts due have been calculated in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the respective legislation. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Liabilities - Creditors and 
Accruals 

Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Council. 

   Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value. 

 Liabilities - Retirement Home 
Contributions 

Accounting Policy: To avoid inconvenience when complying with the separate audit 
requirements imposed by the relevant legislation, amounts are carried at nominal values. 

   Terms & conditions: Pursuant to Commonwealth legislation certain intending residents 
are required to contribute amounts on an interest free basis.  The amounts are subject to 
certain deductions as prescribed by the legislation, the balance being repaid on 
termination of tenancy. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value for short tenancies; may be non-materially 
over-stated for longer tenancies. 

 Liabilities - Interest Bearing 
Borrowings 

Accounting Policy: Carried at the principal amounts.  Interest is charged as an expense 
as it accrues. 

   Terms & conditions: secured over future revenues, borrowings are repayable (describe 
basis); interest is charged at fixed (or variable - describe) rates between 6.25% and 6.53% 
(2010: 4.5% and 6.36%) 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value. 

 Liabilities - Finance Leases Accounting Policy: accounted for in accordance with AASB 117. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

         
 Note 13 (cont) - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 Liquidity Analysis 
 2011 Due < 1 year Due > 1 

year; < 5 
years 

Due > 5 
years 

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Carrying 
Values 

 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  
 Financial Assets       

 Cash & Equivalents      105   -   -            105               105   
 Receivables      277             159   -               436               436   

 Total      382           159                 -               541               541   

 Financial Liabilities       
 Payables 820   -               142               962               962   

 Current Borrowings               20   -   -                20                20   
 Non-Current Borrowings  -                92               270               362               362   

 Total               840                92               412               1,344            1,344   

           
 2010 Due < 1 year Due > 1 

year; < 5 
years 

Due > 5 
years 

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Carrying 
Values 

 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  
 Financial Assets       

 Cash & Equivalents               48   -   -                48                48   
 Receivables              837               208                   -            1,045            1,045   

 Total              885               208                   -            1,093            1,093   

 Financial Liabilities       
        
 Payables           1,004                   -               142            1,146            1,146   

 Current Borrowings               53                   -                   -                53                53   
 Non-Current Borrowings               49               263               640               952               952   

 Total           1,106               263               782            2,151            2,151   

           
 The following interest rates were applicable to Council's borrowings at balance date:  
         
   30 June 2011  30 June 2010    
   Weighted 

Average 
Interest Rate  

 Carrying 
Value  

 Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate  

 Carrying 
Value  

  

   %  $'000  %  $'000   
 Other Variable Rates 6.25           1,152  6.50           1,909    
 Fixed Interest Rates 6.53              192  6.36              242    

              1,344             2,151    
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 Net Fair Value       
 All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments.  There is no recognised market for the 

financial assets of the Council. 

     
 Risk Exposures       
 Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted.  The maximum credit 

risk on financial assets of the Council is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts.  All Council investments 
are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and are guaranteed by the SA Government.  Except as detailed in 
Notes 5 & 6 in relation to individual classes of receivables, exposure is concentrated within the Council's boundaries, and there 
is no material exposure to any individual debtor. 

  

 Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.  All of Council's 
financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and hence neither market risk nor 
currency risk apply. 

         
 Liquidity Risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities.  In accordance with 

the model Treasury Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of maturity dates based on cash inflows.  
Council also has available a range of bank overdraft and short-term draw down facilities that it can access. 

  
 Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Council has a 

balance of both fixed and variable interest rate borrowings and investments.  Cash flow fluctuations are managed holistically in 
seeking to minimise interest costs over the longer term in a risk adverse manner. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

       

Note 14 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 
       
   2011  2010  
  Notes $'000  $'000  
 Capital Commitments      
 Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements as liabilities: 

       
 CWMS                  -            1,276   
                   -            1,276   

 These expenditures are payable:      
 Not later than one year                  -            1,276   
 Later than one year and not later than 5 years                  -                   -   
 Later than 5 years                  -                   -   
                   -            1,276   

       
 Other Expenditure Commitments      
 Other expenditure committed for (excluding inventories) at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial  

 statements as liabilities:      
       
 Waste Management Services             103              149   
 Employee Remuneration Contracts           1,133              808   
 Information Technology Services             225              330   
            1,461            1,287   

 These expenditures are payable:      
 Not later than one year             704              490   
 Later than one year and not later than 5 years             757              797   
 Later than 5 years                  -                   -   
            1,461            1,287   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
         

Note 15 - FINANCIAL  INDICATORS 

         

   2011  2010  2009  
 These Financial Indicators have been calculated in accordance with Information Paper 9 Local Government 

Financial Indicators prepared as part of the LGA Financial Sustainability Program for the Local Government 
Association of South Australia.  Detailed methods of calculation are set out in the SA Model Statements. 

 

         
 Operating Surplus $'000 494  330   1,150   
 An Operating Surplus (Deficit) arises when operating revenue exceeds (is less than) operating expenses for the year 

before capital amounts. 
 

         
 Adjusted Operating Surplus $'000 434  315  505   

 In each of June 2009, 2010 and 2010 the Commonwealth Government made an advance payment of one quarterly payment of 
the Financial Assistance Grant (see Note 2).  Accordingly there were five "quarterly" payments in 2009, and four payments in 
each of 2010 and 2011.  The Adjusted Operating Surplus and Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio adjust for this distortion.. 

  

 Operating Surplus Ratio  10%  7%   26%   

 This ratio expresses the operating surplus as a percentage of general and other rates, net of NRM levy.   

         

 Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio  8%  7%  11%   

 This ratio expresses the operating surplus as a percentage of general and other rates, net of NRM levy adjusted for advance 
payment of the Financial Assistance Grant (Note 2). 

         

 Net Financial Liabilities $'000 1,384   1,513   (601)  

 Net Financial Liabilities are defined as total liabilities less financial assets (excluding equity accounted investments in Council 
businesses). 

         

 Net Financial Liabilities Ratio  13%  16%  -6%  

 Net Financial Liabilities Ratio is expressed as total liabilities less financial assets (excluding equity accounted investments 
in Council businesses) divided by Total Operating Revenue less the NRM Levy. 

 

         

 Interest Cover Ratio  0.4%   0.1%   (0.7%)  

 Interest Cover Ratio is Net Interest Expense divided by Total Operating Revenue less NRM Levy and Investment Interest.  

         

 Asset Sustainability Ratio  51%  68%  125%  

 Net asset renewals expenditure is defined as net capital expenditure on the renewal and replacement of existing assets, and 
excludes new capital expenditure on the acquisition of additional assets divided by depreciation expense.. 

      

 Asset Consumption Ratio  77%  71%  81%  
 Total carrying value of depreciable assets divided by total reported value of depreciable assets before accumulated 

depreciation. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
        

Note 16  - UNIFORM  PRESENTATION  OF  FINANCES 

        

 The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital investment activities of the Council prepared on a 
simplified Uniform Presentation Framework basis.  All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual budgets 
and long-term financial plans on the same basis. The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 'core' of 
financial information, which enables meaningful comparisons of each Council's finances.  

        

  2011  2010  

  $'000  $'000  

        

 Income  10,938    9,812   

 less Expenses  10,444    9,482   

   494   330   

        
 less Net Outlays on Existing Assets       

 Capital Expenditure on renewal and replacement 
of Existing Assets 

2,332    2,874    

 less Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment 3,041    2,609    

 less Proceeds from Sale of Replaced Assets 773    1,089    

   (1,482)   (824)  

        

 less Net Outlays on New and Upgraded Assets       

 Capital Expenditure on New and Upgraded Assets 
(including investment property & real estate developments) 

2,520    3,850    

 less Amounts received specifically for New and 
Upgraded Assets 

621    574    

 less Proceeds from Sale of Surplus Assets 
(including investment property and real estate developments) 

50    -    

   1,849   3,276  

        

 Net Lending / (Borrowing) for Financial Year  127   (2,122)  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
      

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
      

Note 17  -  OPERATING  LEASES 

      

 Lease payment commitments of Council     

      

 Council has entered into a non-cancellable operating lease for the rental of business premises 
at Willow Street, Tailem Bend. No contingent rentals were paid during the current or previous 
reporting periods. The lease does not impose any additional restrictions on Council in relation 
to additional debt or further leasing and there are also no escalation clauses. Council has a 
right of renewal of the lease for a further 3 plus 3 years and there is an option to purchase the 
building within the lease. 

 

      

      

 Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases that have not been recognised in the 
financial statements are as follows: 

 

  2011  2010  

  $'000  $'000  

 Not later than one year              49                46   

 Later than one year and not later than 5 years              52                92   

 Later than 5 years     

             101              138   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 18 – SUPERANNUATION 

 
 
The Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its 
employees to the Local Government Superannuation Scheme. The Scheme has two 
types of membership, each of which is funded differently. Permanent and contract 
employees of the South Australian Local Government sector have the option to 
contribute to Marketlink and/or Salarylink. All other employees (including casuals) 
have all contributions allocated to Marketlink. 

 

Marketlink (Accumulation Fund) Members  

Marketlink receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive 
basis. Employer contributions are based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings 
in accordance with superannuation guarantee legislation (9% in 2010/11 for 
Marketlink members and 3% for Salarylink members; 9% and 3% respectively in 
2009/10).  No further liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits 
accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund. 

 

Salarylink (Defined Benefit) Members 

Salarylink is a defined benefit scheme where the benefit payable is based on a 
formula determined by the member’s contribution rate, number of years of 
contribution and final average salary. Council makes employer contributions to 
Salarylink as determined by the Scheme's Trustee based on advice from the 
Scheme's Actuary. The rate is currently 6.3% (6% in 2009/10) of “superannuation” 
salary. Given that Employer contributions are based on a fixed percentage of 
employee earnings in accordance with superannuation guarantee legislation, the 
remaining 3% for Salarylink members is allocated to their Marketlink account. 
Employees also make member contributions to the Fund. As such, assets 
accumulate in the Fund to meet the member's benefits, as defined in the Trust Deed, 
as they accrue. 

 

The Salarylink Plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Fund's assets and 
liabilities are pooled and are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to 
allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers. As provided by 
AASB 119.32(b), Council does not use defined benefit accounting for these 
contributions. 

 

The most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by the Scheme's actuary, L C 
Brett, BSc., FIA, FIAA, of Brett and Watson Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2009, the Trustee 
has determined that the current funding arrangements are adequate for the expected 
Defined Benefit Plan liabilities.  However, future financial and economic 
circumstances may require changes to Council’s contribution rates at some future 
time.  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
      

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
      

Note 19 - JOINT  VENTURES & ASSOCIATED  ENTITIES 
      

 All joint ventures and associated entities are required to prepare Annual Financial Statements 
that comply with the SA Local Government Model Financial Statements. 

 

      

 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS)    

 The MMCTS is a Section 43 Regional Subsidiary of the following local government Councils: 
Coorong District Council, District Council of Karoonda East Murray, and the Southern Mallee 
District Council. The purpose of the regional subsidiary is to provide community transport to 
residents in the three district areas. 

 

      

  2011  2010  

 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
(MMCTS) 

    

 Council's respective interests are:     

     - interest in outputs of the joint operation 33%  33%  

     - ownership interest in the joint operation 33%  33%  

     - the proportion of voting power in the joint operation 10%  10%  

      

 Movements in Investment in Joint Operation $'000  $'000  

      Opening Balance 24   27   

      Share in Operating Result (1)  (3)  

      Share in Equity of Joint Operation 23   24   
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 20  -  CONTINGENCIES  &  ASSETS  &  LIABILITIES  NOT  

RECOGNISED  IN  THE  STATEMENT  OF  FINANCIAL  POSITION 
 
The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position but 
knowledge of those items is considered relevant to user of the financial report in making and evaluating 
decisions about the allocation of scarce resources. 

 
1. LAND UNDER ROADS  

As reported elsewhere in these Statements, Council is of the opinion that it is not possible to 
attribute a value sufficiently reliably for these assets to qualify for recognition, and accordingly land 
under roads has not been recognised in these reports.  Land acquired for road purposes during the 
year is initially recognised at cost, but transferred to fair value at reporting date, effectively writing 
off the expenditure. 
 
At reporting date, Council controlled 1,884 km of road reserves of average width 20 metres. 
 

2. POTENTIAL INSURANCE LOSSES 
Council is a multi-purpose organisation providing a large range of building, parks infrastructure, 
playgrounds and other facilities accessible to the public.  At any time, it is likely that claims will have 
been made against Council that remain unsettled. 
 
Council insures against all known insurable risks using a range of insurance policies, each of which 
is subject to a deductible "insurance excess", the amount of which varies according to the class of 
insurance. 
 
Council has recognised the potential losses arising from claims known at reporting date based on 
average historical net cost (including insurance excess) of similar types of claims.  Other potential 
claims not reported to Council may have existed at reporting date. 
 

3. BANK GUARANTEES 
Council has guaranteed certain loans and other banking facilities advanced to community 
organisations and sporting bodies, amounting to $0 (2010: $0) at reporting date. 
 
Council does not expect to incur any loss arising from these guarantees. 

4. LEGAL EXPENSES 
Council is the planning consent authority for its area under the Development Act 1993 (as 
amended).  Pursuant to that Act, certain persons aggrieved by a planning decision of the Council 
may appeal.  It is normal practice that parties bear their own legal costs.  At the date of these 
reports, Council had notice of nil appeals against planning decisions made prior to reporting date.  
All known costs have been recognised, but the amount of further costs cannot be known until the 
appeals are determined. 
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

 

CERTIFICATION OF AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
 

 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose 
of the audit of the Coorong District Council for the year ended 30 June 
2010, the Council’s Auditor, HLB Mann Judd, has maintained its 
independence in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 1999 made under that Act. 
   
This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Regulation 16A(2) Local Government (Financial Management) 
Regulations 1999. 
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THE MURRAY AND MALLEE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 

ANNUAL REPORT 2010-2011 

 

      Comprising: 
 
 Berri Barmera Council: (BBC) 
 
 Coorong District Council: (CDC) 
 
 District Council of Karoonda East Murray: (DCKEM) 
 
 District Council of Loxton Waikerie: (DCLW) 
 
 Mid Murray Council: (MMC) 
 
 Rural City of Murray Bridge: (RCMB) 
 
 Renmark Paringa Council: (RPC), and the 
 
 Southern Mallee District Council: (SMDC) 
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PRESIDENT’S ANNUAL REPORT 

 
President, Mayor Leon Stasinowsky. 

Now in my fourth term as President of the Association, I have the greatest of pleasure in providing the 
following President’s Annual Report for the period 2010 to 2011. 
 
As has been historically evidenced, the activities of the Association have been many and varied, but 
underpinned by the general relevance to both the Association’s Strategic and Annual Business Plans. 
 
Increased impost on local government by State Government regulations and provisions, with 
associated cost shifts has again been experienced by Member Councils, ultimately affecting 
ratepayers in the region. 
 
The Association has a continuing desire to ensure activities undertaken result in ultimate benefits to 
the community. 
 
A snapshot of matters and issues addressed over the past year are summarized as follows: (legend:: 
►Strategic - General  ►Environmental ►Economic ►Social ►Governance ) 
 
Projects and activities completed: 
 
►Complete and wide ranging review of the Association’s current Strategic Plan culminating in the 
newly adopted M&MLGA Strategic Plan 2011-2014. 
 
►Facilitation of the Zero Waste SA Regional Implementation Assessment Panel Meeting for Councils’ 
funding applications for the 2010-2011 funding round. 
 
►In partnership with the LGA SA, successful submission to the SA State Government for removal of 
the Narrung Bund. 
 
►Completion of the 2011-2012 SLRP Road Funding applications and provision of advices and 
recommendations to the Local Government Transport Advisory Panel. 
 
►Arrangements made for Council financial contributions to the Southern Mallee Broadband Project. 
 
►Completed the review of the Murray and Mallee Regional Transport Strategy Plan. 
 
►Finalisation of the SA State Government’s BDF financial contribution to the Southern Mallee 
Broadband Project with subsequent program completion and official opening. 
 
►Provision of submission and subsequent support for a Regional Digital TV Community Liaison 
Manager for a short term contract. 
 
►Change of General Meeting Agenda format to include I Pad version availability. 
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Projects and activities forwarded: 
 
►Support provided to the RDA for the Carbon Forum. 
 
►Facilitation of the Dept. of Premier and Cabinet’s regional briefing on the Climate Change 
Adaptation Framework. 
 
►Submission made to the State Government for continuation and commitment to the Branched 
Broomrape Eradication Program. 
 
►Successful submission made to PIRSA for continuation of sub-regional Drought Support Offices. 
 
►The forwarding of the Ensuring Local Government Services Provision Project. 
 
►Facilitation of Riverland Council’s support for the NexGen Regional Broadband Blackspots 
Program. 
 
►With the support of the LGA, pursuing the State Government to provide primary producers with 
water pricing subsidy arrangements. 
 
►Provision of continued representation on the Regional Coordination Network and the Murray and 
Mallee Zone Emergency Management Committees. 
 
►Continuation of Member Council support and implementation of the Rural Property Addressing 
Standard. 
 
►Liaison with Member Councils and the Local Government Mutual Liability Scheme in reference to 
rising River Murray water levels. 
 
 
New Projects and activities: 
 
►Arrangements made and representation provided for the SA State Government’s review of the 
Murray and Mallee Chapter of the State’s Regional Infrastructure Plan Forums. 
 
►Participation in the “Strategy for Regional SA” Forum and provision of impetus and comment 
through the SAROC and LGA State Executive Committee. 
 
►Provision of representation on the Zero Waste SA Regional Implementation Program Review Panel 
and provision of comment. 
 
►Association provision of representation of riverine Councils on the DENR River Murray Review 
Response Team. 
 
►Successful supportive submissions to the Federal Government for E Waste Disposal Program. 
 
►African Boxthorn infestation addressed with provision of $90k gained to assist the SA MDB NRM 
Board’s eradication program. 
 
►Raising of concerns with the integration of DENR and NRM Boards’ operations. 
 
►Facilitation of affected Council Locust control measures. 
 
►Consideration and provision of comment on the SA State Government’s proposed Water Bill. 
 
►Submission made to the State Government for reinstatement of the Tourism Road Funding Grants 
Program. 
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►Provision of representation on the Dept. of Planning and Local Government’s Regional 
Implementation Program addressing population, housing and employment targets. 
 
►Liaison with the Dept. of Health to ensure adequate protection and funding of Council activities in 
reducing the mosquito population. 
 
►Consideration of potential changes to the Association’s Charter for a Regional Subsidiary. 
 
►Provision of information and facilitation of Councils’ consents to undertake the Council Performance 
Improvement Program and initial consideration of the draft regional report. 
 
►Research undertaken on the State Government’s budget cut impacts on Councils and the region. 
 
I take this opportunity to sincerely thank the previous Vice President Mayor Ian Mann OAM (retired 
November 2010) and now Vice President Mayor David Burgess, Member Council Mayors, Delegates, 
both past and present and Member Council CEO’s, all of whom have provided local government 
representation to the Association, internal and external committees and working parties. 
 
I am grateful for their involvement in the Association’s affairs and urge them to continue into the 
future. 
 
Timely information has again been provided to the Association from the Local Government 
Association of SA. I especially recognize the efforts of Wendy Campana, LGA SA Executive Director, 
Chris Russell, Strategic Advisor, Policy & Communications and more recently David Hitchcock, 
Director, Environment and Infrastructure.  
 
I recognise their support, advice and well researched recommendations provided. 
 
I would again thank our CEO Peter Campbell for his continued commitment and support provided to 
me and the Association over the past year. Peter has sought continuation of his existing contract to 
provide executive services to the Association for a further two years, which will be granted subject to 
satisfactory performance reviews. 
 
The Local Government Periodical Elections were conducted in November, 2010, following which, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Association’s Charter for a Regional Subsidiary, I remained as 
President of the Association up until the June 3rd, 2011 Annual General Meeting. 
 
This position, along with the position of Vice President, underwent the election process at that 
Meeting and I am pleased to say that the current office holders have been returned for the next 
annual term. 
  
Over the past years I look back with satisfaction and pride on the achievements of the Association 
and thank all Delegates for the opportunity afforded to me by being your President.  
 

 
Mayor Leon Stasinowsky.  
President, 2010 – 2011. 
Murray and Mallee Local Government Association. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE REGION. 

 

The Region is located in the Murraylands Statistical Region in eastern South Australia and is 
dissected by the River Murray. It covers a large area in excess of 50,000 km2 taking in the areas from 
the Riverland in the north, agriculture areas in the central, west, south and east along the Victorian 
border, and south westerly to the coast and lakes. Rural based communities throughout the area 
share a common interest in agriculture/horticulture, with towns primarily servicing the farming and 
horticultural communities and supporting a growing tourism sector. The Region has a population base 
of approximately 68,000 (approx. 4.6% of the State population). 

The Murray River, and its associated wetlands and wildlife, Lake Bonney and a number of 
National/Conservation Parks, support a range of rare and endangered plant and animal species, and 
are major tourist attractions throughout parts of the Riverland and Mallee. Towards the coast, the 
Coorong National Park, Lake Alexandrina and the shores of Lake Albert are all well known tourist 
attractions, particularly for recreational boating and fishing. 

Murray Bridge provides regional services to the lower parts of the Region and supports both an 
industrial and commercial base. 

The Murray River travels from the north, and passing through seven of the member Councils, flows 
into Lake Alexandrina in the south. It supports a number of tourist and recreation activities, with a 
number of tourism vessels operating from centres along the river. 

The Region is serviced by the South Eastern Freeway, Princes, Dukes, Sturt and Mallee Highways, 
with the Berri (Loxton) to Murray Bridge Road providing a direct link diagonally across the Region. 

The Association works closely with its major regional partners - the Murray and Mallee Regional 
Coordination Network, and the Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland 
Board. 
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ASSOCIATION PRESIDENCY. 
 
 
Cr. Leon Stasinowsky, now Mayor of the District Council of Loxton Waikerie was re-elected President 
at the Annual General Meeting held at Murray Bridge on the 4th June, 2010 and Mayor Ian Mann 
OAM, Mid Murray Council was re-elected Vice President. The term of these positions, as per the 
provisions of the Association’s Charter for a Regional Subsidiary, was for the ensuing 6 months being 
to the first General Meeting following the Local Government periodical elections ie: 3rd December, 
2010.  
 
At the 3rd December, 2010 General Meeting, Mayor Leon Stasinowsky was re-elected President and 
Mayor David Burgess, Mid Murray Council, was elected Vice President for the term of office until the 
Association’s Annual General Meeting held on the 3rd June, 2011. 
 
Both office holders were re-elected to their respective positions at the 3rd June, 2011 Annual General 
Meeting for a full annual term of office. 

 

 REPRESENTATION:  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH AUSTRALIA (LGA 
 SA). 

 Mayor Leon Stasinowsky, Mayor Ian Mann OAM (until December, 2011) and Mayor David Burgess 
 continued to serve on the State Executive of the  Local Government Association of South Australia, 
 with Mayor Allan Arbon, Rural City of Murray Bridge, as proxy. 

 

 ASSOCIATION:  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SERVICES. 

 The Chief Executive Officer services for the Association for the year were again provided by Peter 
 Campbell. 

 In accordance with a resolution of Member Council Delegates, the Chief Executive Officer 
 underwent performance review process in June, 2011, coinciding with the production of  the 
 Association’s draft 2011-2012 Annual Business Plan and draft 2011-2012 Budget.  

 The Review Panel consists of the President and Vice-President of the Association and Dean Gollan, 
 CEO Mid Murray Council and Peter Ackland, CEO of the Loxton Waikerie District Council. The 
 Association has noted that satisfactory Chief Executive Officer service has been provided.  

 

 CONSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE ASSOCIATION. 

 The Association operated as a Regional Subsidiary under the transitional provisions of the Local 
 Government Act 1999 until December, 2001 with a formal Charter, agreed to by  Member Councils, 
 becoming effective on the 13th December, 2001.  

 To ensure legal compliance with the Local Government Act 1999, a review of the Charter took place 
 during the year, the outcome being that it was considered by Delegates that no changes were deemed 
 necessary at that point in time.  

 The current Charter can be viewed on the Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au 
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 THE PURPOSE OF THE ASSOCIATION. 

 As a Regional Subsidiary of the Member Councils, the Association has as its governing  document, the 
 Charter gazetted on the 8th February, 2007 (reviewed 2011) as provided for under the Local 
 Government Act 1999. The purpose for which the Association has been established is to: 

 

 Undertake coordinating, advocacy and representational roles for its constituent 
Councils at a regional level. 

 

 Facilitate and coordinate activities of local government at a regional level related to 
environment, economic and social development with the object of achieving continual 
improvement for the benefit of the communities of its constituent Councils. 

 

 Develop, encourage, promote, foster and maintain consultation and cooperation and to 
strengthen the representation and status of local government when dealing with other 
levels of government, private enterprise and the community. 

 

 Develop further cooperation between its constituent Councils for the benefit of the 
communities in the region. 

 

 Develop and manage policies which guide the conduct of programs and projects in the 
region with the objective of securing the best outcomes for the communities in the 
region. 

 

 Undertake projects that benefit the region and its communities. 
 

 ASSOCIATION MEETINGS. 

 During 2010 – 2011, the Association has met bi-monthly for General Meetings. 

 Meetings of the Association were convened on: 

4th June, 2010 - Annual General Meeting - at the Rural City of Murray Bridge Council Chamber, 2 
Seventh Street, Murray Bridge - the Rural City of Murray Bridge as host. 

6th August, 2010 - General Meeting - at the Pinnaroo Football Club Facility, Cnr. Homburg Terrace 
and Gilbert Avenue, Pinnaroo - the Southern Mallee District Council as host. 

1st October, 2010 - General Meeting - at the Berri Barmera Council Chamber, 19 Wilson Street, Berri 
- the Berri Barmera Council as host. 

3rd December, 2010 - General Meeting - at the Tailem Bend Town Hall, 95 Railway Terrace, Tailem 
Bend - The Coorong District Council as host. 

4th February, 2011 - General Meeting - at the Karoonda Football Clubrooms, Adelaide Road, 
Karoonda - The District Council of Karoonda East Murray as host. 



 

8 

1st April, 2011 - General Meeting - at the District Council of Loxton Waikerie Council Chamber, East 
Terrace, Loxton - the District Council of Loxton Waikerie as host. 

3rd June, 2011 - Annual General Meeting - at the Mid Murray Council Offices, 49 Adelaide Road, 
Mannum - the Mid Murray Council as host. 

 All Association Meetings, including Committee Meetings’ Agendas and Minutes are available for 
 viewing and or downloading from the Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au  

 A number of guest speakers and attendees have made presentations/addresses to the Association 
 meetings throughout the year. They include: 

 Mayor James Maitland, Acting President LGA SA. 

Tony Piccolo MP, Member for Light. 

Adrian Pederick MP, Member for Hammond. 

John Dawkins, MLC. 

Brenton Lewis, RDA 9Murraylands and Riverland) Board. 

Terry Banks, SA MDB NRM Board. 

Nick Petrovski, Director, DPLG. 

Mark Bolton, General Manager Telstra SA South. 

Emily White, Regional Development Officer, LGA SA. 

John Berger – Primary Producer Broomrape Eradication campaigner. 

Patrick Secker, MP, Member for Barker. 

Hugh Longbottom, PIRSA. 

Matthew Miles, Australia Day Council. 

Bill Paterson, Presiding Member, SA MDB NRM Board. 

 Representatives of both the LGA and the Office of Local Government attended each meeting and 
 took the opportunity to brief the Association of the relevant matters being addressed by their 
 respective bodies.  

 We acknowledge the support of Wendy Campana, Executive Director, LGA SA who has  been ready to 
 assist the Region and ensure that the LGA SA has had a presence at our meetings. The Association has 
 also enjoyed a close working relationship with its State and Federal Members of Parliament, a number of 
 whom have been regular attendees at our meetings. 

 The President has continued the practice of giving each of our guests the opportunity to  address our 
 meetings briefly about matters and issues before them that may be of interest to the Association and 
 Member Councils. The contribution from all of the speakers, presenters and guests has kept the 
 Association and the Delegates abreast of a wide ranging number of issues that impact on Local 
 Government and the communities in the Region. 
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 MEMBER COUNCIL DELEGATES TO THE ASSOCIATION. 

 The following are the current Delegates representing Member Councils as at the AGM of the 3rd June, 
 2011: 

Berri Barmera Council (BBC): Mayor Peter Hunt, Deputy Mayor Rhonda Centofanti and David 
Beaton, CEO (proxy). 

Coorong District Council (CDC): Mayor Roger Strother, Michael Boyd, CEO, Cr. Sharon Bland 
(proxy), Cr. Neville Jeansch (proxy) and Tim Tol, Deputy CEO (proxy). 

District Council of Karoonda East Murray (DCKEM): Mayor Kevin Burdett, Peter Smithson, CEO 
and Deputy Mayor Colin Zadow (proxy). 

District Council of Loxton Waikerie (DCLW): Mayor Leon Stasinowsky, (President), Peter Ackland, 
CEO and Deputy Mayor Mark Ward (proxy). 

Mid Murray Council (MMC): Mayor David Burgess, Deputy Mayor Kevin Myers, Cr. Inez Bormann 
(proxy) and Dean Gollan, CEO (proxy).  

The Rural City of Murray Bridge (RCMB): Mayor Allan Arbon, OAM, Deputy Mayor Barry Laubsch, 
Cr. Jerry Wilson, (proxy) and Damien Moloney, CEO (proxy). 

District Council of Renmark Paringa (RPC): Mayor Neil Martinson, Deputy Mayor Maria Spano, 
Tony Siviour, CEO (proxy) and the Director Corporate and Community Services (proxy). 

Southern Mallee District Council (SMDC): Mayor Gordon Hancock, Deputy Mayor Robert Sexton 
and Rod Ralph, CEO (proxy). 

 

 ASSOCIATION COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIPS. 

The following are the current Association Committee Members as at the AGM of the 3rd June, 2011. 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association Regional Waste Management Strategy 
Committee: 

This Committee is currently in recess, to be recalled if required. 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association Regional Transport Strategy Committee: 

Mayor Roger Strother, Coorong District Council, Chair 

Peter Campbell, CEO, M&MLGA 

Mayor David Burgess, Mid Murray Council 

Paul Day - Renmark Paringa Council 

Barry Fletcher (external appointment) - Berri Barmera Council 

Chris Fels - District Council of Loxton Waikerie 

Peter Smithson - District Council of Karoonda East Murray 
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Peter Bond, Executive Manager, Sustainable Development, Rural City of Murray Bridge (David Allen - 
proxy) 

Peter Broughill - Southern Mallee District Council 

David Mosel, Coorong District Council 

Kate Daniels - Regional Development Australia (Murraylands and Riverland) Board 

DTEI (Transport SA) - 2 nominees (external appointment) 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association Broadband Steering Committee: 

This Committee is currently in recess, to be recalled if required. 

M&MLGA Transport Reference Group. - Community Transport: 

Peter Smithson, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray. (by virtue of position held) 

Cr. Mike Fuller, Berri Barmera Council. 

M&MLGA "Ensuring Local Government Services Provision" Working Group: 

Anthony McCabe - Southern Mallee District Council. 

Damien Moloney, CEO - Rural City of Murray Bridge.   

David Beaton, CEO - Berri Barmera Council. 

John Claydon - District Council of Karoonda East Murray. 

Peter Ackland, CEO - District Council of Loxton Waikerie.   

Director Corporate and Community Services - Renmark Paringa Council.   

Robin Bourne - Mid Murray Council. 

Michael Boyd - Coorong District Council. 

David Hitchcock - LGA (external appointment). 

Jane Gascoigne - PIRSA - OS/LGR (external appointment). 

Trevor Bennett - DTED (external appointment). 

 

  ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION – OTHER BODIES. 

 During the year the Association has made and or continued the following appointments to  other 
 bodies, as at the AGM of the 3rd June, 2011. 
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LGA State Executive Committee: 

The President, (by virtue of position held). 

The Vice President, (by virtue of position held). 

Proxy for President or Vice President, Mayor Allan Arbon, Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

South Australian Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC): 

The President, (by virtue of position held). 

The Vice President, (by virtue of position held). 

Proxy for President and or Vice President, Mayor Allan Arbon, Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

CEO M&MLGA - Peter Campbell (by virtue of position held). 

Murray and Mallee Zone Emergency Management Committee: 

Mayor Neil Martinson, Renmark Paringa Council - Chair. 

Mayor Peter Hunt - Berri Barmera Council. 

Damian Moloney, CEO, Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

Director, Infrastructure Services, District Council of Loxton Waikerie. 

David Mosel, Asset Manager, Coorong District Council. 

Harc Wordsworth, Manager, Environment and Planning, Southern Mallee District Council. 

Peter Broughill, Works Manager, Southern Mallee District Council. 

Regional Development Australia (Murraylands and Riverland) Board. 

Mayor Allan Arbon - Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

Mayor David Burgess - Mid Murray Council. 

Mayor Neil Martinson - Renmark Paringa Council. 

David Beaton - CEO, Berri Barmera Council. 

SA MDB NRM Board. 

Rod Ralph, CEO, Southern Mallee District Council. 

Murraylands and Riverland Regional Coordination Network: 

Peter Smithson, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray. 
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State Strategic Plan Regionalisation Working Groups. 

Murraylands sub-group: 

Deputy Mayor Barry Laubsch and Mayor Allan Arbon (proxy), Rural City of Murray Bridge. 

Riverland sub-group: 

Mayor Peter Hunt, Berri Barmera Council. 

LGA Land Access Working Group: 

Peter Smithson, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray. 

 

 EXECUTIVE MEETINGS. 

 There were no Executive Meetings held during the year. 

 

 GENERAL ACTIVITIES. 

 The Association undertakes a coordinating role, in conjunction with Member Councils, on their issues 
 and those raised by the Local Government Association of South Australia, the community, and other 
 relevant parties’ concerns and interests.  

 State and Federal Members of Parliament representing our Region have been briefed and  support 
 has been sought for issues raised. 

 Submissions and briefings undertaken include: 

 Submission for Special Local Roads applications for 2011-2012 funding round. 
 Submissions to the SAROC Committee, including, 

  Community Passenger Network Transport. 
  Ensuring Local Government Services Provision Project. 
  Digital TV switchover. 
  Impounding Act Review. 
  Regional Tourism Road Funding. 
  External Audit Committees for Regional Subsidiaries. 
  Locust Infestation. 
  Relevance of LGA Research Projects to Rural Councils. 
  Ramifications of increased cost of water for primary producers. 
  Eradication of pest weeds on unallocated/alienated lands. 
  Native Vegetation Regulations. 
  Adelaide Rail Freight Bypass. 

 Submission to the SA MDB NRM Board on Planning matters. 
 Ministerial submission made in respect to the requirement for Audit Committees resulting 

from Amendment to clause 13(2) of Schedule 2 – Exemption of a regional subsidiary from 
the requirement to establish an audit committee. 

 Submission to Zero Waste SA for Regional Implementation funding applications for the 
2010-2011 funding round. 

 In partnership with the LGA SA, successful submission to the SA State Government for 
removal of the Narrung Bund. 
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 Submission and subsequent support for a Regional Digital TV Community Liaison 
Manager for a short term contract. 

 Submission made to the State Government for continuation and commitment to the 
Branched Broomrape Eradication Program. 

 Successful submission made to PIRSA for continuation of sub-regional Drought 
Support Offices. 

 Successful supportive submissions to the Federal Government for E Waste Disposal 
Program. 

 Submission to DENR in reference to African Boxthorn infestation resulting in provision 
of $90k to assist the SA MDB NRM Board’s eradication program. 

 Submission made to the State Government for reinstatement of the Tourism Road 
Funding Grants Program. 

 

The CEO has also attended several Forums, Workshops and Briefings throughout the year regarding 
evolving issues and to make contribution on behalf of the Association. These have included: 

 Regional Development Australia Forum. 
 SA MDB NRM Board’s Mayoral and CEO Forum. 
 SA MDB NRM Board “Strengthening Basin Communities” Planning Workshop. 
 LGA State Election Platform Forum. 
 Murray Darling Basin Authority Consultation Forum. 
 Locust Infestation Forum. 
 Telstra Regional Stakeholder Forum. 
 Strategy for Regional SA Forum. 

 

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN REGIONAL ORGANISATION OF COUNCILS (SAROC). 

The President, Mayor Leon Stasinowsky, Vice President Mayor Ian Mann, OAM (now retired), Mayor 
David Burgess,  (Mayor Allan Arbon as proxy on occasions) and the Chief Executive Officer have 
attended SAROC meetings during the year. 

The meetings are usually held bi-monthly on the day preceding the meeting of the LGA State Executive. 

SAROC has a Memorandum of Understanding between Regional Local Government Associations and 
the Local Government Association of South Australia, which was completed in August, 2003. 

The Association has provided our regional input into many topics that are relevant to all communities 
across the State, some of which include: 

 Community Passenger Network Transport. 
 NRM/LG Relationships. 
 Ensuring Local Government Services Provision Project. 
 Digital TV switchover. 
 Impounding Act Review. 
 Strategy for Regional SA. 
 Regional Tourism Road Funding. 
 External Audit Committees for Regional Subsidiaries. 
 Locust Infestation. 
 Relevance of LGA Research Projects to Rural Councils. 
 Ramifications of increased cost of water for primary producers. 
 Eradication of pest weeds on unallocated/alienated lands. 
 Native Vegetation Regulations. 
 Adelaide Rail Freight Bypass. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO 30TH JUNE, 2011. 

The audited Financial Statements are included at the rear of this report. Surplus cash flow funds have 
been deposited with the Local Government Finance Authority and drawn on when and as required. 

 

REGIONAL ENHANCEMENT AND CAPACITY BUILDING. 

The Association acknowledges and thanks the Local Government Research and Development Fund 
Scheme for their annual 2010-2011 grant of $34,537 to the Association. 

This grant has ensured that the Association has been able to undertake regional enhancement and 
capacity building projects throughout the year. 

 

INFORMING COUNCILS AND OTHER PARTIES. 

The Association recognises the importance of providing both topical and detailed information on its 
activities to Member Councils, the LGA SA, the Dept. of Planning and Local Government, Politicians, 
other key stakeholders and the general public within and outside the Region. 

The changed format Newsletter, the “Murray Mallee Briefs” has been prepared after each General 
Meeting and is electronically widely distributed. Numerous media interviews have been undertaken as a 
result of the Newsletter’s circulation. 

The Association’s website www.mmlga.sa.gov.au contains a wealth of information on the Association’s 
activities, including all Agendas, Appendices, Minutes for General and Committee Meetings and 
Newsletters. 

 

PARTNERSHIP/STRATEGIC ACTIVITIES 2010 – 2011. 

The Association has continued to pursue a number of strategic issues with the support of partners and 
other key stakeholders in the Region. Without these partners and stakeholders, the Association would 
not have been able to singularly progress these initiatives. 

Strategic Focus – Telecommunications. 

The project partners are: 

 The Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland Board, 

 Dept. of Further Education, Employment, Science and Technology (DFEEST),  

 Dept. of Broadband Communications and the Digital Economy (DBCDE),  

 Dept. Transport, Energy and Infrastructure (DTEI), and 

 Agile Communications. 
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The Broadband Development Project, which commenced in January 2008 with funding secured 
through the Australian Government as part of the Department of Broadband, Communications and the 
Digital Economy’s (DBCDE) Clever Networks Broadband Development Network Program, is now 
completed.  This project covers both the Murraylands and Riverland sub-regions, concentrating more 
on the western portions of the region. 

This year, the lower Loxton Waikerie and Southern Mallee council districts project has completed. The 
project was subsidized by contributions of $310,000 from the State Government’s Broadband 
Development (BDF) Fund, $20,000 by the Association and $15,000 by the District Council of Loxton 
Waikerie and a further $15,000 from the Southern Mallee District Council of which $10,000 was 
underwritten by the former Murraylands Regional Development Board. 

The Project was officially opened at Lameroo on the 25th February, 2011. 

Further to this project, as part of the National Broadband Network, Regional Blackspots Program, a 
new backbone fibre optic connection between Gawler and Mildura through the Riverland is virtually 
completed.  

 The Mildura connection route takes in Renmark, Berri, Waikerie, Kapunda, Nuriootpa, Tanunda, and 
Angaston terminating in Gawler. 

Competitive DSLAM's are being installed in exchanges in Waikerie, Barmera, Berri and Renmark 
providing users more choice and potential more competitive pricing. 

 Project completion is scheduled for August, 2011.  

 

Strategic Focus – Transport Infrastructure. 

Our Project Partners are: 

 Dept. Transport, Energy and Infrastructure (DTEI),,  

 The Local Government Transport Advisory Panel (LGTAP), 

 The Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland Board, and 

 Parsons Brinkerhoff Australia Pty. Ltd. 

For the period 2010-2011, Member Councils resolved to review the Murray and Mallee Regional 
Transport Strategy Plan. 

This complete review, along with extensive community consultation, was undertaken by Parsons 
Brinkerhoff Australia Pty. Ltd. And the resultant Murray and Mallee Regional Transport Strategy Plan can 
be accessed from the Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au under the “Reports” tab. 

The Plan provides the basis to enable the Association and its Member Councils, to determine and 
support applications for Special Local Roads and Auslink funding (when available) applications. 

Applications for funding in the 2010-2011 funding round were lodged with the Local Government 
Transport Advisory Panel at the end of April, 2010 resulting in $1.56m funding availability for identified 
road construction in the region. 
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Applications for funding in 2011-2012 were lodged with the Local Government Transport Advisory Panel 
on the 29th April, 2011, and the Association awaits the results of the Panel’s recommendation for the 
Special Local Roads component to the Local Government Grants Commission. 

 

Strategic Focus – Community Transport. – Riverland Community Passenger Network and the 
Murray Mallee Community Passenger Network Schemes. 

Our partners are: 

 The South Australian Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC), 

 The Local Government Association of SA,  

The Riverland and Murray Mallee Community Passenger Transport Networks and Advisory 
Committees, and 

The Murray and Mallee Regional Coordination Network, 

Dept. of Transport, Energy and Infrastructure (DTEI), and 

Office of the Ageing. 

As has been continually pursued over past years, The Association continues to forward the issue of the 
integration of Community Passenger Network (CPN) Schemes throughout the region. 

Again, this proposed integration would allow for the use of agency managed government vehicles for the 
purposes of providing transport solutions to the disadvantaged. 

This matter has been more recently addressed by the Regional Coordination Network, Murraylands and 
Riverland with the Dept. of Education and Children’s Services (DECS) regional representative actively 
pursuing the issue with the Agency’s head office. 

However, more recently it would appear that State Government support for the RCN concept is waning 
and it could be considered that apparent gains made could well be lost. 

It is clear that the general community continue to highly value the transport services currently provided 
within budgetary constraints. Despite being financially handicapped, the Transport Committees are 
constantly endeavouring to continually improve upon the current transport network.  

The majority of services provided are highly patronized, especially the medical bus services, available to 
provide regionally or city based medical assistance to those who are geographically and socially 
disadvantaged. 

The Association will continue to work towards equitable State Government funding for transport services 
for regional areas. 

 

Strategic Focus – Natural Resource Management and Environmental Initiatives. 

Our partners are: 

 The Regional Development Australia (RDA) Murraylands and Riverland Board, 
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 Primary Industries and Resources SA, 

Riverland Futures Project, 

Murray and Mallee Regional Coordination Network, 

Riverland Drought Taskforce, 

Lower Murray Drought Collaboration Group,   

Irrigation Authorities and Associations,  

The SAROC Committee, and 

The SA MDB NRM Board. 

Agreement has been reached on the respective roles of the Association and the SA MDB NRM Board 
in relation to the Regional NRM/Local Government Protocol Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
document. 

The Document was publically signed by the then SA MDB NRM Board Presiding Member, Bill 
Paterson and the Association’s President, Mayor Leon Stasinowsky at the Association’s 6th August, 
2011 General Meeting. 

It could be considered that the effects of the drought have passed. However, changed climatic and 
economic conditions over the past season have resulted in gluts of primary produce, resulting in 
similar affects as experienced through drought periods. 

In order to quantify and plan for these effects, the Association again continues to pursue and utilize the 
$70,000 grant from the LGR&DF in an attempt to provide a “plug-in type tool” that will allow Councils to 
determine the effect on Council and the Community, given these economic impacts. 

It is expected that this project will be completed early in the ensuing financial year. 

With results to be incorporated into the Federal Government funded “Sustaining Basin Communities – 
Planning Element” Program.  

On other environmental matters, the Association and Member Councils have: 

 Provided a Local Government non-voting Member to the SA MDB NRM Board. 
 Provided information to Member Councils regarding Adaptation Actions for Local 

Government on Climate Change issues and promotion of Climate Change Forums. 
 Lobbied State Government for extensions of the Drought Program funding into the year 

2011-2012. 
 In partnership with the LGA SA, successful submission to the SA State Government for 

removal of the Narrung Bund. 
 Support provided to the RDA for the Carbon Forum. 
 Facilitation of the Dept. of Premier and Cabinet’s regional briefing on the Climate 

Change Adaptation Framework. 
 Submission made to the State Government for continuation and commitment to the 

Branched Broomrape Eradication Program. 
 Provision of representation on the Zero Waste SA Regional Implementation Program 

Review Panel and provision of comment. 
 Association provision of representation of riverine Councils on the DENR River Murray 

Review Response Team. 
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 Successful supportive submissions to the Federal Government for E Waste Disposal 
Program. 

 African Boxthorn infestation addressed with provision of $90k gained to assist the SA 
MDB NRM Board’s eradication program. 

 Raising of concerns with the integration of DENR and NRM Boards’ operations. 
 
 

BEYOND 2011. 

General Meetings of the Association will continue to be held during 2011-2012 on the first Friday in the 
months of August, December, February, April with the Annual General Meeting to be held in June. They 
will be held throughout the Region, hosted alphabetically by the Member Councils. 

At the General Meeting held on the 1st April, 2011, the Association endorsed the completely revised 
Strategic Plan, 2011-2014. The Annual Business Plan 2011-2012, extracted from the Strategic Plan 
2011-2014 and associated Annual Budget were adopted at the Association’s Annual General Meeting 
held on the 3rd June, 2011. These documents are available to be viewed and downloaded from the 
Association’s website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au  

The status of the objectives and actions in the Association’s Annual Business Plan 2011-2012 will be 
reviewed half yearly at the December General Meeting and the June Annual General Meeting as per the 
provisions of the Association’s Charter. 

 

 

Contact details: 

 

President:   Chief Executive Officer: 

Cr. Leon Stasinowsky  Peter Campbell 

PO Box 409,   55 Excelsior Pde, 

Loxton.  SA  5333  Hindmarsh Island. SA  5214. 

Tel: 8589 7028                       PO Box 1014, Goolwa.  SA  5214. 

                                               Tel: (08) 8555 3929  Mob: 0429 862 669 

                                                Fax: (08) 8555 0451 

                                    Email: ceo@mmlga.com.au  
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

 
Statement of Comprehensive Income     

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011     

  2011  2010  

 Note  $  $  

Regional Enhancement Fund Grant  2  34,537  33,661 

Interest received  2  8,135  6,693 
MBM LGA contributions  2  99,849  76,240 

 142,521  116,594 
Other operating expenses  3  (115,432)  (109,309) 

Profit attributable to members   27,089  7,285 

Other comprehensive income     

Total comprehensive income   27,089  7,285 
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

 
Statement of Financial Position     

As At 30 June 2011     

  2011  2010  

 Note  $  $  

ASSETS     

Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  4  81,655  136,932 
Trade and other receivables  5  4,608  4,272 

Total current assets   86,263  141,204 

TOT AL ASSETS   86,263  141,204 

LIABILITIES     

Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables  6  1,800  1,530 
Unexpended Project Funds  7  42,946  97,946 

Total current liabilities   44,746  99,476 

TOT AL LIABILITIES   44,746  99,476 

NET ASSETS   41,517  41,728 

EQUITY     

Retained earnings   41,517  41,728 

TOTAL EQUITY   41,517  41,728 
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense       

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011        

 2011       

Retained    
Earnings  Total  

Note  $  $  

Balance at 1 July 2010     41,728   41,728 
Profit attributable to members     27,089   27,089 
Transfers from retained earnings   7  (27,300)  (27,300)

Sub-total     (211)   (211 ) 

Balance at 30 June 2011     41,517   41,517 

 2010       

Retained    
Earnings  Total  

Note  $  $  

Balance at 1 July 2009    36,193  36,193
Profit attributable to members     7,285   7,285 
Transfer from retained earnings   7  (1,750)  (1,750)

Sub-total     5,535   5,535 

Balance at 30 June 2010    41,728  41,728
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Cash Flow Statement  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

 
 2011  2010 
 Note  $  $  

Cash from operating activities:     
Receipts from members   99,849  76,240 
Receipts from Grants   34,537  33,661 
Interest received   8,648  6,693 
Payments to suppliers   (116,011)  (107,104) 
Project payments   (82,300)   

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  8  (55,277)  9,490 

 

Net increase (decreases) in cash held  
Cash at beginning of financial year  

Cash at end of financial year  

 

4
  

 

4  

 

(55,277)  
136,932  

81,655  

 

9,490  
127,442  

136,932  



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

1  Accounting policies  

 (a)  General information  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with  
Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of  
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the requirements of the Associations Incorporation  
Act (SA) 1985.  

The financial report covers Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated as an  
individual entity. Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated is an association  
incorporated in South Australia under the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985.  

The financial report of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated as an individual  
entity complies with all Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AI FRS)  
in their entirety.  

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the association in the  
preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless  
otherwise stated.  

 (b)  Basis of preparation  

Reporting Basis and Conventions  

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs  
modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for  
which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.  

 (c)  Comparatives  

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to  
changes in presentation for the current financial year.  

 (d)  Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks.  

 (e)  Income taxes  

The activities of the Association are exempt from taxation under the Income Tax Assessment Act.  

 (f)  Goods and Services Tax (GST)  

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount  
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the  
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.  
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

1  Accounting policies continued  

 (g)  Financial Instruments  

Recognition and Initial Measurement  

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs,  
when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these  
instruments are measured as set out below.  

Financial liabilities  

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less  
principal payments and amortisation.  

Impairment  

At each reporting date, the association assess whether there is objective evidence that a financial  
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged  
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.  
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 (h)  Impairment of assets  

At each reporting date, the association reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible  
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an  
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less  
costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's  
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.  

Critical accounting estimates and judgments  

Key estimates - Impairment  

The association assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the  
association that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable  
amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts  
incorporate a number of key estimates.  
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

 
2  Revenue   

  2011  2010  
  $   $  

 Interest received  8,135   6,693 

 M&MLGA contributions      
 - Berri Barmera Council  15,377  11,741 
 - Coorong District Council  10,184   7,776 
 - DC of Karoonda East Murray  5,392   4,117 
 - DC of Loxton Waikerie  16,275  12,427 
 - Mid Murray Council  12,182   9,301 
 - The Rural City of Murray Bridge  20,370  15,553 
 - DC of Renmark Paringa  13,679  10,445 
 - Southern Mallee DC  6,390   4,880 

 Total M&MLGA contributions  99,849  76,240 

 Regional Enhancement Fund Grant  34,537  33,661 

 Total Revenue  142,521  116,594 

3  Other Operating Expenses      

 Expenses      
  2011  2010  
  $   $  
 Audit fees  2,190   1,395 
 Bank charges   85   136 
 Executive Officer Contract Services  96,966  94,410 
 Insurance  3,994   3,566 
 Meeting Expenses  1,528   1,851 
 Postage   94   53 
 President's Travelling Allowance  2,500   2,500 
 Printing and stationery   846   807 
 Record sentencing/Archiving  2,590   30 
 SAROC Regional Meeting costs  1,108   1,064 
 Sundry expenses   281   191 
 Telephone, fax and broadband  3,200   3,200 
 Website maintenance   50   106 

 Total expenses  115,432  109,309 

7
  



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

 
4  Cash and cash equivalents      

  2011  2010  
  $  $  
 Cash on hand   100   100 
 Cash at bank   2,398   1,204 
 LGFA Investment  79,157  135,628 

  81,655  136,932 

5  Trade and other receivables      

  2011  2010  
  $  $  

 CURRENT      
 Accrued Interest   1,234   1,747 
 GST Refund   3,374   2,525 

   4,608   4,272 

6  Trade and other payables      

  2011  2010  
  $  $  

 CURRENT      
 Trade payables   1,800   1,530 

7  Grant Funds Unexpended  

Grant Funds Unexpended may be refundable and are reflected as liabilities at balance date. It is anticipated  
that the balance of funds unexpended will be fully utilised on the nominated project.  

 
 2011  2010 
 $  $  

Water Management Project    

Income    
Balance brought forward  4,373  4,373 

Total Income  4,373  4,373 

Project Funds not expended at 30 June 2011  4,373  4,373 

8
  



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

 
7  Grant Funds Unexpended (continued)    

  2011  ·2010  
  $  $  

 Regional Broadband Project    
 Income    
 Balance brought forward   1,361 
 Transfer from Retained Earnings   1,750 

 Total Income   3,111 

 Less Expenses    

 Transfer to Discretionary Projects   3,111 

 Total Expenses   3,111 

 Project Funds not expended at 30 June 2011    

 Discretionary Projects    

 Income    
 Balance brought forward  21,073  15,000 
 Transfer from Regional Broadband Project   3,111 
 Transfer from Native Title Claim monies   2,962 

 Total Income  21,073  21,073 

 Less Expenses    

 Contribution to Broadband Extension  20,000   
 Total Expenses  20,000   

 Project funds not expended at 30 June 2011  1,073  21,073 

 Provision LG Services Project    

 Income    
 Balance brought forward  72,500  72,500 

 Total Income  72,500  72,500 

 Less Expenses    
 Consultancy  40,000   
 Total Expenses  40,000   

 Project funds not expended at 30 June 2011  32,500  72,500 

9
  



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

 
7  Grant Funds Unexpended (continued)    

  2011  2010  
  $  $  

 Legal Charter Review    

 Income    
 Transfer from Retained Earnings  5,000   

 Total Income  5,000   

 Less Expenses    

 Project Funds not expended at 30 June 2011  5,000   

 Transport Strategy Stage 2    

 Income    
 Transfer from Retained Earnings  22,300   

 Total Income  22,300   

 Less Expenses    

 Consultancy  22,300   
 Total Expenses  22,300   

 Project Funds not expended at 30 June 2011    

 Total  42,946  97,946

8  Cash Flow Information  
 
 (a)  Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax  

2011  
$  

 Net income/loss for the period  27,089  

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities  

Non-cash flows in profit  

changes in assets and liabilities,  
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables  
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  
Increase/(decrease) in unexpended project funds  
Increase/(decrease) in retained earnings from transfers  
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2010  
$  

7,285  

(336)  2,407
270  1,548

(55,000)   
(27,300)  (1,750)
(55,277)  9,490



 

Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

9 Financial instruments  

Credit risk  

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at  
balance date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for  
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.  

The association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the association.  

(i) Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis  

The association's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instruments value will  
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest  
rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, is as follows:  
Weighted  

Average  
Effective  
Interest  

Rate  
2011 2010  

% 

Floating Interest Rate 
 2011  2010  
 $  $  

Non-interest Bearing  
 2011  2010  
 $  $  

Total 

%
201
1  
$  

2010 
$  

Financial Assets:  
LGFA Investment  
Cash at bank  
Cash  
Trade and other  
receivables  

4.75  4.50 
0.01  0..01 

79,157
2,398

135,628 
1,204  

  79,157  135,628 
  2,398  1,204 

100  100  100  100 

4,608  4,272  4,608  4,272 

4,708  4,372  86,263  141,204 
Total Financial  

Assets  81,555 136,832 

Financial  
Liabilities:  

Trade and other  
payables  

Grant funds  
unexpended  

Total Financial  
Liabilities  

1,800 1,53
0  

1,800 1,53
0 

42,946 97,946 42,946 97,946 

44,746 99,476 44,746 99,476 

All financial assets and liabilities disclosed mature within 12 months. 

1
1 



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

 9  Financial instruments (continued)  

(ii) Net fair values  

The net fair values for other assets and other liabilities approximate their carrying values. No  
financial assets or financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form  
other than listed investments. Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values  
have not been written down as the association intends to hold these assets to maturity.  

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are  
disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements.  

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis  

At 30 June 2011, the committee considers that the only material risk arises in relation to interest  
rates. Should interest rates have increased / decreased by 2%, the associations profit would have  
increased / decreased by approximately $1 ,583 (2010: $2,738).  

10 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets  

At 30 June 2011, the Committee is unaware of any liability, contingent or otherwise, which has not already  
been recorded elsewhere in this financial report.  

11 Capital Commitments  

At 30 June 2011, the Committee is unaware of any capital or leasing commitments which have not already  
been recorded elsewhere in this financial report.  

12 Events after the end of the reporting period  

Since the reporting date, there have been no events that would materially impact on the contents of this  
report.  

13 Economic Dependence  

Murray & Mallee Local Government Association Incorporated is dependent on the Local Councils within its  
jurisdiction and other funding bodies for the majority of its revenue used to operate the business. At the  
date of this report, the Committee believe that the Local Councils and other bodies will continue to fund the  
association.  

14 Segment Reporting  

The association operates predominantly in one business and two geographical segments, being in the local  
government sector, providing services to local councils in the Murray and Mallee districts of South Australia.  
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Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011  

15 Key Management Personnel Compensation  

 (a)  Key Management Personnel Compensation  
 

Short term  
Benefits  

2011  

 

Total  

 
Total compensation  

2010  

Total compensation  
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96,966  

94,410  

 

96,966  

94,410  



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Statement by the Committee  

In the opinion of the members of the committee:  

 
1.  

 

(a)  

(b)  

(c)  

 

the accompanying Statement of Comprehensive Income is drawn up so as to present fairly  
the profit of Murray and Mallee Local Government Association for the financial year;  

the accompanying Statement of Financial Position is drawn up so as to present fairly the state of  
affairs of Murray and Mallee Local Government Association as at the end of the financial year;  

the accounts of the association have been made out in accordance with Accounting Standards  

 
2. The committee has reasonable grounds to believe that the association will be able to pay its debts as  

and when they fall due.  

3. No officer of the association, or a firm of which the officer is a member, or corporate in which the officer  

has a substantial financial interest, has received or become entitled to receive a benefit as a result of a  

contract between the officer, firm of which the officer is a member or a corporate in which the officer has  

a substantial financial interest and the association.  

4. No officer of the association has received directly or indirectly from the association any payment or other  

benefit of a pecuniary value, except for chairman allowances paid.  

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Committee and is signed for and on behalf of  
the Committee by:  

 

 
CEO  
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27 Vaughan Terrace  

Berri, SA 5343  

PO Box 101  

Berri, SA 5343  

T 08 8582 1955  
F 08 85823014  
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murraydarling@whk.com.au  
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WHK Audit Services  
ABN 27161274861  

 
Independent Audit Report to the members of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Report on the Financial Report  

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of  
comprehensive income, statement of recognised income and expenditure and cash flow statement for the year  
ended that date a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the statement by the  
committee.  

Committee Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The committee of the association are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report  
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and  
the Associations Incorporations Act (SA) 1985. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and  
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free  
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting  
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.  

Auditor's Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in  
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant  
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable  
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the  
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the  
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk  
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the association's preparation and fair  
presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,  
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit  
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting  
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit  
opinion.  

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards  
1 S9islation other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees  

 better advice for a better life  



Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Independent Audit Report to the members of Murray & Mallee Local Government Association  
Incorporated  

Independence  

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of Australian professional  
ethical pronouncements.  

Auditor's Opinion  

In our opinion the financial report of Murray & Maliee Local Government Association Incorporated is in  
accordance with the Associations Incorporations Act(SA) 1985, including:  

(a) giving a true and fair view of the association's financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its performance  
for the year ended on that date; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and  
the Associations Incorporations Act(SA) 1985.  

WHK AUDIT SERVICES  

 

           

Grant Martinelia CA RCA  

 

Signed at Berri SA  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

 
2010-2011 CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

 
 
 

Board Members, Volunteers, Guests and Visitors 
 
 
I have pleasure in presenting my Chairman’s Report. 
 
As usual in December, Helen and Anna organized an Appreciation Dinner for the 
Volunteers at Trevor and Julie Gordon’s home. Many thanks to Trevor and Julie for 
having us in their home. On behalf of the Board I thank you, the volunteer drivers, 
for your time and effort during the past year transporting clients to their 
destinations and back. You have collectively travelled 31,735km for July 2010 – 
June 2011, which took 627 hours of your time with 392 client transports. 
 
Earlier in the year, the three (3) contributing Council CEOs – Rod Ralph (Southern 
Mallee District Council), Peter Smithson (District Council of Karoonda East Murray) 
and Michael Boyd (Coorong District Council) – met together to discuss their 
Council’s contributions and future direction of the Murray Mallee Community 
Transport Scheme. On behalf of the Board I wish to thank them for their time and 
effort. 
 
A few of the Board Members, along with Helen, met with Coorong District Council 
CEO Michael Boyd and Paul Duka (Coorong District Council Financial Officer) to 
work out a Business Plan for coming two (2) years. Everyone’s participation was 
much appreciated. Michael also met with the Board Members when we were 
drawing up Helen and Anna’s new work contracts. All Board Members who helped 
make the new agreement come to a finalized document are to be congratulated. 
It was something we don’t do very often and it was a learning curve for most of 
us. 
 
On behalf of the Board I would like to thank our major financial providers – Public 
transport Services, Department for Families and Communities and Home and 
Community Care – for their financial contributions for our two (2) employees. 
 
I would like to thank the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
Management Board Members for their attendances at Board Meetings during the 
past 12 months, especially Trevor Gordon who is always on hand for needed 
advice and help. A big thank you to Helen and Anna for their commitment to their 
jobs. Your efforts are much appreciated. When one considers we have some 875 
clients on the data base you are doing an excellent job. THANK YOU. 
 
 
Neville Pfeiffer 
Chairman 
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Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
Regional Coordinators Annual Report 2010 – 2011 

 
It is with pleasure that I present to you my Annual Report of the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) for 
2010 – 2011. The past 12 months has seen changes to Community Passenger Network (CPN) Service Agreements, staff 
employment and once again some very challenging moments for the provision of client transport. All of which have had very 
positive outcomes. 
 
The Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme is a not for profit organisation based at Tailem Bend, located in the Railway 
Station and has a service area covering the Coorong District Council, Southern Mallee District Council and the District Council 
of Karoonda East  Murray. MMCTS is an information and brokerage service that provides transport as a last resort where no 
other transport options exist and utilises the services of volunteer drivers. An eligibility criteria applies for direct transport 
provision which is conducted by MMCTS staff. 
MMCTS has a current data base of 875 clients which is slowly being updated after the implementation of the new Rural 
Property Identification System.  
 
MMCTS involvement and achievements 
 MMCTS staff have been involved in several events and training during the past year including – 
  �  Health & Community Services Network event – ‘open your mind, services you find’ held at Karoonda on 22nd September  
       2010 (community awareness of services in the Mallee) 
  �  Active Ageing Expo in Murray Bridge on 7th October 2010 
  �  Child Safe Environment training – Mandatory Notification in Adelaide on 28th & 29th October 2010 
  �  MMCTS Volunteer Appreciation Luncheon on 7th November 2010 
  �  Stage 2 start of the Santos Tour Down Under at Tailem Bend on 19th January 2011 
  �  LGA General Disposal Schedule 15 training in Adelaide on 16th March 2011 
  �  Information Sharing Guidelines, through Office of the Guardian for Children and Young People in Murray Bridge on  
        24th March 2011 
  �  Karoonda Farm Fair on 1st & 2nd April 2011 
  �  Coorong District Council Volunteer Dinner at Meningie on 15th May 2011 
  �  Mental Health Expo at Meningie on 20th June 2011 
  �  FRRR grant finalised after equipment was purchased 
  �  Mid Murray Transport Working Group involvement to assist with establishment of CPN in Mid Murray 
  �  Development and implementation of LGA OHS&W Policies and Procedures 
  �  2 volunteer driver accreditations completed 
 
Volunteer drivers 
I would sincerely like to extend a huge thank you to the people that I deem to be the back bone of the Transport Scheme our 
extremely dedicated team of volunteer drivers who commit their time and energy to client transport in a very professional and 
enthusiastic manner at times under difficult circumstances and long hours. Your 
dedication is an inspiration to us all. The 627 volunteer hours that you have 
willingly given in the past 12 months while travelling 31,735 kilometres is testament to  
your dedication. We have a pool of 22 volunteers, 21 of whom are accredited drivers.  
The MMCTS Management Board host a luncheon each year for the volunteers to 
acknowledge appreciation of the volunteers time and commitment to the Transport  
Scheme and their communities.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                   Volunteer driver – Malcolm Piggott                                                            
MMCTS volunteer pool has increased by 2 in the past 12 months and is now 22               MMCTS Chairperson Neville Pfeiffer 

with drivers located in the following areas – 

Location Volunteer No Location Volunteer No 

Tailem Bend 8 Geranium 1 

Wynarka 1 Lameroo 4 

Karoonda 1 Pinnaroo 7 
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Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
Regional Coordinators Annual Report 2010 – 2011 

 
MMCTS are always on the look out for new drivers so 2011 – 12 will see a campaign across all 3 Councils to hopefully recruit 
more people to our driver pool. 
 
The following table is an overview of the driver hours and client trips from 1st July 2010 to 30th June 2011. The figures are 
reflective of Community Passenger Network (CPN) vehicle usage only and do include the clients who travelled on the Medical 
Service during the same time. 
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MMCTS have two vehicles in fleet and access to vehicles in the Southern Mallee District Council and District Council of 
Karoonda East Murray. Being able to access vehicle resources in other areas would substantially enhance service provision. 
The chart below reflects the distances that the vehicles have travelled per month. These figures are slightly down from last 
year which may be attributed to a more coordinated approached to resources and community education and being able to link 
people with other services in the area which includes the Medical Service and public transport. 
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Medical Service 
Coorong Coaches owned by Peter and Margaret Stone of Keith are still operating the Medical Service. Residents in the 
Tatiara Council area are able to access the Medical Services providing they meet in the township of Keith. From there they 
are linked into the Medical Service at Tintinara through to their designated appointment location. All requests for this service 
are coordinated though MMCTS office. Bookings for the Medical Service have remained steady over the 12 months and 
slightly increased from last year. An eligibility criteria applies for transport on the Medical Service which is assessed by 
MMCTS staff. 
 
The chart on page 3 is a summary of client transports and carers for the Medical Service over the past 12 months. 
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The Medical Bus Service is closed for four weeks over Christmas / New Year and MMCTS office is closed for two weeks over 

the same period of time. 
 
The chart to the left shows the client trips over a 
five (5) year period with both the Coorong Coaches 
Medical Service and CPN volunteer driven 
vehicles. The steady increase for Coorong 
Coaches coincides with the increase of client 
registrations from the Tatiara District Council area 
and more efficient coordination of resources. 

 
 

Sincere thanks are extended to the many people and organisations with whom MMCTS network, your advice, 
encouragement, friendship and support is sincerely appreciated – 

o MMCTS Management Board Members 
o MMCTS volunteer drivers 
o Coorong District Council staff 
o District Council of Karoonda East Murray staff 
o Southern Mallee District Council staff 
o Clients of the Transport Scheme 
o Mallee Health staff 
o Outreach Services                                                                      

o Aged Care services 
o Coorong Coaches 
o Tailem Bend Community Centre 
o Link SA 
o DTEI – PTS 
o Disability Ageing Caring (formally OFTA) 
o Carers 
o MMCTS Administration 

 
MMCTS will continue to strive for the continuation and improvement of transport services within our region.                                                                                              
 

 
  Helen Luke 
 CPN Regional Coordinator 
 Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
SCHEME 

 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2011 

 

 

CERTIFICATION OF  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 
 
 
 

 
We have been authorised by the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
to certify the financial statements in their final form, In our opinion: 
 
� the accompanying financial statements comply with the Local Government 

Act 1999, Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 and 
Australian Accounting Standards.  

 
� the financial statements present a true and fair view of the Murray Mallee 

Community Transport Scheme’s financial position  at 30 June 2011 and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the financial year. 

 
� internal controls implemented by the Murray Mallee Community Transport 

Scheme provide a reasonable assurance that the Murray Mallee Community 
Transport Scheme’s financial records are complete, accurate and reliable 
and were effective throughout the financial year. 

  
� the financial statements accurately reflect the Murray Mallee Community 

Transport Scheme’s accounting and other records. 
 

 
 

 
 

Date: 25/09/2011  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
       

STATEMENT  OF  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

       

   2011  2010  

  Notes $  $  

 INCOME      

 User charges 2      4,325        4,808   

 Grants, subsidies and contributions 2   127,773     108,196   

 Investment Interest 2 2,367  -   

 Reimbursements 2      1,163        1,058   

 Total Income    135,628     114,062   

       

 EXPENSES      

 Employee costs 3   109,696       94,321   

 Materials, contracts & other expenses 3     20,456       19,350   

 Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3      9,692        9,804   

 Total Expenses    139,844     123,475   

       

 OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)      (4,216)      (9,413)  

      

 NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 
transferred to Equity Statement 

     (4,216)      (9,413) 
 

       

 TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME      (4,216)      (9,413)  

     
 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.    
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME  
       

BALANCE  SHEET 
as at 30 June 2011 

       
   2011  2010  

 ASSETS Notes $  $  

 Current Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalents 4 61,211   52,728   

 Total Current Assets  61,211   52,728   

       

 Non-current Assets      

 Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 5 23,147   32,839   

 Total Non-current Assets  23,147   32,839   

         

 Total Assets  84,358   85,567   

       

 LIABILITIES      

 Current Liabilities      

 Trade & Other Payables 6 3,327   2,627   

 Provisions 6 7,456   7,963   

 Total Current Liabilities  10,783   10,590   

       

 Non-current Liabilities      

 Provisions 6 5,406   2,592   

 Total Non-current Liabilities  5,406   2,592   

       

 Total Liabilities  16,189   13,182   

       

 NET ASSETS  68,169   72,385   

       

 EQUITY    

 Accumulated Surplus  68,169   72,385   

 TOTAL EQUITY  68,169   72,385   

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.    
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
         

STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY 
 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
         
 

  

Accumulated 
Surplus 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

Available for 
sale Financial 

Assets 
Other Reserves TOTAL EQUITY 

 

 2011 Notes $ $ $ $ $  
         

 Balance at end of previous reporting 
period 

 72,385  -  -  -  72,385  
 

 Restated opening balance  72,385  -  -  -  72,385   

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  (4,216)    (4,216)  

 Other Comprehensive Income       
 

 Transfers between reserves  -    -  -   

 Balance at end of period  68,169  -  -  -  68,169   

         

 2010        

         

 Balance at end of previous reporting 
period 

 81,798    -  81,798  
 

 Restated opening balance  81,798  -  -  -  81,798   

 Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  (9,413)    (9,413)  

 
Other Comprehensive Income       

 

 Transfers between reserves  -  - - -  -   

 Balance at end of period  72,385  -  -  -  72,385   

         

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes     
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
       

CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

       

   2011  2010  

 CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Notes $  $  

 Receipts      

    Operating receipts    135,628    114,062   

 Payments      

    Operating payments to suppliers & employees   (127,145)   (106,504)  

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating 
Activities        8,483         7,558  

 

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing 
Activities               -                -  

 

       

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

 Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing 
Activities 

              -                -  
 

 

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held       8,483         7,558  

 

       

 Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 7     52,728       45,170   

 

Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 7     61,211       52,728  

 

       

 This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
SCHEME 

 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 

Note 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
Basis of Preparation 
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant 
South Australian legislation. 

 
The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under regulation14 of the Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 dated ( 25 / 09 / 2011 ). 

 
Historical Cost Convention 
Except as stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the historical cost convention. 

 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates, and requires management to 
exercise its judgement in applying MMCTS’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of this 
Note. 

 
Rounding 
All amounts in the financial statements are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

 
The Local Government Reporting Entity 
The Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) is a Regional Subsidiary under 
Section 43 and schedule 2 of the Local Government Act 1999. The constituent Councils of the 
MMCTS are the Coorong District Council, Southern Mallee District Council and the District 
Council of Karoonda / East Mallee. The principal place of business is at 73 Railway Terrace, 
Tailem Bend.  All the funds which the MMCTS controls to carry on its functions have been 
included in this financial report. 

 
Income recognition 
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Income is 
recognised when the MMCTS obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when 
the amount due constitutes an enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.  
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Where grants, contributions and donations recognised as incomes during the reporting period 
were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used over a 
particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the reporting date, the 
amounts subject to those undischarged conditions are disclosed in these notes.  Also 
disclosed is the amount of grants, contributions and receivables recognised as incomes in a 
previous reporting period which were obtained in respect of the MMCTS’s operations for the 
current reporting period. 
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments 
Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at MMCTS option with 
an insignificant risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date 
of acquisition. 
 
All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for 
amounts the receipt of which is considered doubtful. Other receivables are generally 
unsecured and do not bear interest. 
 
All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition.  A detailed 
statement of the accounting policies applied to financial instruments forms part of Note 9. 
 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 
Initial Recognition 
All assets are initially recognised at cost.  
 
All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred 
and depreciated as soon as the asset is held “ready for use”. Cost is determined as the fair 
value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including 
architects' fees and engineering design fees and all other costs incurred. Capital works still in 
progress at balance date are recognised as other non-current assets and transferred to 
infrastructure, property, plant & equipment when completed ready for use. 
 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, cost is determined as fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 
 
Materiality 
No capitalisation thresholds exist for assets with an economic life in excess of one year. 
  

Depreciation of Non-Current Assets  
Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and equipment assets recognised are 
systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption 
of the service potential embodied in those assets. 
 
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis.  Major depreciation periods for each class 
of asset are shown below.  Depreciation periods for infrastructure assets have been 
estimated based on the best information available to MMCTS, but appropriate records 
covering the entire life cycle of these assets are not available, and extreme care should be 
used in interpreting financial information based on these estimates. 

 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 

 Office Equipment       3 to 10 years 
 Vehicles        4 to 8 years 
 
 

Impairment  
Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount (which is the higher of the present value of future cash outflows or 
value in use). 
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Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs in relation to qualifying assets (net of offsetting investment revenue) have 
been capitalised in accordance with AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs”.  The amounts of borrowing 
costs recognised as an expense or as part of the carrying amount of qualifying assets are 
disclosed in Note 3, and the amount (if any) of interest revenue offset against borrowing costs 
in Note 2. 
 
Payables 
Goods & Services 
Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are 
recognised as liabilities when the goods and services are received.  Creditors are normally 
paid 30 days after the month of invoice.  No interest is payable on these amounts. 

 

Employee Benefits 
Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences 
Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences 
expected to be paid or settled within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal 
amounts (including payroll based oncosts) measured in accordance with AASB 119.  

 
Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are 
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based 
oncosts) to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  
Present values are calculated using government guaranteed securities rates with similar 
maturity terms. 
 
No accrual is made for sick leave as MMCTS experience indicates that, on average, sick 
leave taken in each reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and 
this experience is expected to recur in future reporting periods.  MMCTS does not make 
payment for untaken sick leave. 

 
Superannuation 
The MMCTS makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the 
Local Government Superannuation Scheme.  The Scheme has two types of membership, 
each of which is funded differently.  No changes in accounting policy have occurred during 
either the current or previous reporting periods. Details of the accounting policies applied and 
Council’s involvement with the schemes are reported in Note 12.  

 
GST Implications 
In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax” 

� Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 
� Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating 

expenditures exclude GST receivable and payable. 
� Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any 

recoupment. 
� Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross 

basis. 
 
New Accounting Standards 
Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for the 30 June 2010 reporting period. 

� AASB 1  First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards 
� AASB 3  Business Combinations 
� AASB 5  Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations 
� AASB 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
� AASB 8  Operating Segments 
� AASB 9  Financial Instruments 
� AASB 101  Presentation of Financial Statements 
� AASB 107  Statement of Cash Flows 
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� AASB 108  Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors 

� AASB 110  Events after the Reporting Period 
� AASB 118  Revenue 
� AASB 119  Employee Benefits 
� AASB 132  Financial Instruments: Presentation 
� AASB 137  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
� AASB 139  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
� AASB 1031  Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
� AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 & 12]  

� AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 
5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] 

�  AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASBs 3. 7, 
121, 128, 131, 132 & 139]  

� AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 1, 
3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 
139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 
132 & 1042]  

� AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 1 
& 7] 

� AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 [AASBs 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023, & 1038 
and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19, & 127]   

� Interpretation 14 AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 

 (Standards not affecting local government have been excluded from the above 
list.) 

 
MMCTS is of the view that none of the above new standards or interpretations will affect any 
of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but that they may impact certain 
information otherwise disclosed. 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board is currently reviewing AASB 1004 Contributions.  
It is anticipated that the changes resulting from this review may have a material effect on the 
timing of the recognition of grants and contributions, but the financial consequences cannot 
be estimated until a revised accounting standard is issued. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

        

Note 2 - INCOME 
        
    2011  2010  
   Notes $  $  

 USER  CHARGES      

  Client Contributions  4,325   4,808   

    4,325   4,808   

 INVESTMENT INTEREST      
  LGFA  2,367  -  
    2,367  -  

 REIMBURSEMENTS      
  Other  1,163   1,058   
    1,163   1,058   

 GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS     

  Other grants, subsidies and 
contributions  127,773   108,196  

 

    127,773   108,196   

        

 Sources of grants      

  Commonwealth government               -                 -    

  State government  114,825   95,502   

  Other  12,948   12,694   

    127,773   108,196   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
        

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

        

Note 3 - EXPENSES 
        
   2011  2010   
  Notes $  $   
 EMPLOYEE COSTS       
 Salaries and Wages            95,710             81,008    
 Employee leave expense              2,603               6,408    
 Superannuation - defined contribution plan 

contributions 18             3,737   
           

 2,484 

  

 Superannuation - defined benefit plan 
contributions 18             5,746   

           
 2,681 

  

 Workers' Compensation Insurance              1,900               1,740    
 Total Operating Employee Costs          109,696             94,321    

        
 Total Number of Employees                   2                    2    
 (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)       
        
 MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER 

EXPENSES     

  

 Prescribed Expenses       
 Auditor's Remuneration       
      -  Auditing the financial reports              1,350               1,150    
 Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses              1,350               1,150    

        
 Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses       
 Contractors              2,128               2,195    

 Energy                667                 614    

 Other Materials              4,699               2,456    

 Fuel              3,051               3,544    
 Vehicle Other Costs              2,683               3,333    
 Telephone              2,679               2,875    
 Volunteer Reimbursement                450                 331    
 Insurance              1,947               1,908    
 Other Costs                802                 944    
 Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & 

Expenses            19,106             18,200    
             20,456             19,350    

 DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION & 
IMPAIRMENT     

  

 Depreciation       
 Motor Vehicles              9,643               9,643    
 Office Equipment                  49                 161    

               9,692               9,804    
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
       

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
       

Note 4 - CURRENT ASSETS 
       
   2011  2010  
 CASH  &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS Notes $  $  
 Cash on Hand             200              200   
 Cash at Bank         61,011          52,528   
          61,211          52,728   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

           

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
 Note 5 - INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT  

  2010 2011  

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

  AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST ACCUM  
DEP'N 

CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

AT  FAIR  
VALUE 

AT  COST ACCUM  DEP'N CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

 

 Office Equipment -            2,274  
 

       (2,012) 
 

            262  
 

                  -            2,274  
  

           (2,061) 
 

                213  
 

 

 Motor Vehicles                   -          48,213  
 

     (15,636) 
 

       32,577  
 

                  -          48,213  
 

        (25,279) 
 

          22,934  
 

 

 TOTAL  PROPERTY, PLANT 
& EQUIPMENT 

                  - 50,487  
 

      (17,648) 
 

       32,839  
 

                 -          50,487  
 

        (27,340) 
 

          23,147  
 

 

 2010 Totals - 50,487 (7,845) 42,642                   -   50,487 
 

        (17,648) 
 

         32,839  
 

 

 

   2010 CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENTS DURING YEAR 2011  

   $ $ $  

   Additions  

   

CARRYING  
AMOUNT New/Upgrade Renewals 

Disposals Depreciation Impairment Transfers 
Net 

Revaluation 
CARRYING  
AMOUNT  

 Office Equipment 
             

262  
                     

-  
                     

-  
                     

-               (49)  -  
                     

-  
                     

-               213  

 Motor Vehicles 
         

32,577 
                     

-  
                  

-  
                     

-  
         

(9,643) 
                     

-  
                     

-  
                     

-  
 

        22,934  

 
TOTAL  INFRASTRUCTURE, 
PROPERTY, PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

          
        32,839  

 
                    -                   -                   -  

           
(9,692) 

 
                 -                   -                   -  

          
23,147  

  

 2010 Totals 
                   

42,642  
                

    -  
 

    -  
 

    -  
 

(9,803)  
 

    -  
 

    -  
 

    -  
         

       32,839  

 This Note continues on the following pages.          
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT 
SCHEME 

 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Note 5 (cont) – INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT &  EQUIPMENT 

Valuation of Assets 

At 1 July 2004 upon the transition to AIFRS, Council elected pursuant to AASB 1.19 to retain 
a previously established deemed cost under GAAP as its deemed cost.  With subsequent 
additions at cost, this remains as the basis of recognition of non-material asset classes. 

 
Plant, Furniture & Equipment 

These assets are recognised on the cost basis.   
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 6 - LIABILITIES 

 
   2011  2010 

   $  $ 
 TRADE  &  OTHER  

PAYABLES 

Notes Current Non-current  Current Non-current 

 Goods & Services           121             378   
 Accrued expenses - employee 

entitlements 
 

      3,206          2,249   
         3,327               -         2,627               -  

 PROVISIONS       
 Employee entitlements (including 

oncosts) 

 

      7,456        5,406         7,963        2,592  
         7,456        5,406         7,963        2,592  

        

 



MMCTS – Annual Financial Statements 2010 – 2011 17 

 

MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
Note 7 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

      

 (a)      Reconciliation of Cash     

      

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk of changes of value.   
Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance 
Sheet as follows: 

   2011  2010 

  Notes $  $ 

Total cash & equivalent assets 4        61,211          52,728  
Balances per Cash Flow Statement         61,211          52,728  

      
(b)  Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets 
to Cash  

    

            from Operating Activities     

Net Surplus (Deficit)  
        (4,216)          (9,413) 

Non-cash items in Income Statement  
   

Depreciation, amortisation & impairment              9,692               9,803  

Net increase (decrease) in unpaid  employee benefits              2,307               6,546  

  
            7,783               6,936  

Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets     

Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables  
                700                   622  

Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations  
            8,483               7,558  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

            

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
            

Note 8 - FUNCTIONS 
            

  INCOMES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS HAVE BEEN DIRECTLY ATTRIBUTED TO THE FOLLOWING FUNCTIONS & ACTIVITIES 

FUNCTION CATEGORY INCOME EXPENSES OPERATING 
SURPLUS 
(DEFICIT) 

GRANTS  
INCLUDED IN 

INCOME 

TOTAL ASSETS 
HELD (CURRENT & 

NON-CURRENT) 

 ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Community Services    135,628    114,062     139,844    123,475       (4,216)      (9,413)   127,773     108,196       84,358       85,567  

           

TOTALS    135,628  114,062     139,844    123,475       (4,216)      (9,413)   127,773     108,196      84,358       85,567  

Excludes net gain (loss) on disposal or revaluation of assets, net gain (loss) from joint ventures & associated entities, amounts received specifically for 
new or upgraded assets and physical resources received free of charge. 

The activities relating to MMCTS functions are as follows: Community Services - Community Transport. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

         

Note 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
         
 Recognised Financial Instruments      

 Bank, Deposits at Call, 
Short Term Deposits 

Accounting Policy: Carried at lower of cost and net realiseable value; Interest is 
recognised when earned. 

   Terms & conditions:  Deposits are returning interest rates of 4.5% (2010: 4%). 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value due to the short term to maturity. 

 Receivables - Fees & other 
charges 

Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful debts.  
An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed annually) when 
collection in full is no longer probable. 

   Terms & conditions:  Unsecured, and do not bear interest.  Although MMCTS is not 
materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk exposure is concentrated within 
the MMCTS's boundaries. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance). 

 Liabilities - Creditors and 
Accruals 

Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received, whether or not billed to the MMCTS. 

   Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms. 

   Carrying amount: approximates fair value.   

Liquidity Analysis 

2011 Due < 1 year Due > 1 
year; < 5 

years 

Due > 5 
years 

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Carrying 
Values 

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $ 

Cash & Equivalents   61,211                      -                  -                  -           61,211  

Total   61,211                -               -                 -   61,211  

Financial Liabilities      
Payables    121  - -           121                      -  
Current Borrowings - - -               -                     -  
Non-Current Borrowings - - -               -                     -  

Total       121                -                -            121                      -  

         

2010 Due < 1 year Due > 1 
year; < 5 

years 

Due > 5 
years 

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows 

Carrying 
Values 

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $ 
Cash & Equivalents              

52,728  
                         

-  
             

52,728  

Total          52,728                     -                    -                     -           52,728  

Financial Liabilities      
Payables               378                   378                      -  
Current Borrowings                        -                     -  
Non-Current Borrowings                        -                      -  

Total               378                      -                     -                378                      -  

 
Net Fair Value 
All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments.  There is no 
recognised market for the financial assets of the MMCTS.  
 
Risk Exposures 
Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted.  
The maximum credit risk on financial assets of the MMCTS is the carrying amount, net of any allowance 
for doubtful debts.  All MMCTS investments are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority 
and are guaranteed by the SA Government.  Except as detailed in Notes 4 in relation to individual 
classes of receivables, exposure is concentrated within the MMCTS's boundaries, and there is no 
material exposure to any individual debtor. 
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Note 9 (cont) - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
 
Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices.  All of MMCTS's financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any 
market, and hence neither market risk nor currency risk apply. 
 
Liquidity Risk is the risk that MMCTS will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial 
liabilities.  In accordance with the model Treasury Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a 
range of maturity dates.  MMCTS utilises the constituent Council’s availability to a range of bank 
overdraft and standby borrowing facilities that it may access. 
 
Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates.  Council has a balance of both fixed and variable interest rate borrowings and investments.  Cash 
flow fluctuations are managed holistically in seeking to minimise interest costs over the longer term in a 
risk averse manner.
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

         

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
         

Note 10 - FINANCIAL  INDICATORS 

         

   2011  2010  2009  
         
 These Financial Indicators have been calculated in accordance with Information Paper 9 - Local 

Government Financial Indicators prepared as part of the LGA Financial Sustainability Program for 
the Local Government Association of South Australia.  Detailed methods of calculation are set out 
in the SA Model Statements. 

         
 Operating Surplus $ (4,216)  (9,413)  17,047   
 Being the operating surplus (deficit) before capital amounts.      
         
 Operating Surplus Ratio        

 Operating Surplus  -3.11%  -8.25%  17.37%  

 Operating Surplus / (Deficit) as a percentage of income.  
         

 Net Financial Liabilities $ (45,022)  (39,546)  (39,156)  

 Net Financial Liabilities are defined as total liabilities less financial assets (excluding equity 
accounted investments in MMCTS businesses). This ratio assesses the amount owed to others 
net of money owed to you.  

         

 Net Financial Liabilities Ratio        

 Net Financial Liabilities  -33%  -35%  -40%  

 Net Financial Liabilities as a percentage of total operating revenue. This ratio assesses the level of 
debt compared to income. 

         

 Interest Cover Ratio        

 Net Interest Expense  0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   

 Interest Expense less Investment Interest divided by total operating revenue. This ratio assesses 
how much income is used in paying interest on loans if applicable. 

         

 Asset Sustainability Ratio        

 Net Asset Renewals  0%  0%  43%  

 Depreciation Expense        

 Net asset renewals expenditure is defined as net capital expenditure on the renewal and 
replacement of existing assets, and excludes new capital expenditure on the acquisition of 
additional assets. This ratio assesses whether assets are being replaced at the rate they are 
wearing out. 

         

 Asset Consumption Ratio        
 Carrying value of depreciable assets  46%  65%  84%  
 Gross value of depreciable assets        
 Total carrying value of depreciable assets divided by total reported value of depreciable assets 

before accumulated depreciation. This ratio assesses the "as new" portion left of the assets. 
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
     

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 30 June 2011 
    

Note 11  -  UNIFORM  PRESENTATION  OF  FINANCES 

  

 The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital investment activities of the MMCTS prepared on a 
simplified Uniform Presentation Framework basis.  All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual 
budgets and long-term financial plans on the same basis. The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 
'core' of financial information, which enables meaningful comparisons of each Council's finances, by way of association 
all regional subsidiaries also are required to present the same format.    

       

  2011   2010  

  $   $  

       

 Income  135,628    114,062  
 less Expenses  139,844    123,475  

   (4,216)   (9,413) 

       
 less Net Outlays on Existing 

Assets 
     

 Capital Expenditure on renewal and 
replacement of Existing Assets 

-    -   

 less Depreciation, Amortisation and 
Impairment 

9,692  
 

  9,804  
 

 

 less Proceeds from Sale of Replaced 
Assets 

-    -   

   (9,692)   (9,804) 

       

 less Net Outlays on New and 
Upgraded Assets 

     

 Capital Expenditure on New and 
Upgraded Assets 
(including investment property & real estate 
developments) 

-    -   

 less Amounts received specifically for 
New and Upgraded Assets 

-    -   

 less Proceeds from Sale of Surplus 
Assets 
(including investment property and real estate 
developments) 

-    -   

   -    -  

       

 Net Lending / (Borrowing) for 
Financial Year 

 5,476  
  

  391  
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MURRAY MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 
 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

Note 12 - SUPERANNUATION 

 
The MMCTS makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to 
the Local Government Superannuation Scheme. The Scheme has two types of 
membership, each of which is funded differently. Permanent and contract employees of the 
South Australian Local Government sector have the option to contribute to Marketlink and/or 
Salarylink. All other employees (including casuals) have all contributions allocated to 
Marketlink. 

 

Marketlink (Accumulation Fund) Members  

Marketlink receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. 
Employer contributions are based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings in 
accordance with superannuation guarantee legislation (9% in 2010/11 for Marketlink 
members and 3% for Salarylink members; 9% and 3% respectively in 2009/10).  No further 
liability accrues to the employer as the superannuation benefits accruing to employees are 
represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund. 

 

Salarylink (Defined Benefit) Members 

Salarylink is a defined benefit scheme where the benefit payable is based on a formula 
determined by the member’s contribution rate, number of years of contribution and final 
average salary. MMCTS makes employer contributions to Salarylink as determined by the 
Scheme's Trustee based on advice from the Scheme's Actuary. The rate is currently 6.3% 
(6% in 2009/10) of “superannuation” salary. Given that Employer contributions are based on 
a fixed percentage of employee earnings in accordance with superannuation guarantee 
legislation, the remaining 3% for Salarylink members is allocated to their Marketlink account. 
Employees also make member contributions to the Fund. As such, assets accumulate in the 
Fund to meet the member's benefits, as defined in the Trust Deed, as they accrue. 

 

The Salarylink Plan is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Fund's assets and liabilities 
are pooled and are not allocated by employer, the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit 
liabilities, assets and costs between employers. As provided by AASB 119.32(b), MMCTS 
does not use defined benefit accounting for these contributions. 

 

The most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by the Scheme's actuary, L C Brett, 
BSc., FIA, FIAA, of Brett and Watson Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2009, the Trustee has 
determined that the current funding arrangements are adequate for the expected Defined 
Benefit Plan liabilities.  However, future financial and economic circumstances may require 
changes to MMCTS’s contribution rates at some future time.  
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COORONG DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2011 

 

CERTIFICATION  OF  AUDITOR  INDEPENDENCE 
 
 
 

 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we confirm that, for the purpose 
of the audit of SA Model Council for the year ended 30 June 2011, the 
Council’s Auditor, HLB Mann Judd, has maintained its independence in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1999 and 
the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 made 
under that Act. 
   
This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
Regulation 22(3) Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 
2011. 
 
 

 
 

Date: 25/09/2011 
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